

Getting Started with MODFLOW

Richard B. Winston



Getting Started with MODFLOW

The Groundwater Project

The Groundwater Project relies on private funding for book production and management of the Project.

Please consider <u>making a donation to the Groundwater Project</u> so books will continue to be freely available.

Thank you.

Richard B. Winston

College Park, Maryland, USA

Getting Started with MODFLOW

The Groundwater Project Guelph, Ontario, Canada Version 6, February, 2024

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

All rights reserved. This publication is protected by copyright. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the authors (to request permission contact: permissions@gw-project.org^). Commercial distribution and reproduction are strictly prohibited.

GW-Project works can be downloaded for free from <u>gw-project.org</u>. Anyone may use and share <u>gw-project.org</u> links to download GW-Project's work. It is not permissible to make GW-Project documents available on other websites nor to send copies of the documents directly to others. Kindly honor this source of free knowledge that is benefiting you and all those who want to learn about groundwater.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Copyright © 2023 Richard B. Winston

Published by the Groundwater Project, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, 2023.
Winston, Richard B.
Getting Started with MODFLOW / Richard B. Winston – Guelph, Ontario, Canada, 2023.
242 pages
ISBN: 978-1-77470-030-3
DOI: https://doi.org/10.21083/978-1-77470-030-3

Please consider signing up to the Groundwater Project mailing list and stay informed about new book releases, events, and ways to participate in the Groundwater Project. When you sign up to our email list, it helps us build a global groundwater community. <u>Sign-up</u>?

APA 7th Edition Citation:

Winston, Richard B. (2023). *Getting Started with MODFLOW*. The Groundwater Project, Guelph, Ontario, Canada. <u>https://doi.org/10.21083/978-1-77470-030-3</u>.



 Domain Editors: Eileen Poeter and John Cherry.
 Board: John Cherry, Shafick Adams, Richard Jackson, Ineke Kalwij, Renée Martin-Nagle, Everton de Oliveira, Marco Petitta, and Eileen Poeter.
 Cover Image: Richard B. Winston, 2022

Table of Contents

T/	ABLE OF	CONTENTS	v
Tł	HE GROU	INDWATER PROJECT FOREWORD	Х
FC	DREWOR	۲D	XI
PF	REFACE .		XII
A	CKNOWL	EDGMENTS	XIII
1	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1 1		2
	1.2	FIRST STEPS	
2	INST	ALLING MODFLOW	6
	2.1	INSTALLING MODFLOW AND MODPATH	6
	2.2	INSTALLING MODELMUSE	7
	2.3	INSTALLING LISTINGANALYST	7
3	ORIE	NTATION TO MODELMUSE	8
	3.1	DEFINING THE INITIAL GRID	8
	3.2	THE MAIN MODELMUSE WINDOW	8
	3.3	ACTIVATING MODFLOW PACKAGES	9
	3.4	DATA SETS	10
	3.5	DATA VISUALIZATION	11
	3.6	RUN MODFLOW	13
	3.7	Objects	14
	3.8	IMPORT MODEL RESULTS	16
4	CREA	ATING A SIMPLE MODFLOW MODEL	
	4.1	RUN AN EXAMPLE MODFLOW MODEL	17
	4.2	Model Requirements	18
	4.3	STARTING A NEW MODFLOW MODEL	18
	4.4	DEFINE STRESS PERIODS	20
	4.5	SPECIFY HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY	21
	4.6	DEFINING SPECIFIED HEAD BOUNDARIES	22
	4.7	RUNNING THE MODEL	24
	4.8	VIEW MODEL RESULTS	
_	4.9	MODELOW INPUT AND OUTPUT FILES	
5	DISCI	RETIZATION IN TIME AND SPACE	29
	5.1	CONSISTENT UNITS	
	5.2		
	5.2.1	Structured Grids	
	5.2.2	Discretization by vertices	32 27
	5.2.5	Grid Design	
	525	Artive Cells	
	5.3	STRESS PERIODS	
	5.3.1	Time-Step Multipliers	
	5.3.2	Steady State Versus Transient	
6	INITI	AL CONDITIONS	
7	RFPR	RESENTATION OF PROPERTIES OF GEOLOGIC MATERIALS	
•			v

	7.1	THE NODE PROPERTY FLOW PACKAGE	41
	7.2	THE STORAGE PACKAGE	44
	7.3	GHOST NODE CORRECTION PACKAGE AND XT3D OPTION	45
	7.3.1	The Ghost Node Correction Package	45
	7.3.2	The XT3D Option	47
8	BOU	NDARY CONDITIONS	49
	8.1	SPECIFIED HEADS: THE CONSTANT HEAD PACKAGE	49
	8.2	SPECIFIED FLOWS	50
	8.2.1	The Well Package	50
	8.2.2	The Recharge Package	52
	8.3	HEAD-DEPENDENT BOUNDARIES: DRAIN, RIVER, AND GENERAL HEAD BOUNDARIES	53
	8.3.1	Cell Size and Conductance	56
	8.4	THE EVAPOTRANSPIRATION PACKAGE	57
	8.5	OPPORTUNITIES TO LEARN MORE BY WORKING WITH MODFLOW MODELS	59
9	отні	R PACKAGES	60
	Q 1		60
	9.1		
	9.2	THE STREAMELOW ROLLING PACKAGE	
	9.0	THE UNITARY LOW ROOMAGE PACKAGE	65
10)) TIMF	-VARIARI F INDI IT	
10			
	10.1		66
	10.2		68
11	OB26		70
12	ADV	ANCED PACKAGES	71
	12.1	SKELETAL STORAGE, COMPACTION, AND SUBSIDENCE (CSUB) PACKAGE	71
	12.2	MULTI-AQUIFER WELL (MAW) PACKAGE	71
	12.3	LAKE (LAK) PACKAGE	71
	12.4	UNSATURATED ZONE FLOW (UZF) PACKAGE	72
	12.5	WATER MOVER (MVR) PACKAGE	72
	12.6	PUOVANCY (PLIVE) DACKACE	/ Z
	127	BUOYANCY (BUTO) PACKAGE	72
	12.7	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE	72 72 73
	12.7	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES	72 72 73 73
	12.7 12.8 12.9	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE	72 72 73 73 73
13	12.7 12.8 12.9 NEX	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS	72 72 73 73 73 73
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 8 NEXT	UUYANCY (BUYG) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS	72 73 73 73 73 73
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 8 NEXT 6 EXER	UISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES	72 72 73 73 73 73 74 75
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 NEXT EXERCISE	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES	72 72 73 73 73 73 75 75
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 NEXT EXERCISE EXERCISE	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES	72 73 73 73 73 73 75 75 76 76
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 NEXT EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE	VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES	72 73 73 73 73 73 75 75 76 77
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro	BUOYANCY (BUYG) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 Juction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages	72 73 73 73 73 73 75 75 76 77 77 77
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 NEXT EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat	BUOYANCY (BUYG) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 duction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages ing the Base Run for Exercise 3	72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 75 75 77 77
13 14	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat Exercise	BUOYANCY (BUYG) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 duction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages ing the Base Run for Exercise 3 ise 3.1 ice 2.2	72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 75 75 77 77 77 79 80
13	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat Exerc Exerc	BUOYANCY (BUYG) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE. TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES. GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 duction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages. ing the Base Run for Exercise 3 ise 3.1 ise 3.2	72 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 76 77 77 79 80 80
13	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat Exerc Exerc Exerc	BUOYANCY (BUTB) PACKAGE	
13	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat Exerc Exerc Exerc	BUOYANCY (BUYB) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 duction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages ing the Base Run for Exercise 3 ise 3.1 ise 3.2 ise 3.4	72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 75 75 77 77 80 80 80 80 81
13	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat Exerc Exerc Exerc	BUOYANCY (BUYO) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE. TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 duction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages ring the Base Run for Exercise 3 ise 3.1 ise 3.2 ise 3.4	
13	12.7 12.8 12.9 EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE Intro Creat Exerc Exerc Exerc Exerc Exerc	BUOYANCY (BUTB) PACKAGE VISCOSITY VSC PACKAGE TIME-VARYING HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY (TVK) AND TIME-VARYING STORAGE (TVS) PACKAGES GROUNDWATER FLOW (GWF) EXCHANGE PACKAGE STEPS CISES 1 2 3 duction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages ing the Base Run for Exercise 3 ise 3.1 ise 3.2 ise 3.4 ise 3.5 4	

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT© Richard B. WinstonFree download from gw-project.orgAnyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

	Exercise 4.2	82
	Exercise 4.3	82
	Exercise 4.4	83
E	xercise 5	84
	Introduction to Stress Packages	84
	Part A - The Recharge Package	84
	Exercise 5.1	84
	Exercise 5.2	84
	Exercise 5.3	84
	Exercise 5.4	84
	Exercise 5.5	84
	Exercise 5.6	85
	Exercise 5.7	85
	Exercise 5.8	85
	Exercise 5.9	85
	Part B - The River Package	86
	Exercise 5.10	86
	Part C - The Drain and General-Head Boundary Packages	86
	Exercise 5.11	87
	Exercise 5.12	88
	Part D - The Well Package	88
	Exercise 5.13	89
	Exercise 5.14	89
E	xercise 6	90
	Introduction to Effects of Model Boundaries and Simulation of Transient Flow	90
	Exercise 6.1	93
	Exercise 6.2	94
	Exercise 6.3	96
	Exercise 6.4	96
E	xercise 7	98
	Introduction to MODPATH	99
	Exercise 7.1	100
	Exercise 7.2	100
	Exercise 7.3	101
E	xercise 8	102
	Exercise 8.1	102
	Exercise 8.2	123
	Site Information for Exercise 8	127
15	REFERENCES	136
6	BOXES	120
-		135
B	OX 1 SOME DETAILS OF HOW MODFLOW 6 WORKS	139
B	OX 2 CONTENTS OF THE MODILOW 6 DISTRIBUTION FOLDER	141
B	OX 3 TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE OF STRUCTURED GRIDS	142
B	OX 4 EFFECT OF TIME-STEP SIZE ON MODEL ACCURACY	143
B	OX 5 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS, MODEL PS1A	145
B	OX 6 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR USING ZONEBUDGET WITH MODEL PS1A	158
B	OX 7 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR MODEL PS1B1	162
В	OX 8 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR MODEL PS1B2	164

E	BOX 9 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR MODEL PS1B3	.165
E	BOX 10 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR MODEL PS1B4	.166
E	BOX 11 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS2A	.168
E	BOX 12 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS2B	.171
E	Box 13 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2C	.174
E	BOX 14 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS2C1	.177
E	Box 15 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2D	.179
E	BOX 16 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS2D1	.182
E	BOX 17 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS3BASE	.185
E	BOX 18 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS3A	.187
E	BOX 19 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PS3B	. 195
E	BOX 20 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PSMP	.197
E	BOX 21 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PSMP, SIMULATION 1	.201
E	BOX 22 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PSMP, SIMULATION 2	.207
E	BOX 23 STEP-BY-STEP INSTRUCTIONS FOR PSMP, SIMULATION 3	.210
17	EXERCISE SOLUTIONS	. 215
c	SOLUTION EVERCISE 1	215
	SOLUTION EXERCISE 1	215
	SOLUTION EXERCISE 2	215
-	Solution to Evercise 3.1	216
	Solution to Exercise 3.1	210
	Solution to Exercise 3.2	210
	Solution to Exercise 3.4	220
	Solution to Exercise 3.4	.220
c		221
-	Solution to Evercise 4.1	.222
	Solution to Exercise 4.1	.222
	Solution to Exercise 4.2	.222
	Solution to Exercise 4.5	.222
		.225
2	Displan Set 2: Introduction to Stress Declarges	.224
	Problem Set 2: Introduction to Stress Packages	.224
	Solution to Exercise 5.1	.224
	Solution to Exercise 5.2	.224
	Solution to Exercise 5.3	.225
	Solution to Exercise 5.4	.225
	Solution to Exercise 5.5	.225
	Solution to Exercise 5.6	.226
	Solution to Exercise 5.7	. 228
	Solution to Exercise 5.8	.228
	Solution to Exercise 5.9	. 229
	Solution to Exercise 5.10	.229
	Solution to Exercise 5.11	.230
	Solution to Exercise 5.12	.231
	Solution to Exercise 5.13	.231
	Solution to Exercise 5.14	.232
S	SOLUTION EXERCISE 6	.233
	Solution to Exercise 6.1	.233
	Solution to Exercise 6.2	.234

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

viii

мо	DIFICATIONS TO ORIGINAL RELEASE	A
18	ABOUT THE AUTHOR	
	Solution Exercise 8.2	
	Solution Exercise 8.1	
S	OLUTION EXERCISE 8	240
	Solution to Exercise 7.3	
	Solution to Exercise 7.2	
	Solution to Exercise 7.1	
S	OLUTION EXERCISE 7	237
	Solution to Exercise 6.4	
	Solution to Exercise 6.3	235

The Groundwater Project Foreword

At the United Nations (UN) Water Summit held on December 2022, delegates agreed that statements from all major groundwater-related events will be unified in 2023 into one comprehensive groundwater message. This message will be released at the UN 2023 Water Conference, a landmark event that will bring attention at the highest international level to the importance of groundwater for the future of humanity and ecosystems. This message will bring clarity to groundwater issues to advance understanding globally of the challenges faced and actions needed to resolve the world's groundwater problems. Groundwater education is key.

The 2023 World Water Day theme *Accelerating Change* is in sync with the goal of the Groundwater Project (GW-Project). The GW-Project is a registered Canadian charity founded in 2018 and committed to the advancement of groundwater education as a means to accelerate action related to our essential groundwater resources. To this end, we create and disseminate knowledge through a unique approach: the democratization of groundwater knowledge. We act on this principle through our website <u>gw-project.org/</u>, a global platform, based on the principle that

"Knowledge should be free, and the best knowledge should be free knowledge." Anonymous

The mission of the GW-Project is to promote groundwater learning across the globe. This is accomplished by providing accessible, engaging, and high-quality educational materials—free-of-charge online and in many languages—to all who want to learn about groundwater. In short, the GW-Project provides essential knowledge and tools needed to develop groundwater sustainably for the future of humanity and ecosystems. This new type of global educational endeavor is made possible through the contributions of a dedicated international group of volunteer professionals from diverse disciplines. Academics, consultants, and retirees contribute by writing and/or reviewing the books aimed at diverse levels of readers from children to high school, undergraduate and graduate students, or professionals in the groundwater field. More than 1,000 dedicated volunteers from 127 countries and six continents are involved—and participation is growing.

Hundreds of books will be published online over the coming years, first in English and then in other languages. An important tenet of GW-Project books is a strong emphasis on visualization; with clear illustrations to stimulate spatial and critical thinking. In future, the publications will also include videos and other dynamic learning tools. Revised editions of the books are published from time to time. Users are invited to propose revisions.

We thank you for being part of the GW-Project Community. We hope to hear from you about your experience with the project materials, and welcome ideas and volunteers!

The GW-Project Board of Directors January 2023

Richard B. Winston

Foreword

Numerous reports, journal publications, and a few textbooks have been written about groundwater modeling. Although these resources provide vital information for the wise construction and use of models, they do not explain how to get started. The Groundwater Project is pleased to publish this book, *Getting Started with MODFLOW*, to fill that gap; its readers will learn, step-by-step, how to build their first groundwater model.

Numerical computer codes for the simulation of groundwater flow in one- and two-dimensions first appeared in the 1960s but did not gain substantial usefulness until the late 1970s when computer access became affordable, rendering numerical groundwater modeling feasible for practical application. At the same time, modeling software advanced to include three-dimensional capabilities, giving groundwater scientists the freedom to simulate groundwater flow without the restrictions associated with analytical models. Early on, the US Geological Survey (USGS) was a leader in development and application of numerical models for groundwater applications which led to the first publicly available version of the MODFLOW code in 1984. The USGS re-issues MODFLOW every few years with expanded capabilities and greater ease of use while keeping it in the public domain.

This unique book goes far beyond user manuals and modeling texts to explain the use of MODFLOW in detail, including installation of the codes and step-by-step exercises that the reader can transfer to their own field sites. In particular, the final exercise demonstrates how the tools described throughout the book are put to work using data from a field site.

Groundwater flow simulation is a powerful tool that is useful even on a personal computer. However, it is not routinely used to assess and improve the conceptual models that underpin our understanding of flow-systems. Using MODFLOW, the modeler can gain insight into the hydrogeologic controls on flow in the groundwater system using simple exploratory models as thinking tools. Further, they can design a data collection program that will improve the underlying conceptual model. In short, MODFLOW should be used in all phases of a project, not only in the final phase. *Getting Started with MODFLOW* facilitates use of modeling in early phases by making modeling accessible to hydrogeologists who do not specialize in modeling.

Richard Winston has been instrumental in providing hands-on, how-to, educational materials and tools to the groundwater modeling community that range from a multitude of <u>multimedia items</u>? to extensive <u>software tools for practical model application</u>?. His experience with preparing these materials has culminated in this effective, pragmatic guide that will enable those with a working knowledge of groundwater flow to become a MODFLOW user so that flow modeling becomes accessible outside of the domain of the modeling specialist.

John Cherry, The Groundwater Project Leader

Guelph, Ontario, Canada, November 2023

Preface

For over twenty years, part of my job at the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) has been to provide support for groundwater modelers. I do this in several ways by:

- developing graphical user interfaces to help modelers create, run, and view the results of their models,
- maintaining the Online Guide to MODFLOW which describes the formats of the MODFLOW-2005 input files, and
- answering questions from modelers.

I answer a lot of questions, for example in 2022, I responded to over 400 inquiries. Some of these were simple; some not so simple. When I first started to support groundwater modeling, the questions were mostly about how to correctly format input files. That is no longer the case. An extremely small number of people ask about input formatting now because the various graphical user interfaces for MODFLOW including the Python package FloPy make it easy for people to create correctly formatted files. Now, many of the questions are from beginning modelers who need to understand how to use MODFLOW. This book is meant to address that problem. It is aimed at enabling beginners to use MODFLOW successfully. It won't make the reader an expert; that requires more study and experience. It may, however, start them on the road to being a successful MODFLOW modeler.

Acknowledgments

I deeply appreciate the thorough and useful reviews of and contributions to this book by the following individuals:

- Eve L. Kuniansky, Emeritus Scientist, United States Geological Survey, USA;
- Eileen Poeter, Professor Emeritus, Colorado School of Mines, USA;
- Claire R. Tiedeman, Retired, Sunnyvale, California, USA;
- Paul Hsieh, Retired, Redwood City, California, USA.

I am grateful for Amanda Sills of the Groundwater Project for their oversight and copyediting of this book. I thank Eileen Poeter (Colorado School of Mines, Golden, Colorado, USA) for producing this book.

1 Introduction

Every groundwater model starts with a problem. For example, if a farmer applies for a permit for a new irrigation well, the regulator may wish to know whether pumping from the well will cause other nearby wells to go dry. The regulator may use a model to predict the effects of the well on other groundwater users. From those results, the regulator may choose to approve or not approve the proposed well. Another example would be a city that wants to protect its water supply from pollution. It might use a model to help determine whether its water supply is in danger and if so, what to do about it. MODFLOW is often used to solve such problems either alone or in combination with other programs.

MODFLOW is a popular program for modeling groundwater flow. It was developed by the United States Geological Survey (USGS). It was first released in 1984 with later major releases in 1988, 1996, 2000, 2005, and 2017 (McDonald and Harbaugh, 1984, 1988, Harbaugh and McDonald, 1996a, 1996b, Harbaugh et al., 2000, Hill et al., 2000, Harbaugh, 2005, Langevin et al., 2017 Hughes et al., 2017, Provost et al., 2017).

The goal of this book is to teach enough about MODFLOW for the reader to be able to create a reasonable groundwater flow model of a study site and understand what the results mean. This book is designed to present enough about MODFLOW for the reader to be able to start using it. This book does not describe how to get the data needed for the MODFLOW input files. Instead, it focuses on providing a conceptual understanding of how to use MODFLOW. While it does not entirely ignore the mathematics behind MODFLOW, the mathematics are not the primary focus of this book. In this book, it is assumed that the reader will be using a graphical user interface to create the input files for MODFLOW, so the precise structure of the input files is largely neglected.

This book introduces the process of modeling groundwater flow using the most recent version of MODFLOW: MODFLOW 6. It assumes the reader knows the basics of groundwater flow. For example, it assumes Darcy's Law, hydraulic conductivity, specific storage, and specific yield are understood. A reader who does not already know the basics of groundwater flow should learn them before trying to learn MODFLOW. Several other books in the Groundwater Project can help with that. For example, <u>Hydrogeologic Properties of Earth Materials and Principles of Groundwater Flow</u> introduces basic concepts such as Darcy's Law and describes hydraulic parameters. Other related books include <u>Geologic Frameworks for Groundwater Flow Models</u>, which describes the process of building the geologic framework of a model and <u>Groundwater Resource Development: Effects and Sustainability</u>, which discusses how to use MODFLOW to assess the effects of groundwater resource development on baseflow in streams.

Two other publications from the USGS are especially helpful. <u>Reilly (2001)</u> and <u>Reilly and Harbaugh (2004)</u> provide guidance on how to best represent the physical features and properties that control groundwater flow in a mathematical model such as MODFLOW.

1.1 Assumptions in MODFLOW

MODFLOW is primarily used for simulating laminar, constant-density flow of a single fluid in the saturated zone. It can simulate confined flow, unconfined flow, steady-state flow, and transient flow. MODFLOW models can be one-, two-, or three-dimensional. MODFLOW is not suitable for some problems because of the assumptions embedded in it. It is not suitable for modeling more than a single fluid. For example, it cannot model gasoline leaked from a gas station together with groundwater when the gasoline is a separate liquid phase. It is not suitable for modeling groundwater that varies significantly in density such as a problem involving salt-water mixing with fresh water (unless the Buoyancy package is used). Large temperature differences within the model can also be a problem if they cause the density of the water to vary enough to impact the hydraulic gradient. Differences in temperature and solute concentration can affect the viscosity of water and thus the hydraulic conductivity. This effect can now be simulated by MODFLOW. MODFLOW 6 cannot model turbulent flow such as might occur in caves. However, there is a variant of MODFLOW called MODFLOW-CFP that can model turbulent flow (Shoemaker et al., 2007). For situations in which MODFLOW is not suitable, there are a variety of analytical, analytical element, finite-difference, and finite-element groundwater modeling programs that can be used.

MODFLOW simulates groundwater flow by first discretizing the aquifer volume to be modeled into a grid of cells and then solving a system of equations at each active cell in the model. The equations represent the flow between the cell and its neighbors, flow into or out of the groundwater system, and changes in the amount of water stored in the cell. To calculate the flows, MODFLOW needs the heads in all the cells. However, the heads in the cells are also unknown and need to be calculated. To get around this, it uses the most recent known heads. For the first time step in the model, these are the initial heads provided by the modeler. For each succeeding time step, these will be the heads from the previous time step. Using these heads, MODFLOW calculates new values for the flows and heads for the current time step. Then, instead of advancing to the next time step, it repeats the calculations using the newly calculated heads. It repeats this process, iterating until the heads and flows calculated in an iteration are sufficiently similar to those in the previous iteration based on a tolerance provided by the modeler. At that point, the model has reached the convergence threshold, so those results are accepted as the solution for that time step and the model is said to have converged for that time step. If the model is poorly constructed or there are numerical problems, MODFLOW may not be able to find an acceptable solution and will halt with an error message. More detail about MODFLOW's computational process is provided in Box 17.

Often getting the first time-step to converge for a transient or steady-state model can be difficult and may require adjusting the time steps, and/or modifying solver parameters. Commonly, the first stress period of a transient model is a steady-state stress period that will provide heads consistent with the model properties and boundary conditions so the ensuing transient simulation represents changes in the system due to the stresses input by the modeler without adjustments for inconsistencies of the initial heads.

1.2 First Steps

To use MODFLOW, you will need to define the purpose of the model and specify the following model inputs.

- extent of the area to include in the model;
- discretization of the model area (the grid);
- hydraulic properties of the geologic units included in the model (hydraulic conductivity, and for transient simulation specific storage, and specific yield);
- initial heads at every active cell in the model;
- locations and properties of boundary conditions such as streams, drains, or springs; and
- locations and rates of recharge, well discharge, and evapotranspiration.

Often, one of the most important of these, possibly the most important, is recharge. Recharge is the water that enters the groundwater system by percolation through the material overlying the saturated zone. Typically, recharge comes from precipitation, but it can also come from losing streams, infiltration basins, or other sources. Not all precipitation contributes to recharge; some of it is evaporated or transpired before reaching the saturated zone. Recharge is important because it often is the single greatest driver of flow in the saturated zone.

Usually, there are many, and often large, uncertainties in the model inputs. Comparisons of data observed in the groundwater system and equivalent values simulated by MODFLOW are used to adjust the model inputs with the objective of better representing the groundwater flow system. This process is called calibration or calibrating the model.

Several types of data can be used to calibrate a model. Heads are the simplest type of observation to make and can be informative. However, heads should not be the only type of observation used to calibrate a model because using only heads can result in a wide range of parameter values providing an equally acceptable fit to the observations. Flow observations are especially important because they can help in estimating recharge rates and determining the absolute (as opposed to relative) values of hydraulic conductivity. Flow observations include groundwater discharge to surface water features such as a river, as well as withdrawal/injection rates from/to wells. Typically, it is easier to measure the water leaving the groundwater system as discharge to surface water bodies or wells than the water entering the system as recharge because generally discharge occurs over a focused area while recharge is distributed over a broad area. The use of climatic water budgets, evapotranspiration, and streamflow data all help modelers constrain simulated flows to or from the groundwater system and thus provide a more representative calibrated model. The numerical model calibration process is akin to using flow rate and drawdown data from an aquifer pumping test to estimate aquifer properties.

One mistake frequently made by beginners is to wait to start modeling until after collecting all the data for the model. Instead, modeling should begin as soon as the purpose of the model has been defined and the extent of the area to include in the model has been determined. Results from these early models are not expected to be realistic; however, these early models help in two ways. They can provide insight into the controls on flow in the system and they can help the modeler to design a data collection program that will be useful to improving the model. Because this modeling effort begins with incomplete data, the missing data values need to be estimated. These preliminary models need to be good enough to run to completion with an acceptably low water budget error. However, it would be a mistake to spend a large amount of time calibrating the model at this stage. Instead, the modeler strives to understand what the largest discrepancies between the model results and measured observations reveal about the model parameters. For example, if the heads are higher than the land surface over large parts of the model that might mean recharge rates are too high or hydraulic conductivities are too low. Then more effort could be directed toward improving estimates of recharge rates, or to conducting aquifer tests to estimate hydraulic conductivities, or both (Figure 1).



Figure 1 - The circular modeling process. First develop a conceptual model and compile existing data about the aquifer. Then collect or compile more data if required for the problem at hand. Decide on a modeling approach and calibration strategy, then test your hypothesis. If the model is adequate for the problem or proves the conceptual model is correct, then no further study is needed. If not and funding is available, revise the conceptual model, collect more data and incorporate the data into a more complex model, recalibrate, and test the new hypothesis (from Kuniansky and others, 2022).

2 Installing MODFLOW

This text provides several hands-on exercises using MODFLOW. To do the exercises, you will need to download and install MODFLOW and other software by clicking on the link in each of the following bullets. Each software code was developed by the United States Geological Survey (USGS) and the links each connect to the web page for the software where the reader can select the appropriate download for their computing environment.

- <u>MODFLOW</u>, a groundwater flow modeling software.
- <u>ModelMuse</u>, one of the several graphical user interfaces for MODFLOW and the one for which step by step procedures are provided herein. (If desired, the exercises can be completed using a different graphical user interface.)
- <u>MODPATH</u>, a post-processing code that uses the output of MODFLOW to track flow lines. It is also available by clicking <u>here</u>.
- ListingAnalyst (optional), a text file viewer that provides a table of contents and index for the MODFLOW listing file. ListingAnalyst is not required for the exercises; the MODFLOW listing file can be viewed with any text editor.

Compiled versions of MODFLOW for the Linux and MacIntosh operating systems are available <u>here</u>? if needed. All of these tools are provided by the USGS and all of them can be found on <u>MODFLOW and Related Programs</u>? page, except for ListingAnalyst.

2.1 Installing MODFLOW and MODPATH

MODFLOW 6 does not come with an installer. Instead, unzip the distribution file, mf*.zip, where * is the version number, and retain the directory structure in the distribution file. The preferred location for the unzipped directory structure is C:\WRDAPP (WRDAPP is an abbreviation for Water Resources Division Applications). Assuming you use the preferred installation location, you will have a directory like the one shown in Figure 2. The uppermost directory (mf6.3.0 in Figure 2) name will differ if you have downloaded a different version of MODFLOW 6. The MODFLOW executable itself (named mf6.exe) is in the "bin" subdirectory. For more about what is included in the distribution folder, see Box 2]. MODPATH can be installed in the same way as MODFLOW.

📙 🛃 📜 🔻 mf6.3.0					- 🗆 ×
File Home Share View					~ ?
Image: Pin to Quick access Copy pate Pin to Quick access Copy pate	h Move Copy to * to *	New item • 1 Easy access • New folder	Properties	Open - Select all Edit Select none History Invert select	e tion
Clipboard	Organize	New	Open	Select	
\leftarrow \rightarrow \checkmark \uparrow 📜 \Rightarrow This PC \Rightarrow (OSDisk (C:) > WRDAPP > mf6.3.0	~	S S	Search mf6.3.0	
> 📙 SutraSuite	^ Name	Date mo	dified	Туре	Size
📕 Temp	📕 bin	3/7/2022	2 5:57 PM	File folder	
> 📙 Users	doc	3/7/2022	2 5:57 PM	File folder	
> 📙 Windows	examples	3/7/2023	2 5:58 PM	File folder	
> 📜 Word Documents	📜 make	3/7/202	2 5:58 PM	File folder	
> 📙 WRDAPP	msvs	3/7/2023	2 5:58 PM	File folder	
> 🙀 ERWRD (\\GS\RestonVA-M\Ef	χ 📜 src	3/7/202	2 5:58 PM	File folder	
> 🦏 EWGWH (\\GS\RestonVA-M\E	F srcbmi	3/7/2022	2 5:58 PM	File folder	
> 🙀 EWGWHTRANSMOD (\\GS\Re	utils	3/7/2023	2 5:58 PM	File folder	
	✓ 🗋 meson.build	3/4/2023	2 11:13 AM	BUILD File	4 KB
9 items					

Figure 2 - The MODFLOW 6 distribution folder.

2.2 Installing ModelMuse

The exercises in this book use ModelMuse (Winston, 2019) to create the MODFLOW input files. To install ModelMuse, double click on the downloaded ModelMuseSetup*.exe file, where * represents the 32 or 64 bit operating system followed by the version number. Typically, the installer installs ModelMuse without complications.

There are several other graphical user interfaces for MODFLOW. You can find them on the <u>Wikipedia page for MODFLOW</u>. Besides using a graphical user interface, you can use Python to create and run MODFLOW models using <u>Flopy</u>.

2.3 Installing ListingAnalyst

ListingAnalyst is a text file viewer for MODFLOW listing files. You can download it <u>here</u>. It can be installed by unzipping its zip file into an empty directory. Its use will be described in the exercises of this book.

3 Orientation to ModelMuse

ModelMuse is a graphical user interface for MODFLOW and several other model codes. It has some functionality of a Geographic Information System (GIS). With GIS functionality, geometric objects and/or formulas can be created based on a global geographic coordinate system and then converted to model coordinates for generation of model input files. ModelMuse will be used for the exercises in this book. This section provides a quick orientation for readers to become familiar with ModelMuse. Later sections provide step-by-step instructions where readers can open and use the software while reading this text. However, it does not cover every ModelMuse feature. More information is available in the help system for ModelMuse. Links to online instructional videos about using ModelMuse are provided on the ModelMuse web page (https://www.usgs.gov/mission-areas/water-resources/modelmuse-tutorial-videos-0⁷).

3.1 Defining the Initial Grid

When creating a new MODFLOW model in ModelMuse, after some initial screens, the Initial Grid screen appears where the grid and the preferred version of MODFLOW can be specified (Figure 3). There are several other ways to define the grid in ModelMuse but this is the most basic approach. After finishing creation of the grid, the main ModelMuse window appears.

🐉 Initial Grid	_		×
MODFLOW 6 MODFLOW Version			
Specify initial grid (optional)			
10 Number of columns 100 Column width Layer group name	Bottom elevation		
10 Number of rows 100 Row width Model_Top	0		
Upper Aquifer	-10		
3 Number of layers Middle Aquifer	-20		
Grid origin: Upper left corner Lower Aquifer	-30		
0 X O Grid angle (degrees)			
0 Y Vertical exaggeration			
0 Z			
? Help	lo grid	Finish	•

Figure 3 - Defining the initial grid in ModelMuse.

3.2 The Main ModelMuse Window

The main ModelMuse window presents various views of the model grid as shown in Figure 4, in which some of the most important buttons are labeled. The line of text across the top is a series of drop-down menus; *File, Edit, Grid, Data, Object, Navigation, View,* *Customize, Model, Model Selection,* and *Help.* The notation used in instructions for selecting an option from a drop-down menu is *Menu Name* | *Selection,* for example *Model* | *MODFLOW Packages and Programs.*



Figure 4 - The ModelMuse Main Screen.

3.3 Activating MODFLOW Packages

MODFLOW has a variety of packages that can be used to simulate different features in a model such as rivers or recharge. Packages are activated or deactivated by selecting *Model*|*MODFLOW Packages and Programs* and checking or unchecking the boxes for each package (Figure 5).

MODFLOW Packages and Progr	ams		-	- 1		×
Flow Packages	RCH: Recharge package Comments					
HFB: Horizontal Boundary conditions Specified head GHD: Time-V						~ ~
Specified flux RCH. Rechar WEL: Well pa Head-dependent fl CRN: Drain p	Recharge location option Recharge assignment methor Objects overwrite values of Sum values of all objects	op layer 💽 🔽 od of previous objects	Time varying re	charg	e laye	ers
- ⊢ ETS: Evapotr - ⊢ GHB: Genera - ⊢ LAK: Lake pe - ⊢ MAW: Multi-A - ⊢ MVR: Water I - ☞ RIV: River pa - ⊢ SFR: MODFL - ⊢ UZF6: Unsatı ⊞ Solvers	Name Value					
Subsidence Observations Post processors	0			ХD	elete	1
		? <u>H</u> elp	✓ ОК	×	Cano	_ cel

Figure 5 - The MODFLOW Packages and Programs Dialog Box.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

3.4 Data Sets

Depending on which packages are selected, different data sets will be created. The values assigned to these data sets can be specified in the *Data Edit Data Sets* dialog box (Figure 6). Additional data sets can be created that are specific to the way you want to build your model.

🗱 Data Sets		_		Х
 □ Required □ Hydrology □ Active □ Cell_Type □ IDOMAIN □ Ky □ Kz □ Modflow_Initial_Head □ Modflow_Specified_Head □ XT3D_Angle_1 □ XT3D_Angle_3 ① Layer Definition 	Basic Comment Name Kx Type Real Evaluated At Cells Interpolation none Default formula 0.0001	Orientation 3D Units Anisotropy 1 Edit form	nula	
Add Delete	? Help	Apply	<u>Clos</u>	se
				1

Figure 6 - Data Sets Dialog Box.

Numeric values can be assigned to data sets. Alternatively, formulas can be input that result in a distribution of different values throughout the model grid-cell locations. For example, it is often convenient to assign the starting head of a MODFLOW model to be identical to the top of the model as that can help ensure that none of the cells will go dry (i.e., have a head below the bottom of the cell) on the first iteration of the first time-step. The Formula Editor (Figure 7) is used to help create properly formatted formulas.



Figure 7 - Formula Editor showing the default formula for the IDOMAIN data set. The IDOMAIN data set in MODFLOW is used to distinguish between active cells (IDOMAIN >0), inactive cells (IDOMAIN = 0), and vertical pass-through cells (IDOMAIN < 0). In this example, IDOMAIN depends on the "Active" data set and the height of the cell. Inactive cells are assigned a value of 0. Active cells that have layer heights less than or equal to zero are assigned a value of -1. Other active cells are assigned a value of 1.

3.5 Data Visualization

The *Data* | *Data Visualization* dialog box (Figure 8) is used to color the grid with the values of a data set or model feature or to specify contour lines for a data set.

🐉 Data Visualization				_		×
Color Grid	Selection Filters Legend					
Contour Data	Data set or boundary condition			Tin	ne	
MODPATH Pathlines	Kx		- ÷	0		
MODPATH Time Series Head Observation Results SFR Stream Links STR Stream Links	Data set comment (read only)					
SWR Reach Connections						
SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA and MODF Cross Sections	When changing data sets: • Update limits and legend (defa • Retain limits and legend (anim Color scheme Rainbow	ault) Nations)	Edit custom color schemes		loc	
	Color adjustment	□ Log trar	sform	1	103	×
< >>		20g I'u				
		? <u>H</u> elp	Apply	<u>i</u>	<u>C</u> los	se

Figure 8 - Data Visualization dialog box.

If you are unsure about how a data set value has been assigned, the *Data* | *Show Grid or Mesh Values* dialog box can help (Figure 9). When the cursor is placed over a cell, the dialog box shows not only the value of the data set in that cell but an explanation of how that value was assigned.



Figure 9 - Grid or Mesh Values dialog box. A Kx value is shown because Kx has been visualized using the Data Visualization dialog box and the cursor has been placed at layer 1, row 3, column 1.

3.6 Run MODFLOW

After creating all the required data sets and including some boundary conditions, the modeler can run the model by selecting *File*|*Export*|*MODFLOW 6 input files*. ModelMuse typically runs MODFLOW from within the ModelMonitor program (Figure 10). ModelMonitor displays the percent discrepancy in the water budget for each time step of the model simulation. The water budget accounts for all the water entering and leaving the groundwater system and for changes in the amount of stored water. Ideally, these would all balance, but because of the iterative way that MODFLOW calculates the flows, there is typically a small discrepancy in the budget.

While ModelMonitor is running, it checks for error or warning messages. If everything is going well, a green smiling face is displayed on the left end of the ModelMonitor form. If the program detects any warning messages, a yellow neutral face is displayed. If it detects an error message or the percent discrepancy is too high, a red frowning face will be displayed. This can help the modeler identify problems with the model.



Figure 10 - ModelMonitor program running MODFLOW.

3.7 Objects

Objects are the primary means for specifying spatially variable data in ModelMuse. Objects are created by selecting one of the buttons for creating objects (Figure 11), then clicking on the top, front, or side view of the model. For line or polygon objects, each click adds another vertex and double-clicking finishes the object.



Figure 11 - Buttons for Creating Objects. From left to right an object can be a point, polyline, polygon, straight line, or a rectangle.

When the shape of the object is complete, the Object Properties dialog box appears (Figure 12a) in which values can be specified for data sets or model features ((Figure 12b) such as rivers or wells.

Evaluated at	ell comers	Position lo	ocked	Object inform	ation (not ed	litable)
Name Object1			_	Object lengt	h	
Duplicate cells allowed	0 Quadtre	ee refinem	ient	Object area		
□ Use to set grid cell size						
Grid cell size	100			Object order	r	
Color object line	Set object	line color	- I	1		
Color object interior	Set objec	t fill color		1		
Set values of enclosed (cells Minim	um fractio	n			
 Set values of intersected Set values of cells by int 	d cells of cell repolation 0	length				
-Number of Z formulas ⊂ Zero ⊂ One]				
Z-coordinate	(Model_Top + Uppe	r_Aquifer	_Bottom) /	2.		Edit l
						Edit
Higher Z-coordinate	Model_lop					
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot	tom				Edit
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate Object Properties Properties Data Sate MC	Model_lop	tom	^pmmonte/	? Help	✓ OK	Edit I
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot	tom /ertices C	Comments/ DRN: Dra	<u>₹ H</u> elp Captions	 ✓ OK 	Edit
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot	form	Comments/ DRN: Dra	? Help Captions in package	 ✓ OK 	Edit I
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot	form	Comments/ DRN: Dra Formula	? Help Captions in package	 ✓ OK 	Edit I
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot	tom /ertices C	Comments/ DRN: Drai Formula Elevation	? Help	 ✓ OK 	
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot DDFLOW Features V Starting time PEST Modifier	tom /ertices C	Comments/ DRN: Drai Formula Elevation	? Help /Captions in package Conductance per unit length or area	✓ OK	
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot DDFLOW Features V Starting time PEST Modifier Modification Method	tom /ertices C	Comments/ DRN: Dra Formula Elevation Add	? Help Captions in package Conductance per unit length or area Multiply	✓ OK	
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot DDFLOW Features V Starting time PEST Modifier Modification Method	tom /ertices C	Comments/ DRN: Drain Formula Elevation	<u>Pelp</u> Captions in package Conductance per unit length or area Multiply	✓ OK	
Higher Z-coordinate Lower Z-coordinate	Model_lop Upper_Aquifer_Bot	tom /ertices C Ending time	Comments/ DRN: Drain Formula Elevation Add	? Help Captions in package Conductance per unit length or area Multiply	✓ OK	

Figure 12 - Object Properties dialog box. a) Properties tab with Z formulas highlighted. b) MODFLOW Features tab. If you are not familiar with MODFLOW and MODFLOW packages or parameter estimation programs like PEST, this dialog box may be confusing. Its use is demonstrated in several of the exercises in this book. For the object properties shown here, you may want to change the Name of Object1 to reflect to what the object does. Since the Drain package (DRN) is highlighted, this object could be a linear feature for an ephemeral stream or a point feature for a spring that can go dry.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

For objects drawn on the top view of the model, the formulas for the Z-coordinates (Figure 12a) determine which layer or layers the object affects.

Objects can be hidden or displayed using the Object | Show or Hide Objects dialog box.

To edit an object after it has first been created, select *Object Select Objects* and then double-click on the object.

3.8 Import Model Results

To visualize the model results, select *File*|*Import*|*Model Results*, then select the output file for the model. This brings up the dialog box shown in Figure 13. Any or all the data sets (e.g., some, all, or one timestep) can be selected for import. You can also choose to use one of the data sets to color the grid or to create contour lines.

Select Model Results to Import		—	
 Head: Period: 1; Step: 1; Total Time: 0.1 Head: Period: 1; Step: 2; Total Time: 0.2 Head: Period: 1; Step: 3; Total Time: 0.3 Head: Period: 1; Step: 4; Total Time: 0.4 Head: Period: 1; Step: 5; Total Time: 0.5 Head: Period: 1; Step: 6; Total Time: 0.6 Head: Period: 1; Step: 7; Total Time: 0.7 Head: Period: 1; Step: 8; Total Time: 0.8 Head: Period: 1; Step: 9; Total Time: 0.9 ✓ Head: Period: 1; Step: 10; Total Time: 1 			
Model Results Classification		Prefix	
Color grid Contour grid	 Neit 	her	
Data used to color or contour grid			
Head: Period: 1; Step: 10; Total Time: 1			-
Select all Deselect all data sets	? <u>H</u> elp	🗸 ОК	X Cancel

Figure 13 - Importing model results.

4 Creating a Simple MODFLOW Model

It is possible to create the input files for MODFLOW using only a text editor. However, generating the model input files with only a text editor requires significant effort to understand the formats of the various files and to generate them correctly. This book relies on ModelMuse to generate the input files. More information about the formats of MODFLOW input files is provided in documents in the doc subdirectory of the MODFLOW software folder, described in Box 2. For older versions of MODFLOW, information about input formats is provided by the <u>Online Guide to MODFLOW</u>.

4.1 Run an Example MODFLOW Model

Before creating a MODFLOW model in ModelMuse, try running one of the example models from the MODFLOW 6 distribution file. Open the Examples folder from the distribution and then go to one of its subfolders. Each subfolder contains one example model. Locate the file in the subfolder named "run.bat" and double-click it to start running the model. By default, Windows does not show filename extensions, so the file name may appear to be "run" instead of "run.bat." Depending on the security settings, the computer may open a window that notes the application is not recognized and wait for you to click that it is safe to proceed. When the run file executes, a command line window will open and MODFLOW will run (Figure 14).

C:\WINDOWS\system32\cmd.exe	-	×
MODFLOW 6 U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MODULAR HYDROLOGIC MODEL VERSION 6.3.0 03/04/2022		^
MODFLOW 6 compiled Mar 02 2022 15:29:04 with Intel(R) Fortran Intel(R) 64 Compiler Classic for applications running on Intel(R) 64, Version 2021.5.0 Build 20211109_000000		
This software has been approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). Although the software has been subjected to rigorous review, the USGS reserves the right to update the software as needed pursuant to further analysis and review. No warranty, expressed or implied, is made by the USGS or the U.S. Government as to the functionality of the software and related material nor shall the fact of release constitute any such warranty. Furthermore, the software is released on condition that neither the USGS nor the U.S. Government shall be held liable for any damages resulting from its authorized or unauthorized use. Also refer to the USGS Water Resources Software User Rights Notice for complete use, copyright, and distribution information.		
Run start date and time (yyyy/mm/dd hh:mm:ss): 2022/03/20 19:45:27		
Writing simulation list file: mfsim.lst Using Simulation name file: mfsim.nam		
Solving: Stress period: 1 Time step: 1 Solving: Stress period: 2 Time step: 1		
Run end date and time (yyyy/mm/dd hh:mm:ss): 2022/03/20 19:45:28 Elapsed run time: 0.908 Seconds		
Normal termination of simulation.		

Figure 14 - Screen capture of MODFLOW running in a command-line window.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

This is not a particularly intuitive way of running a computer program. In this book, MODFLOW will not be executed in this way. Instead, a graphical user interface will run MODFLOW. Although MODFLOW may look different when run through a graphical user interface, the MODFLOW software is separate from the graphical user interface. The ModelMuse interface executes MODFLOW by running a .bat file that runs ModelMonitor, and ModelMonitor runs MODFLOW as a background process. Other interfaces use other methods for running MODFLOW.

4.2 Model Requirements

MODFLOW requires that the modeler define nodes covering the area or volume to be modeled. The following example will use a rectangular grid with nodes representing the center of each cell. MODFLOW calculates the heads and flows at each node. The time period to be simulated also needs to be specified. The model simulation time is broken down into "stress periods" that are further divided into time steps as described in Section 5.3. The stress periods define time periods within which stresses on the system, such as pumping from wells, recharge, or river stage, remain constant (unless Time-Variable Input is used as described in Section 10). The modeler must also specify the stresses on the system and the relevant properties of the rock or sediments through which the flow occurs. Additionally, specified head or head-dependent boundary conditions should be defined at locations within the model domain based on known elevations of, for example, drains or rivers. If heads are specified everywhere, the solution for head would be completely constrained and there would be no point in running MODFLOW. If no specified heads, head-dependent boundaries, or fluxes are specified, the MODFLOW model will be under-constrained and a solution cannot be obtained.

4.3 Starting a New MODFLOW Model

To begin, we will create a very simple model. It will have 1 layer, 30 rows, and 30 columns. There will be two specified head boundaries in opposite corners.

- Start ModelMuse by double-clicking on its shortcut in the computer's Start menu.
- Select Create new MODFLOW model and click Next (Figure 15).

🐉 ModelMuse	_		×
What do you want to do?			
Create new MODFLOW model			
C Create new PHAST model			
C Create new SUTRA model			
C Create new WellFootprint project			
© Open an existing ModelMuse project			
C Import MODFLOW-2005 or MODFLOW-NWT model			
<pre>C rma.gpt (D:\ModelingTools\ModelMuse\Pest Example\rma.gpt)</pre>			
<pre>C rma3D.gpt (D:\ModelingTools\ModelMuse\Pest Example\rma3D.gpt)</pre>			
C FlowNetTest.mmZLib (D:\ModelingTools\ModelMuse\FlowNetTest.mmZLib)			
C FlowNetTest.gpt (D:\ModelingTools\ModelMuse\FlowNetTest.gpt)			
<pre>c smdf700.mmZLib (D:\support\Rahawmati\Modified\smdf700.mmZLib)</pre>			
	? <u>H</u> elp	Next	•

Figure 15 - Selecting Create new MODFLOW model to start a new MODFLOW model in ModelMuse.

- (Optional) Enter a description of the model. (Figure 16).
- Leave the length and time units set to meters and seconds.
- Set the projection to "N/A" (not applicable) because this is a generic model example. For a model of a specific groundwater system, enter the geographic projection used to associate the model coordinates with its location on Earth.
- Click Next.

😕 ModelMuse	_		×
Geo Reference and Model Description			
A simple MODFLOW model			
Simulation starting date Projection type Length unit 2/ 7/2021 Projection type Meters Meters	Time unit Seconds	•	
Simulation starting time Projection			
	? <u>H</u> elp	Next	•

Figure 16 - Specifying model description and coordinate measuring system for a new MODFLOW model in ModelMuse. Enter the model description and since no geographic coordinate is used, Projection should be entered as "N/A" for not applicable. Then click on *Next* to go to the next screen to edit information about the model.

- Set the MODFLOW version to MODFLOW 6 (Figure 17).
- Set the number of rows and columns to 30 and the number of layers to 1. Set the column and row spacing to 1000. Set the top of the model to 100 and the bottom of the aquifer to -50. Then click *Finish*.

🔀 Initial Grid	-		×
MODFLOW 6 MODFLOW Version			
Specify initial grid (optional)			
30 Number of columns 1000 Column width Layer group nam	e Bottom elevation		
30 Number of rows 1000 Row width Model_Top	100		
Aquifer	-50		
1 Number of layers			
Grid origin: Upper left corner			
0 X 0 Grid angle (degrees)			
0 Y Vertical exaggeration			
0 Z			
	1		_
<u>? H</u> elp ×	No grid	Finish	*

Figure 17 - ModelMuse Initial Grid dialog box showing one way to define a new MODFLOW grid. Edit all the red highlighted cells as shown if needed. Then click on *Finish*.

The main ModelMuse form will be displayed with top, front, side, and three-dimensional (3D) view of the model (Figure 18).



Figure 18 - Model grid as displayed by ModelMuse in the top, front, side, and 3D views of the model.

4.4 Define Stress Periods

The next step is to define the stress period. In this case, the stress period is already defined but we will check it. Along the top of the ModelMuse window are drop down

menus: *File, Edit, Grid, Data, Object, Navigation, View, Customize, Model, Model Selection,* and *Help.* Click on *Model* and select *MODFLOW Time...* from the drop-down menu.

One steady-state stress period is defined with one time-step. Click *Cancel* to close the dialog box (Figure 19).

🐉 MODFL	LOW Time							-		×
			Length	Max first time step length	Multiplier	Steady State/ Transient				
Stress period	Starting time	Ending time	Length	Max first time step length	Multiplier	Steady State/ Transient	Drawdown reference	Num ste (calci	ber of eps ulated)	
1	-1	0	1	1	1	Steady state		1		
		c .	·					. 1		
1 🗐	Number of	of stress p	periods [s	seconds (1)	<u>→</u> lime	e unit (ITMUNI)	Dele	te	Inse	ert
Conve	ert time ur	nits				<u>? H</u> e	lp 🗸 O	K	🗙 Ca	ncel

Figure 19 - ModelMuse MODFLOW Time dialog box showing the definition of a single stress period.

4.5 Specify Hydraulic Conductivity

The next step is to set the value of hydraulic conductivity. Select *Data Edit Data Sets*.... Then expand *Required* by clicking on the plus sign. Next expand *Hydrology* and select *Kx* which represents the hydraulic conductivity in the X direction. Check that the Default formula is 0.0001 (Figure 20). You can also check the Active data set. It specifies the cells that are active. At present, it should be set to "True," which means that every cell is active. Next check *Ky* and see that the default formula for Ky is "Kx" meaning that, by default, the system is isotropic in the x,y direction of the model layer. Now if you check *Kz*, it will show that the default assumes vertical hydraulic conductivity using a formula for Kz of "Kx/10." Click on *Close* to close the dialog box.

🔀 Data Sets		_		×
 □- Required □-Active □-Cell_Type □DOMAIN □-Ky □-Kz □-Modflow_Initial_Head □-Modflow_Specified_Head □-XT3D_Angle_1 □-XT3D_Angle_3 □- Layer Definition 	Basic Comment Name Kx Type Real • Evaluated At Cells • Interpolation none • Default formula	Orientation 3D Units Anisotropy 1 Edit form		
Add Delete	? <u>H</u> elp	Apply	<u>C</u> los	se
				/

Figure 20 - ModelMuse Data Sets dialog box showing default formula for the hydraulic conductivity in the X direction (Kx).

4.6 Defining Specified Head Boundaries

Each type of boundary in MODFLOW has a corresponding "package." To use a boundary of a particular type, activate the corresponding package. This model will have specified head boundaries. Those are defined with the Constant Head (CHD) package. In earlier versions of MODFLOW, this was called the "Time Variant Specified Head Package" which is a better reflection of how the package operates.

To activate the CHD package, select *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs*.... Expand *Boundary Conditions*, expand *Specified Head* and check the *CHD* box. Click *OK* to close the dialog box (Figure 21).
MODFLOW Packages and P	rograms	_		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions □ Specified head	CHD: Time-Variant Specified-Head package Comments			
CHD: Time-V Specified flux Head-dependent fl				^
Solvers Subsidence				~
⊕ Observations ⊕ Post processors ⊕ MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Name Value			
< >	0	×	<u>D</u> elete	
	? <u>H</u> elp ✔ OK	,	Cano	el

Figure 21 - Activating the CHD package in the "MODFLOW Packages and Programs" dialog box in ModelMuse.

Next, create the specified head boundary. Click on the *Create point object* button and then click in the cell in the upper left corner of the grid. The Object Properties dialog box will appear (Figure 22). Go to the MODFLOW Features tab and check the checkbox for the CHD package, then set the Number of times to 1. In the 3rd line of the table, enter a starting time of -1, and an ending time of 0. Set the starting head to 110. The starting head will be the head from time -1 to time 0. The ending head is not used in MODFLOW 6 but was used in earlier versions of MODFLOW. Click *OK* to close the dialog box. (By default, ModelMuse sets the starting and ending times for the initial steady-state stress period to 1 and 0 respectively. If subsequent transient stress periods are added, this results in the transient stresses starting at time = 0.)

Object Properties							_		×
Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/Captions									
CHD: Time-Variant	CHD: Time-Variant Specified-Head package								
			Formula						
	Starting time	Ending time	Starting head	Ending head					
	PEST Modifier								
	Modification Method		Add	Add					
	-1	0	110	110					
	1 🝨 Number of tir	nes				• <mark>≣ [</mark> nse	rt	× <u>D</u> ele	ete
Conver	t time units			<u>? H</u>	elp	Ok	<	× Ca	Incel

Figure 22 - Specifying a specified-head boundary in the Object Properties dialog box.

Create another point object in the lower right corner of the grid and use it to specify another CHD boundary. This time, however, set the starting head to 100.

It would be a good idea to save your work now. Select *File* | *Save* and save the model to an empty directory on the computer with a directory and file name of your choice. There are two checkboxes on the Save dialog box labeled "Create archive" and "Save data set values." If "Create archive" is checked, ModelMuse will create a zip file containing the model input and output files as well as the ModelMuse files and other related files. If "Save data set values" is checked, The ModelMuse file will contain the values of any up-to-date data sets so that they do not have to be recalculated when opening the ModelMuse file.

4.7 Running the Model

Now click on the *Run* button . A *Save* dialog box will appear asking you to save a "Name file." This is a main input file for MODFLOW that organizes most of the other files needed to run the flow model. You can save it in the same directory in which you saved your model or in a different directory. (There is also another name file that organizes the entire simulation. It is always named mfsim.nam.)

If ModelMuse doesn't know where you have MODFLOW installed, it will prompt you to specify its location on your computer. Otherwise, it will start running MODFLOW.

Two new windows will appear. The first will be a command-line window

(Figure 23). The second will be a ModelMonitor window (Figure 24). Both are separate programs from ModelMuse. ModelMonitor is started from the command-line window. ModelMonitor runs MODFLOW in the background and the ModelMonitor window displays some of its results on the screen. The contents of the ModelMonitor window are discussed in later sections of this book. When the *Stop model* button in the ModelMonitor becomes disabled (i.e., becomes grayed-out), MODFLOW has finished running and you can close the ModelMonitor window by clicking the x in the upper right corner. MODFLOW finishes very quickly for this simple model but can take a long time for complex models. The command line window will then start Notepad which will display the main output file (called the "listing file") from MODFLOW. The type of information presented in the listing file is discussed in later sections of this book. You can close the listing file when you are finished with it and then close the command-line window.



Figure 23 - Command-line window used for starting ModelMonitor.



Figure 24 - ModelMonitor running MODFLOW.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

4.8 View Model Results

Next, look at the results of the model. Select *File* | *Import* | *Model Results*... and a Select Model File dialog box will appear. One of the files created by MODFLOW will contain the calculated head at each cell. This file will have the extension ".bhd" which stands for "binary head." Select the file with the extension ".bhd" generated by your model and click the *Open* button.

Another dialog box will appear. It will list all the time steps for which data have been saved in the bhd file. This model only had one time-step so data for only one time-step have been saved in the file. Next, set the Display choice to *Color grid* and click on *OK*. The color coded, simulated distribution of hydraulic head should display as shown in Figure 25.



Figure 25 - ModelMuse main window with grid colored based on the simulated heads with red indicating a head of 110 m and blue indicating a head of 100 m.

4.9 MODFLOW Input and Output Files

In the previous section, a MODFLOW model was created, executed, and the model results were examined. Now let's look more closely at the input and output files for the model. The input files are all text files that you could create with a text editor. First find the folder where you saved the model, then open the RunModel.bat file in a text editor. It contains a single line of text (Figure 26). If you are running a different version of

MODFLOW 6, that version number will replace "6.3.0."

C:\WRDAPP\mf6.3.0\bin\mf6.exe

Figure 26 - Contents of RunModel.bat.

This line starts MODFLOW 6 (mf6.exe) running. The first thing MODFLOW 6 does is read a file named mfsim.nam. This is the "Simulation Name File." Open mfsim.nam in a text editor. We will not discuss the details of this file but notice that it contains the names of several other files used in the model (SimpleModel.tdis, SimpleModel.nam, and SimpleModel.ims) as shown in Figure 27.

```
BEGIN TIMING
TDIS6 'SimpleModel.tdis'
END TIMING
BEGIN MODELS
GWF6 'SimpleModel.nam' 'MODFLOW'
END MODELS
BEGIN EXCHANGES
END EXCHANGES
BEGIN SOLUTIONGROUP 1
MXITER 1
IMS6 'SimpleModel.ims' 'MODFLOW'
END SOLUTIONGROUP
```

Figure 27 - Contents of mfsim.nam.

Each file in mfsim.nam is preceded by an abbreviation indicating the function the file plays in the simulation. For example, "SimpleModel.tdis" is preceded by "TDIS6." In the MODFLOW 6 input instructions, TDIS6 identifies a file that provides the stress period and timestep information for the model. (TDIS stands for "time discretization.")

A simulation may contain more than one model. In this example, there is only one model in the simulation, and it has its own .nam file named "SimpleModel.nam." The contents of SimpleModel.nam are shown in Figure 28.

```
# Name File for MODFLOW created on 3/20/2022 by ModelMuse Version 5.0.0.0
BEGIN OPTIONS
  LIST SimpleModel.lst
 PRINT INPUT
 SAVE FLOWS
END OPTIONS
BEGIN PACKAGES
             SimpleModel.dis DIS
 DIS6
              SimpleModel.ic IC
 IC6
           SimpleModel.npf NPF
 NPF6
            SimpleModel.oc OC
 0C6
              SimpleModel.chd CHD-1
 CHD6
END PACKAGES
```

Figure 28 - Contents of SimpleModel.nam.

The main concept to recognize here is that a MODFLOW model consists of numerous files, not only one file. More information about the structure of these files is provided by mf6io.pdf which is located in the doc directory of the MODFLOW 6 distribution folder.

To learn more about the MODFLOW input files, the reader can explore Exercise 1.

5 Discretization in Time and Space

In MODFLOW, time and space are discontinuous. Space is broken up into blocks called cells. Heads are calculated only at the center of each cell. Flows are calculated at the interfaces between adjacent cells. Flows are also calculated between cells and boundary conditions. Boundary conditions are where water enters and leaves the model. Streams and wells are examples of boundary conditions.

The dimensions of the model cells are specified in a discretization file of which there are three types:

- structured grid;
- discretization with vertices; and,
- unstructured grid.

Time is divided into stress periods which are further subdivided into time steps. Flows are calculated from the solution for head at each cell at the end of each time step. If the head convergence threshold is set too large, the inflow may not equal the outflow. This is described as a mass balance error. If the error is large then the solution is not acceptable and the convergence threshold, or possibly other model inputs, need to be adjusted to improve the model.

5.1 Consistent Units

MODFLOW requires that all data be input in consistent units. The length and time units used are input to MODFLOW. Thus, if the length unit is meters and the time unit is days, elevations of cells would be in meters, the length of stress periods would be in days, and pumping rates at wells would be in m³/d. Use of inconsistent units must be avoided because the results of models with inconsistent units are not valid.

5.2 The Grid

In MODFLOW, the modeler must specify:

- the geometry of the system to be modeled;
- the initial head at every modeled location;
- the properties of the medium through which the groundwater flows; and
- the external features, such as rivers and wells, that control flow into or out of the groundwater system.

The initial heads can be heads from a previous MODFLOW simulation. If arbitrary values are used, such as land surface elevation or interpolated values from field data, then heads consistent with other model inputs need to be obtained by running a steady-state stress period before undertaking transient simulations. Interpolated values from a potentiometric map should not be used for the initial heads in a transient simulation

because the solution will be adjusting to the inconsistency between the heads, properties, and boundary conditions as well as to the transient stresses, so the results will not be valid.

MODFLOW does not calculate the flow at every possible location within the model domain. That would be impossible because there are an infinite number of locations within the model volume. Instead, MODFLOW 6 divides the model domain into polyhedrons (called cells). Heads are calculated at the centers of cells. It is critical that the modeler carefully consider the level of grid complexity required for the system. MODFLOW 6 provides three options for spatial discretization. Discretization is division of the aquifer system into smaller volumes (model grid cells).

Three types of discretization are available:

- *Structured grid:* where the cells are rectangular prisms (Figure 29);
- *Discretization by vertices:* where the grid is made of polygons in the horizontal plane and this polygonal grid is repeated in one or more layers (Figure 29b); and,
- *Unstructured grid:* where cells are polygonal in plan view, but the cells may not be organized into layers or the cells in different layers have different sizes (Figure 29c).



Figure 29 - Grid types: a) structured with layers, rows, and columns; b) discretization by vertices having continuous layers across the grid but without continuous rows and columns; and, c) unstructured without continuous layers, rows, and/or columns.

5.2.1 Structured Grids

In structured grids, the cells are arranged in a grid (Figure 30a). In the plan view, all the cells in each column have the same width and the cells in each row have the same length. In cross section, however, the vertical height of each cell can be different (Figure 30b). Flow is only calculated between cells that lie adjacent to one another. However, adjacency is determined only by the column, row, and layer numbers of the cells; the elevations of the cells have nothing to do with whether the cells are considered adjacent or not. Thus, in Figure 30b, cells A and B are considered adjacent to one another even though they do not appear to share an edge because they are both in layer 2 but cells B and C are not adjacent because they are in different layers. Cells in MODFLOW have a single

top and bottom elevation, as presented in Figure 30b. The alternative representation in Figure 30c makes it easier to identify the connections among cells within a layer at the expense of misrepresenting the top and bottom of the cells as sloped rather than flat.



For an illustration of cell connections within a layer, see Box 3.

Figure 30 - Example structured grid: a) plan view; b) side view of three columns in a grid; and c) alternative representation of a grid.

Cells are typically identified by their layer, row, and column numbers in that order.

- Layers are numbered from the top down vertically;
- rows are numbered from the top of the page down; and
- columns are numbered from left to right.

The directions of the row and column numbers are conventions. They can be reversed without affecting the calculations. The layer numbering, however, must be from top to bottom vertically. With these conventions we can show the grid numbered with layer, row, and column numbers (Figure 31)

(1,1,1)	(1,1,2)	(1,1,3)	(1,1,4)	(1,1,5)
(1,2,1)	(1,2,2)	(1,2,3)	(1,2,4)	(1,2,5)
(1,3,1)	(1,3,2)	(1,3,3)	(1,3,4)	(1,3,5)
(1,4,1)	(1,4,2)	(1,4,3)	(1,4,4)	(1,4,5)
(1,5,1)	(1,5,2)	(1,5,3)	(1,5,4)	(1,5,5)

Figure 31 - Structured Grid with cell identifications

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

(Layer, Row, Column).

The widths of the rows and columns in the grid can vary (Figure 30a); smaller cells can be used where a more detailed solution is required, and larger ones can be used elsewhere. Because MODFLOW is solving the system of equations for groundwater level (head), detailed solution is necessary where the water level surface has larger changes in gradients, such as near streams or around wells; these may be areas where smaller cells are necessary for solution accuracy. Additionally, smaller cells may be needed where large changes in hydraulic conductivity occur, as these areas may have steep hydraulic gradients between cells. Using variable row and column widths can reduce model execution time as compared to a model with a uniformly small cell size. However, if neighboring rows or columns are assigned significantly different widths, accuracy of the model can be adversely affected. Typically, the ratio of widths of adjacent rows and columns should be kept less than 1.5:1 (Anderson et al., 2015).

5.2.2 Discretization by Vertices

When discretization is accomplished using vertices, the grid can be irregular (polygonal) in the horizontal plane, but this grid must be the same in all layers (Figure 29b). Cells are identified by layer number and the sequence number in the polygonal grid. Neighboring cells in overlying and underlying layers can be identified automatically because they have the same sequence numbers. Neighboring cells in the horizontal plane are identified by cell faces with shared vertex numbers. Flow can occur between neighboring cells, but the neighboring cells must share a cell face. The discretization file includes the vertices that define the boundary of each cell. The concept of neighboring cells can be explored by undertaking Exercise 27.

5.2.3 Unstructured Grids

With unstructured grids, the cells are identified by sequence number alone. All cell neighbors must be identified by the modeler. The modeler must also specify whether a neighboring cell is a horizontal or vertical neighbor. Neighboring cells must share a cell face.

The horizontal connections between cells can be defined differently in unstructured grids in MODFLOW 6 than in structured grids or discretization with vertices. For example, in the model cross section shown in Figure 32, if the grid is structured or discretized with vertices, cell 8 would have cell 9 as a horizontal neighbor. However, if the grid is unstructured, cell 8 might also have cells 3 and 6 as horizontal neighbors if the user chooses to identify them as such. When this approach is used, the grid is referred to as a vertically staggered grid (Panday et al., 2013; Langevin et al., 2017). Vertically staggered grids can be helpful for simulating faults.



Figure 32 - Diagram of cross section through a model grid used to demonstrate the concept of a traditional horizontal connection and a vertically staggered horizontal connection. For a traditional MODFLOW representation (structured grid), a cell connects to only one other cell in a given horizontal direction (for example, cell 8 is connected on its right face only to cell 9). For a vertically staggered connection (unstructured grid), a cell may connect to more than one cell in a horizontal direction (for example, cell 8 is connected on its right face to cells 3, 6, and 9). Vertically staggered horizontal connections can be specified for the unstructured Discretization (DISU) Package, but not for the structured Discretization (DIS) or the Discretization by Vertices (DISV) Packages." Modified from Langevin et al. (2017).

5.2.4 Grid Design

The grid design affects the accuracy of the solution. In MODFLOW, the grid ideally should be designed so that a line drawn from the center of a cell to a connected cell intersects the boundary between the cells at a right angle. The connecting line should intersect the boundary line at the center of the boundary line. The cells should be convex. Deviations from these criteria can adversely affect the model accuracy. Structured grids meet these criteria automatically. Grids made up entirely of equilateral triangles or regular hexagons also meet these criteria.

In many cases, the grid may not meet the ideal requirements. If the violations are small, some modelers may elect to ignore the problems and accept the possibility that they degrade the accuracy of the solution. However, MODFLOW 6 provides two options for increasing the accuracy of the solution when the grid is less than ideal.

1. The Ghost-Node Correction package (Panday et al., 2013)

2. The XT3D Option in the Node Property Flow package (Provost et al., 2017) These options are described in Section 7.3.

Experienced modelers frequently prefer to use structured grids with uniform cell sizes if the area is not large and the total number of model cells is manageable. Such grids tend to reduce rounding errors of the linear system of equations formed by the finite-volume approximation to the groundwater flow equation for the area that the model represents. Other types of grids are used for large (over 10,000 km²) areas with many aquifer layers when reduction of the total number of cells is desirable in order to reduce the time required to run the model while still having sufficiently small cells in areas where the water table has higher gradients.

The grid in MODFLOW can be oriented at any angle. MODFLOW does not need and may not record the location of the grid in space, the grid angle, or the geographic projection used for the grid. The modeler should record all this information in the documentation of the model, as comments in one or more of the input files, or as a separate document. However, it is good practice to keep the hydrogeologic data used to create the model data sets in a GIS data system that is independent of the model input files. It is good practice for modelers to select one geospatial map projection to use for all the model data sets. ModelMuse like most other GUIs allows for GIS files to be imported.

5.2.5 Active Cells

MODFLOW can calculate the head at every cell in a rectangular grid. However, the modeler usually designates some cells as inactive because groundwater systems are rarely rectangular in shape, the layers may not all have the same areal extent, and there may be areas within the system perimeter where the system does not exist (e.g., outcrops of bedrock in an unconsolidated alluvial aquifer). MODFLOW does not include inactive cells in its calculations, that is, heads are only calculated for active cells and flow is not calculated for the faces between active and inactive cells.

The boundary between the active and inactive cells is a no-flow boundary. By default, the edges of the grid (including the top and bottom surfaces) are also no-flow boundaries. Water crosses the edge of the grid only if the modeler specifies a boundary condition at the edge of the grid that allows for flow. Boundary conditions can also be specified in the interior of the grid. For example, the modeler can specify an injection or withdrawal well in the grid interior to add or remove water from groundwater in the model. Rivers, wells, recharge, and evapotranspiration are all examples of boundary conditions that allow flow into or out of the system.

One of the MODFLOW 6 input files contains an array called the IDOMAIN array. The IDOMAIN array has one value for each cell. The IDOMAIN array defines the active and inactive cells in the model. Cells with positive values in the IDOMAIN array are active. Those with values of zero are inactive. If a cell has a negative value in the IDOMAIN array, it is treated as a vertical pass-through cell. In vertical pass-through cells, flow is routed directly between overlying and underlying active cells; the vertical pass-through cell itself is not included in the calculation. If an Unstructured grid is used, IDOMAIN is optional. If IDOMAIN is not included in an unstructured grid, every cell is assumed to be active.

5.3 Stress Periods

Just as space in MODFLOW is divided into cells of finite size, time is broken up into discrete time steps. Heads are only calculated at the end of each time step. The time steps are grouped together into "stress periods." Within a stress period, the "stresses" on the system, such as the pumping rates at wells, are usually treated as constant. It is possible to specify changes in stress at every time step using "time series" as discussed in Section 10. The lengths of time steps within a stress period cannot be set to arbitrary values. Instead, the modeler specifies the length of each stress period, the number of time steps within each stress period, and a "multiplier." The multiplier must be a number greater than or equal to one. If the multiplier is one, each time step within a stress period has the same length. If the multiplier is greater than one, the lengths of all the time steps except the first will be determined by multiplying the length of the previous time step by the multiplier. MODFLOW will determine the length of the first-time step so that the time step lengths add up to the length of the stress period.

Equation (1) shows how the length of the first-time step in a stress period is calculated.

$$\Delta t_1 = PERLEN \frac{TSMULT - 1}{TSMULT^{NSTP} - 1}$$
(1)

where:

 Δt_1 = length of the first time-step

PERLEN = length of the stress period

TSMULT = time-step multiplier

NSTP = number of time steps in the stress period

5.3.1 Time-Step Multipliers

Stresses on the system only change at the beginning of a stress period. A time-step multiplier greater than one is useful when there is a large change in stresses between periods. When the stresses change, there can be rapid and large changes in the heads, flow rates, and flow directions. If a large time step is used to represent a rapidly changing system, the new heads and flows calculated at the end of the time step may be inaccurate. For example, if a hole is dug into a groundwater system, inflow is rapid at first then slows as the surrounding heads decline. However, if this is simulated using a long initial time

step, the calculation will not allow the model to account for the decline of the surrounding heads during that time step period, and more inflow will occur in the simulated time step than in the field setting. Adjustments to abrupt, large changes can be difficult to calculate numerically, but it is easier if the initial time steps are small. Later, after the system has adjusted to the changed stresses, adequate accuracy can be obtained with larger time steps. Because larger time steps allow the model to run faster, larger time steps are desirable as long as the accuracy is adequate.

Generally, time steps need to be smaller for smaller cell sizes. A rough estimate of the maximum allowable step length for a square cell can be determined by Equation (2) (Anderson et al., 2015, page 319).

$$\Delta t_{i} = \frac{Sa^{2}}{4T} = \frac{S_{s}ba^{2}}{4Kb} = \frac{S_{s}a^{2}}{4K}$$
(2)

where:

- Δt_i = initial time step
 - S = storativity
- T = transmissivity
- $S_{\rm S}$ = specific storage
- a = length of cell
- *K* = hydraulic conductivity
- b = cell thickness

However, this is only an estimate of an appropriate initial time step length. The only way to be sure this time step is sufficiently short, is to run the model with a shorter time-step length and evaluate whether the shorter step produces different heads and/or flows.

The level of inaccuracy resulting from any particular time discretization will vary depending on the position of the cell within the grid. Locations close to sources and sinks generally require smaller time steps to reduce errors to acceptable levels than is necessary at other locations. If there is significant drawdown near a no-flow boundary, locations close to the no-flow boundary may also require shorter time-step sizes.

It is common for the initial versions of a model to have time-step sizes that are too long. Groundwater models iterate to reach a solution and the modeler specifies a maximum number of iterations after which the simulation must terminate. If the model fails to converge after reaching the maximum number of iterations, one reason could be that the time steps are too long. On rare occasions, time steps that are too short can be a problem. In such models, the solver may converge in only a few iterations but the percent error in the mass balance (the difference between inflows and outflows) may be unacceptably large.

An example of how time-step size affects accuracy is provided in $\underline{Box 4}$.

As an alternative to specifying the number of time steps and their size, the modeler can employ Adaptive Time Stepping in any stress period. With Adaptive Time Stepping, the modeler specifies an initial time step length, a minimum and maximum time step length and factors used to adjust the time step length. MODFLOW will use these to adjust the length of time steps so that the number of outer iterations required for the model to converge is neither too few nor too many. If the model fails to converge on any time step, MODFLOW will reduce the time step length and repeat the time step until either the model converges, or the time step length would need to be reduced below the minimum time step length.

5.3.2 Steady State Versus Transient

If the stresses on a system are unchanged for a sufficiently long time, the heads and flow will eventually stop changing. That is, the amount of water flowing into the system will match the amount leaving the system and heads and flows within the system will not change over time. Such a condition is called steady state. If the model system is changing over time, it is in a transient state.

It is useful to use a steady-state model or stress period to simulate the initial heads for a transient model and MODFLOW accommodates this. The modeler can designate the first stress period as a steady state stress period and other stress periods as transient stress periods. In a steady state stress period, the model needs only one time step, and the specified length of the stress period is irrelevant. For transient conditions, models typically use multiple time steps and often more than one stress period. Some aquifer systems may never be in steady state, for example a tidally affected aquifer.

Richard B. Winston

6 Initial Conditions

One question that a MODFLOW modeler needs to confront is how to assign the initial heads for a model. For steady-state models, this usually isn't much of a problem. So long as the initial heads are not so low that they cause cells to be dry (i.e., head below bottom of the layer) at the start of the simulation, MODFLOW will typically be able to solve for the steady-state heads regardless of the initial heads. With transient models, having good initial heads is more important. One way is to start with pre-development conditions in a steady-state model where recharge and surface water features are included but wells, which are part of development, are not included. Because MODFLOW allows some stress periods to be steady-state and others to be transient, this can be accomplished by making the first stress period a steady-state stress period. Additional stress periods can be defined for transient conditions. A new stress period is defined each time the modeler wishes to change stresses such as specified flow rates or constant heads. MODFLOW 6 allows variation of pumping rates and some other transient data within a stress period by using time-series files described in Section 10.

In large-area models, seasonal effects can often be ignored. However, in smallerarea models, seasonal or other cyclical effects may dominate the aquifer response. In such cases, instead of starting with a steady-state stress period, the modeler can repeatedly use a series of stress periods representing the average cyclic conditions. For example, the cycles could be four changes per year representing seasonal cycles or four changes per day representing tidal fluctuations. When enough cycles have been simulated, the change from the beginning of one full cycle to the next should be minimal and the resulting heads from any point in the cycle can be used as the initial heads to start a transient simulation at that point in the cycle. In such models, once the cyclic equilibrium is established, it is prudent to simulate and calibrate to several cycles representing actual conditions before the prediction period. For example, if predictions are to be made after 2020 and calibration data are available from 2000 to 2020, then enough cycles should be simulated to reach cyclic equilibrium by 2000, then the model should be calibrated to observations between 2000 and 2020. Once the calibration is acceptable, the heads at the end of the simulation in 2020 can be used to start the predictive scenarios from 2020 onward.

Figure 33 illustrates how the year-to-year changes in modeled head can decrease after several seasonal cycles. It shows the simulated head at one cell for daily time steps over a period of five years. The model has 50 rows, 50 columns and 3 layers each 10 m thick. Specified heads of 25 were used in column 50 of layer 1. The first stress period is a steady-state stress period with a recharge rate of 1x10⁻⁵ m/day. After that, stress periods alternated between 90 and 275 days in length. The recharge rate during the shorter stress periods is 3.33x10⁻⁵ m/day and the recharge rate during the longer stress periods is 1x10⁻⁶ m/day. In this case, it takes two annual cycles before year-to-year change is minimal.



Figure 33 - Plot of head in a cyclic transient model illustrating that after a sufficient number of cycles, the changes between cycles is small. The number of cycles required depends on the hydraulic properties (i.e., diffusivity, which is transmissivity divided by storativity, and controls the rate at which a pressure wave propagates and dampens out in an aquifer), geometry, and location of boundary conditions within the groundwater system.

Some systems are never in a cyclic equilibrium. For them, another method for estimating the length of the warmup period must be used. The warmup period is the simulated time after which the heads no longer depend on the initial conditions. This time can be estimated by perturbing the initial conditions. The warmup period must be simulated prior to using head and flow observations for model calibration. The required length of warmup period is determined by developing transient stress period boundary condition datasets prior to the simulated period of interest. (Boundary conditions are discussed in detail in Section 8). Actions for estimation of the warmup time are as follows.

- 1. Create transient stresses and boundary conditions for the calibration simulation period.
- 2. Insert a copy of the data for the first transient stress period into the model but make it steady-state and make it be the first stress period.
- 3. Run the model and save the heads from that first steady-state stress period as well as the simulated values from the other stress periods.
- 4. Add several meters to the heads for the first stress period calculated in action 3 and use those for the initial heads in action 5. The amount to be added should be a few percent of the difference in head between the highest and lowest simulated heads in the model.
- 5. Run the model using the perturbed heads from action 4 as initial conditions and omitting the steady-state stress period.
- 6. Determine how long it takes for the difference in heads between the simulation in action 3 and the heads from the simulation of action 5 to be inconsequential (i.e., for

the heads to be very close because they may never match perfectly). To be completely clear, this difference being evaluated is between simulated heads starting with stress period 2 of the simulation in action 3 and simulated heads starting with stress period 1 in the simulation of action 5.

The length of simulated time required for the difference to be inconsequential (i.e., action 6) is the estimated warmup period because after that length of time, the simulated heads no longer depend on the initial conditions. The aquifer properties might be modified during calibration, so it is prudent for the modeler to prepare transient stress data sets for a longer period than this initial estimate and simulate these stress periods (the warmup period) prior to simulating the time period containing the observations for calibration. If a model already includes simulation of a relatively long period before any calibration observations are available or groundwater extractions occur, this warmup period is not required because the simulated time before groundwater extraction acts as the warmup period.

7 Representation of Properties of Geologic Materials

The properties of the geologic system play a critical role in determining the flow of groundwater. These properties are specified in two packages. Hydraulic conductivities and related properties are specified in the Node Property Flow package. It is used in all models. Specific yield and specific storage are specified in the Storage package. It is used in transient models. If the Storage package is included in a steady-state model, the values specified in it will be read but will not be used.

7.1 The Node Property Flow Package

In the Node Property Flow (NPF) package, the modeler specifies the hydraulic conductivity in three mutually perpendicular directions. By default, the directions of the three hydraulic conductivities correspond to the X, Y, and Z coordinate directions of the model grid. However, the user can specify a different orientation for every cell. This means that any cell can be specified to have anisotropy of hydraulic conductivity in a fully threedimensional orientation that differs from the cartesian coordinates used for the model as a whole (Provost et al., 2017). To do this, the modeler specifies six variables. The first three variables are the hydraulic conductivities in three orthogonal directions. The other three variables are angles (in degrees) that specify the orientation of the hydraulic conductivity ellipsoid (Figure 34). If all three angles are zero, the three hydraulic conductivities will be oriented parallel to the X (red), Y (blue), and Z (green) axes respectively (Figure 34a). The first angle rotates the ellipsoid within the XY plane around the z-axis (Figure 34b). Positive values represent counterclockwise rotation when viewed from the positive end of the Z axis. The second angle rotates the ellipsoid around the Y axis of the ellipsoid out of the XY plane (Figure 34c). A positive value rotates the positive end of the X-axis above the XY plane. The third angle rotates the ellipsoid around the X or major axis of the ellipsoid along which the first hydraulic conductivity is oriented (Figure 34d). A positive value is a clockwise rotation when viewed looking down the positive end of the X or major axis toward the center of the ellipsoid (Figure 34d). The angles and hydraulic conductivities are used to calculate effective hydraulic conductivities between cells. The values of all three angles are combined to determine the final orientation of the ellipsoid (Figure 34e).



Figure 34 - Illustration of Angles in NPF package. a) Illustration of hydraulic conductivity ellipsoid with no rotation. b) Angle1 set to 20°. c) Angle2 set to 20°. d) Angle3 set to 20°. e) All angles set to 20°. The axes shown are the axes of the hydraulic conductivity ellipsoid.

The second and third hydraulic conductivities can be specified either directly or as anisotropies relative to the first hydraulic conductivity. Using anisotropy can be useful if automated parameter estimation is used to calibrate the model and it is anticipated that all three components of hydraulic conductivity are controlled by the same factors. For example, suppose all three angles are equal to zero and it is expected that the horizontal hydraulic conductivity is the same in all directions. In that case, it would be useful to use a horizontal anisotropy of 1. Similarly, if it is expected that the vertical hydraulic conductivity has a constant ratio to the horizontal hydraulic conductivity, vertical anisotropy could be specified instead of vertical hydraulic conductivity.

To calculate the flow between two cells, MODFLOW uses the length, width, and height of the cells (provided in the Discretization file); the heads in the two cells; the hydraulic conductivity between the two cells; and the cell status regarding confined/unconfined condition of the cells. Note that the hydraulic conductivity used in the calculation is not the hydraulic conductivity of the cells themselves but of the volume between the centers of the cells. MODFLOW uses the properties of the cells to calculate an average hydraulic conductivity between the cells. Calculating an average value for the properties of two cells might seem straightforward, but it is complicated. Consider a very simple case with two cells that are the same size: one with a high hydraulic conductivity and the other with a low hydraulic conductivity as shown in Figure 35 (units = m/s).



Figure 35 - Hydraulic conductivities (m/s) used to calculate conductance.

The arithmetic mean of these two hydraulic conductivities is 5.0005×10^{-6} m/s. This is a high hydraulic conductivity that does not properly represent the resistance of the low hydraulic conductivity cell on the right which would greatly impede the flow of water between the cells. In fact, for groundwater flow, which follows the same principles as the flow of electrical current, the average hydraulic conductivity is accurately represented by using the distance-weighted harmonic mean. The details of calculating the harmonic mean are not important here, but it is useful to recognize that a harmonic mean weights small values more heavily than large values. In the example above, the harmonic mean is 1.9998×10^{-9} m/s. The options for both grid design and calculation of flow conductance terms between cell centroids are explained in more detail by Panday and others (2013), Langevin and others (2017), and Provost and others (2017).

Each cell in a MODFLOW model can be specified as either confined or convertible using the ICELLTYPE data set in the Node Property Flow package. The groundwater flow computations are different for convertible cells than confined cells. One of the factors controlling the groundwater flow rate is the cross-sectional area through which the flow occurs, and this depends on the thickness of the flow zone. For confined conditions, that cross-sectional area is the cell height times its width. For unconfined conditions in convertible cells, the cross-sectional area depends on the height of the water table. Thus, for convertible cells, MODFLOW checks whether the head is above or below the top of the cell to determine whether the cell is in a confined or unconfined condition, then calculates the flow area based on the saturated thickness (i.e., cell height for the confined condition, or the difference between the head and the bottom elevation of the cell for an unconfined condition) and cell width (Figure 36). When convertible layers are used this requires an iterative solution because the cell-by-cell conductance is a function of head (the solution of the linear system of equations).



Figure 36 - Saturated thickness used to calculate conductance in confined (left) and unconfined (right) cells.

Often modelers classify all layers beneath the top layer as confined for faster run times. The fact that a cell is specified as confined does not mean that the simulated head in the cell will never drop below the top of the cell, it only means that the transmissivity and storativity do not change based on water level in the cell. MODFLOW can simulate heads above, within, or below the bottom of a confined cell without numerical problems. However, this can cause the model to poorly represent the physical system and MODFLOW does not check for heads below the bottom of a confined layer. Thus, the modeler needs be mindful of this possibility and, if such a situation occurs, reject the results as unrealistic and improve the model to avoid the situation.

The NPF package can use either of two different methods for calculating the flow between neighboring cells. In the standard formulation, convertible cells can convert to dry and become inactive if the head in the cell is below the bottom of the cell. If the head in neighboring cells become high enough, the dry cells can become wet again and convert back to active cells. This wetting and drying can cause the model to be unstable and fail to converge. In the Newton-Raphson formulation, cells never become inactive, rather flow is calculated based on properties of the upstream cell. Thus, the Newton-Raphson formulation avoids the problem of wetting and drying that plagues the standard formulation.

7.2 The Storage Package

The storage properties of each cell are specified in the MODFLOW Storage package. It is also used to specify which stress periods are steady-state and which are transient. Storage properties are only required for transient simulations so if no transient stress periods are defined, the storage properties are not used, and the Storage package may be omitted. If the Storage package is included in a steady-state model, the storage properties will be read but not used. For a transient model, the user must specify either a specific storage or a storage coefficient (the product of specific storage and cell thickness) for every cell. If there are any convertible cells in the model, the user must also specify the specific yield for every cell in the model.

During a MODFLOW simulation, first the flows between neighboring cells are calculated, then a new head is calculated for each active cell. If the head in a convertible cell is above the top elevation of the cell, it is fully saturated, and the new head is calculated using specific storage of the cell. If the cell is not fully saturated, the new head is calculated using a combination of the specific yield and the specific storage of the cell.

7.3 Ghost Node Correction Package and XT3D Option

The Ghost Node Correction Package (Langevin et al., 2017) is one of two options in MODFLOW 6 for correcting errors arising from non-ideal grid geometries. The other is the XT3D option. These two options cannot be used together in the same model.

Both options require additional calculations and thus can increase the time required to run the model. The XT3D option (Provost et al., 2017) slows down the model more than the Ghost-Node Correction package, but it can be easier to apply and is thought to give better accuracy.

7.3.1 The Ghost Node Correction Package

In the Ghost-Node Correction (GNC) package, the modeler defines "ghost nodes" whose heads are determined by interpolation from surrounding nodes. For example, in computing the flow between nodes A and D in the grid illustrated in Figure 37, the ghost node B is defined, and its head is determined by interpolation between nodes A and C. Because ghost node B is directly across from node D and the line connecting B and D is at the center of the boundary of the cell containing D, flow computed using the ghost node is more accurate than flow computed directly between A and D. The modeler must specify how the interpolation is to be performed by specifying weights for each cell that contributes to the head of the ghost node. While the GNC package can be used in any of the three MODFLOW 6 grid types, there is no obvious reason why it would be needed within a single structured grid. However, if a simulation contains more than one flow model with separate model grids, ghost nodes can be used in linking two separate structured grids that are discretized differently.



Figure 37 - A quadtree refined grid showing locations of nodes and ghost nodes. The nodes are black circles at the centers of cells. The ghost nodes are red squares. The head of ghost node B can be determined by interpolating between nodes A and C.

One type of grid for use with MODFLOW 6 is generated by modifying a structured grid in which a cell is divided into four cells of equal size as shown in Figure 38. If desired, the refined cells can be subdivided further in the same manner ad infinitum. This is known as quadtree refinement. The utility program GRIDGEN (Lien et al., 2015) can be used to convert a structured MODFLOW grid into a quadtree refined grid. Part of the output from the program is the information used in constructing the GNC package input. ModelMuse (Winston, 2019) uses a slightly different method for constructing a quadtree refined grid and the corresponding ghost node information.



(Lien et al., 2015).

There remains the difficult question of how to assign the interpolation weights to the nodes that contribute to the head of the ghost node. This problem is discussed by Panday and others (2013). One possibility is to assume that head changes linearly between the nodes that contribute to the head in the ghost node. In Figure 37, this would mean that for ghost node B, node A would be assigned a weight of 0.75 and node C would be assigned a weight of 0.25. Another option was used in MODFLOW-LGR (Mehl and Hill, 2006, 2007) in which the weights automatically assigned to ghost nodes were based not only on the distances involved but also on the transmissivities of the cells. The problem of assigning weights becomes even more difficult when the cells are not rectangular. In such cases, it may be best to use the XT3D option rather than ghost nodes.

7.3.2 The XT3D Option

With the XT3D option (Provost et al., 2017), the calculation of the flow between two cells involves the heads of all the neighbors of those cells. In Figure 39, the flow between the cells whose centers are marked with black circles needs to be calculated. In addition to using the heads in those two cells, the calculation also involves the heads in all the cells whose centers are marked with blue squares. In the calculation, head gradients are calculated at the location on the boundary between the cells marked by the red star. Two gradients are calculated: one on each side of the boundary. The gradients are calculated by interpolating among the cell and all its neighbors. Because the principal of continuity must be honored, flow across the boundary must be the same on each side of the boundary. This constraint, used together with the head gradients, allows flow across the boundary to be calculated.



Figure 39 - Illustration of the cells involved in the calculation of flows between two neighboring cells.

When using the XT3D option, the user must specify six values for defining 47

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

hydraulic conductivity at each cell. These data define an ellipsoid of hydraulic conductivity and its orientation (Figure 34). Three of the data values define the maximum, middle, and minimum hydraulic conductivity. The other three pieces of data are angles (in degrees) that determine the directions of the three axes as explained in Section 7.1.

8 Boundary Conditions

While the properties of the groundwater medium control how groundwater flows, it is the boundary conditions that are the motive force driving groundwater flow. The boundaries are where water enters and leaves the groundwater system (including places where the flow rate is zero, i.e., no-flow boundaries). The boundaries can be categorized into three types: specified head, specified flow, and head-dependent flow boundaries. A special case of the specified flow boundary is the no-flow boundary which is simply a specified flow boundary at which the flow rate is zero.

Not every cell in the model will be a boundary cell. Typically, the number of boundary cells is much smaller than the number of active cells in the model. The input for most boundary conditions is a list of cells along with the properties at those cells that control flow through the boundaries. With most boundary conditions, more than one boundary condition of the same or different type can be applied in the same cell. For example, you can have two wells in the same cell and that cell may also receive recharge from the surface and interact with a river reach. However, for cells that have a specified head boundary applied, only one specified head boundary can be applied to a cell for a stress period, as described in the next section. Other types of boundary conditions applied to a specified head cell will be ignored. In general, flow boundary conditions like recharge and wells do not cause numerical problems when multiple conditions are applied at the same cell as the flows are summed together. Problems with model convergence can occur if several head-dependent flow boundary conditions are applied at the same cell, especially if the specified heads of each head-dependent flow boundary condition differ greatly. Additionally, two adjacent head-dependent boundary cells can cause convergence issues if the heads are substantially different and the head-dependent conductance terms are large. This is discussed in Section 8.3.

8.1 Specified Heads: The Constant Head Package

In MODFLOW 6, the only way to define a specified head boundary is with the Constant Head (CHD) package. The name is something of a misnomer because it allows the modeler to specify heads that change over time. In versions of MODFLOW prior to MODFLOW 6, its official name was the Time-Variant Specified Head package but informally, it was commonly called the constant head package. Unlike the other boundary condition packages, the same cell cannot be listed in the CHD package more than once in the same stress period. After a CHD boundary has been defined, it can be converted to an active cell by not including it as a constant head cell in a subsequent stress period. Time-series files can be associated with specified head boundaries. Time-series files provide a mechanism for changing the specified heads within a stress period rather than at the beginning of a new stress period. A time-series file consists of a list of times along with one

or more values associated with those times. They are described in more detail in Section 10.

Some modelers recommend that specified head boundaries never be used. That seems extreme to this author but there is potential danger associated with using specified head boundaries, because the amount of flow through them is unlimited. The flow may exceed the volume of flow that is realistically available from the area beyond the boundary. The modeler is responsible for ensuring that this does not occur.

Some boundaries are a natural fit for use of a constant head boundary. For example, for all practical purposes, groundwater flow from a small aquifer to the ocean will not change sea level in any significant way, and the ocean would be able to supply as much water as might flow into the aquifer, so the ocean can be represented as CHD boundary (either as an average value or with periodic fluctuations representing tidal rise and fall). Another example would be a reservoir in which humans control the reservoir level.

A constant head boundary allows the magnitude of inflow to be determined based on the time-changing heads calculated within a model, whereas the alternative of specifying the time-varying flux through the boundary is difficult to determine a priori. However, it is important to check the magnitude of flow at all constant head boundaries to confirm that they are realistic.

Readers who would like to get hands-on experience working with a MODFLOW model that uses the CHD package are invited to explore Exercise 3, and Exercise 4.

8.2 Specified Flows

MODFLOW 6 has two packages for specified flow boundaries: the Well package and the Recharge package. By default, the edge of the grid and the boundary between active and inactive cells are no-flow boundaries. No-flow boundaries are a special form of a specified flow boundary.

8.2.1 The Well Package

In MODFLOW models, the Well package is one of the most used packages. In it, the modeler gives a list of cells for each stress period and the pumping rate for each of them. If there is more than one well in a cell, the cell can be listed several times, or the rates can be summed and entered as one value. Positive values of pumping represent water injected into the aquifer and negative values represent water extracted from the aquifer. In most cases, wells are used to provide a source of water for human use (such as irrigation or drinking water) so usually the pumping rates are negative. If a cell containing a well converts to dry, the well will become inactive.

The Well package can be used to represent any specified volumetric rate of flow into or out of the groundwater system, not just flow to and from wells. For example, it might be convenient to have a local model of a small area within a regional groundwater flow model. The flow between the regional and local model could be represented with the

Richard B. Winston

well package.

There are several processes that can occur in a well that are not represented by the Well package in MODFLOW. For example, a well may be pumping from several aquifers simultaneously or, if the well is not being pumped but is open to several aquifers, there may be flow between the aquifers through the well. These and other effects can be modeled with the MultiAquifer Well package as discussed in Section 12.2.

MODFLOW 6 can use multiple Well package input files for one simulation. That is, one Well package might represent specified flows from a regional groundwater flow system and another Well package might represent wells in the interior of the model. The Well package has an option to gradually reduce well withdrawal (i.e., increase negative values of flow rate) to zero as head in the cell approaches the bottom of the cell (Figure 40). This option is only applied to convertible cells. If the pumping rate in any well is reduced, the reduction is printed either to the listing file or to a separate output file. This option enhances model stability by making it less likely that a cell will go dry.



Figure 40 - Graph showing the cubic function used to smoothly reduce specified groundwater withdrawal rates to zero when a cell dewaters, $\Phi = 0.25$. (Modified from Langevin et al. (2017) as modified from Niswonger et al. (2011)). The flow reduction occurs when the saturated cell thickness is less than a user-defined percentage (Φ) of the cell thickness. In this diagram, Φ has been set to an unusually large value so that the effect on the flow rate is easily seen.

The modeler is advised to check for any wells that have had their pumping rates automatically adjusted. If the reduced pumping occurs in wells that represent flow rates measured in the field, the model is not properly representing the groundwater system, or the pumping rates would not have been reduced. If the pumping rates represent future estimated pumping rates, the reductions may mean that there will not be adequate water

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

supply to meet future demands. In such a case (assuming the model is correct), either a new water supply needs to be developed or future water use reduced. Developing a new water supply might mean installing a well in a deeper aquifer, importing water from elsewhere or constructing a desalination plant. Reducing water use might mean removing irrigated farmland from production. Such changes may need to be represented in the model.

8.2.2 The Recharge Package

An important concept to understand about groundwater recharge is that it is not the same as precipitation. Recharge is water that reaches the water table from above. You can think of recharge as precipitation, minus interception, minus runoff, minus evapotranspiration from the unsaturated zone. Recharge can also result from flow out of surface water features, such as rivers, agricultural irrigation, or spreading basins, into the groundwater system.

In MODFLOW, recharge is a specified flux boundary (like wells). However, instead of specifying a volumetric rate (L^3/T) for each cell, the modeler specifies a rate that has units of length over time L/T for each vertical column of cells. MODFLOW multiplies this rate by the area of the cell to calculate the volumetric rate. In MODFLOW 6, recharge can be specified either as an array for all the cells in a layer or as a list of cells. If a list of cells is used, recharge can be applied to any cell in the model. If an array is used, the modeler has three possible choices about where to apply recharge:

- the top layer of the model;
- a specified layer for each vertical column of cells; or
- the top active cell in each vertical column of cells.

If a list of cells is specified, the user can specify an option in the Recharge input file to have the recharge applied to an underlying cell if the cell to which the recharge was applied becomes inactive.

MODFLOW does not apply recharge to specified head cells, even if those cells are included in an array specifying the cells where recharge is applied. If a cell for which recharge is defined in the input converts to dry, the recharge will not be applied to the model unless the third option above is selected and an active cell exists below the one that went dry.

Positive values of recharge represent flow into the aquifer and negative values represent flow out of the aquifer. Recharge values can be negative to represent a process other than recharge or to represent a system where evaporation occurs directly from the water table. However, MODFLOW has another package that better represents the process of water evaporating directly from the water table (the Evapotranspiration EVT Package which is discussed in Section 8.4).

MODFLOW 6 allows the user to specify multiple Recharge Package input files in the same model.

8.3 Head-Dependent Boundaries: Drain, River, and General Head Boundaries

Groundwater and surface water frequently interact with one another. Discharge of groundwater into streams, for example, is a major source of stream baseflow. Rivers and streams can also be recharge zones if the head in the underlying aquifer is lower than the head in the stream. In other situations, groundwater can discharge at locations where there is no possibility of re-infiltration. Artificial drains are one example of such a situation. Artificial drains are common in some areas. For example, in the United States, by the mid-1980s only about 103 million acres remained of the approximately 221 million acres of wetlands present in the 1600s (Dahl and Allord, 1996). Drainage of wetlands for agriculture or other development is a major factor in the elimination of wetlands.

The Drain and River packages are two of the simpler packages in MODFLOW for simulating interactions between groundwater and surface water. The General-Head Boundary package is similar in its operation to the Drain and River packages and is even simpler, so the General-Head Boundary package is presented first.

In the General-Head Boundary package, the modeler specifies three items for each general-head boundary cell. These are: identification of the cell containing the boundary (e.g., layer, row, and column for a structured grid); the boundary head (e.g., a surface water elevation); and a conductance that represents the resistance between the groundwater system and the boundary. The conductance is related to the hydraulic conductivity in Darcy's Law which is shown in Equation (3).

$$Q = -KA \frac{dh}{dl} \tag{3}$$

where:

Q = discharge rate (L³/T)

- K = hydraulic conductivity of the resistive material between the boundary head and the grid cell (L/T)
- A = cross sectional area perpendicular to the flow between the boundary head and the grid cell (L²)

h = head

l = thickness of the resistive material between the boundary head and the grid cell (L)

dh/dl = head gradient, the derivative of head with distance

In essence the conductance represents the combination of all the terms on the right-hand side of Equation (3) except dh. The dh term is determined by MODFLOW as the difference in head between the head in the cell and the head specified by the modeler for the general-head boundary. MODFLOW uses a finite volume approximation, so dh/dl is

replaced by $\Delta h/\Delta l$ and conductance is defined as $KA/\Delta l$.

The cross-sectional area may be as large as the entire cell area if the feature occupies the entire cell. A feature such as a lake may overly many cells of a model and some of them would be completely inundated by the lake thus the area would be equal to the cell area. If the general-head boundary represents a feature entirely contained in a grid cell, perhaps a pond, then the area would be smaller than the cell area and equal to the area of the pond. General-head boundaries need not be on the top surface of a cell but might represent a feature to the side or underneath a cell. The general head boundary can also be used to represent flow from, or to, another aquifer across the boundaries of the model.

To determine the discharge (or recharge) rate (QB) at the general-head boundary, MODFLOW multiplies the conductance by the difference in head between the head in the general-head boundary and the head in the cell where the boundary is located (red line, Figure 41).



into or out of the cell through the boundary for a general head boundary, river boundary, and drain boundary.

Unlike some of the other boundary conditions, there is no limit on the amount of water that can enter and leave the aquifer through a general-head boundary. Thus, if the conductance or head gradient are too high, an unrealistically high volume of flow may occur through the boundary. It is the responsibility of the modeler to detect unreasonable simulated flows and avoid them by revising the model.

The drain boundary is like the general head boundary with the drain elevation replacing the boundary head and the conductance representing the silt (or other low hydraulic conductivity material) that lines the bottom of the drain. However, with drains, if the head in a cell is below the drain elevation, there is no flow from the drain to the aquifer (green line, Figure 41). The conceptual representation of a drain is, unlike a river, that of a channel that does not convey surface flow except to carry groundwater outflow away from the system. Consequently, water does not flow from a drain feature into a MODFLOW grid.

In some cases, modelers have placed drains in every cell of the top surface of a model to represent water exiting the system (e.g., by evaporation or surface drainage) when the groundwater head reaches the surface. If the conductances of the drains are high enough, this prevents the simulated water table from rising above the ground surface. In such models, the modeler can map the amount and location of discharge through the drains to assess whether the outflow is realistic. If the discharge is excessive or occurs in unrealistic locations, it may be that the recharge rate for the model is too high, or the hydraulic conductivity is too low. In such cases, the modeler may adjust these or other aspects of the model to make the model more representative of the field system.

A river boundary is like a drain with two exceptions: 1) it has two elevations associated with it: the stage (i.e., head) of the river and the elevation of the river bottom; and 2) water can flow into the groundwater system from the river. That is, depending on the relative heads of the river and the cell to which it is connected, flow can be into or out of the groundwater system. When the head in the cell connected to the river boundary is below the river bottom, water flows out of the river into the aquifer at a rate that is independent of the head in the cell. The rate of flow is calculated using Darcy's law based on the stage of the river; the elevation of the riverbed (where the pressure is assumed to be atmospheric so the head is equal to the elevation); and, the conductance of the riverbed which is envisioned as having a lower hydraulic conductivity than the aquifer. Water from the river is assumed to flow away from the bottom of the riverbed into the unsaturated zone (i.e., the zone beneath the bottom of the riverbed and above the water table) as fast as water is supplied from the base of the riverbed. The flow rate under these circumstances does not depend on the elevation of the water table (horizontal part of blue line in Figure 41, Figure 42b). When the head in the cell is above the bottom of the river bed, the flow into or out of the groundwater system depends on the stage of the river, the head in the cell, and the conductance of the riverbed (sloped part of blue line in Figure 41, Figure 42a).



Flow from the river = (river stage – cell head)/(riverbed thickness) * conductance



Flow from the river =

(river stage - river bottom elevation)/(riverbed thickness) * conductance

Figure 42 - Cross sections showing the relation between head at the bottom of the riverbed layer and head in the cell. Head in the cell is equal to the water-table elevation (Modified from McDonald and Harbaugh, 1988). The flow rate is lower in a) relative to b) because of the smaller head difference, resulting in a lower gradient. If the cell head is higher than the river stage water flows out of the groundwater system to the river.

The abrupt break in slope of the functions shown in Figure 41 for the drain and river are referred to as discontinuities or nonlinearities. In the early stages of calibrating a model, it can be helpful to use the general head boundary package at locations where the river or drain packages will eventually be used because the linear response of the general head boundary package makes it easier to calibrate the model. The boundaries can be changed to drain or river boundaries and the conductances used in the general-head boundaries can be used as estimates of the conductances in the drain or river boundaries. The general head boundary can also be used when there is flow from or to another aquifer across the boundaries of the model or to simulate lakes that maintain a constant water level.

In MODFLOW 6, multiple copies of the drain, river, and general head boundary package input files can be used in the same model.

If the cell containing a drain, river, or general-head boundary converts to dry in a convertible cell, then flow between the groundwater system and the boundary will be zero.

8.3.1 Cell Size and Conductance

Calculating conductance from the geometry of the boundary and hydraulic

conductivity of the material separating the grid cell from the boundary head might appear to imply that if the grid is modified, the conductance can be determined based only on the changed geometry. This could be the case if a feature specified on a cell covers the entire cell and the rows and columns of the cell are re-discretized, but is not strictly true for several reasons so the modeler must give careful thought to the conductance values if the grid is changed.

For example, consider a case where the conductance has been adjusted to properly simulate observed flow between the cell and a boundary feature in the process of calibrating the model. The head in the cell depends on cell size because the head in the cell is an average head for the cell volume and the flow to the boundary depends on that head. If the cell is further discretized in the lateral direction the average head calculated in the cell with the boundary may differ and so will the combined flow from all the cells. This can be even more pronounced if the layers are re-discretized, particularly if there is a vertical gradient. Because of this, the conductance required to generate a specific volume of discharge through a boundary can change if the model is re-discretized (Mehl and Hill, 2010). In short, conductances represent equivalent properties that allow the model to properly represent the system given its discretization and may differ from the measured values of the boundary materials such as a riverbed.

If the model cell sizes are large, then there could be large river stage differences between adjacent cells along a river and the conductance term could also be large if calculated from river length and width. This can be the source of slow convergence and sometimes can be overcome with a finer model grid or by reducing the head-dependent conductance term.

8.4 The Evapotranspiration Package

The main package in MODFLOW 6 for simulating evapotranspiration (evaporation plus plant transpiration) is the Evapotranspiration (EVT) package. The Unsaturated Zone Flow package can also simulate evapotranspiration but is less frequently used. The EVT package does not simulate all evapotranspiration, because much of it occurs at the surface or from the unsaturated zone. Instead, the EVT package simulates evapotranspiration of groundwater at or below the water table. The EVT package assigns an extinction depth at which no evapotranspiration will occur if the water table is below that depth. For example, if the extinction depth is defined as 1 m beneath the evaporation surface elevation (often specified as the ground surface elevation), evapotranspiration will be nonzero when the water table is less than 1 m below the surface and zero when it is deeper. Also, the EVT package specifies a maximum evapotranspiration rate when the head in the cell is at or above the evaporation surface elevation because the rate will be limited by atmospheric conditions. For each evapotranspiration cell, the user must specify the maximum evapotranspiration rate, the evapotranspiration surface, and the evapotranspiration

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

extinction depth.

Beginners frequently find the evapotranspiration extinction depth confusing. It is the distance from the evapotranspiration surface to the elevation at which evapotranspiration is zero. The evapotranspiration extinction depth is not an elevation. In Figure 43, for example, the evapotranspiration extinction depth has the same value everywhere, but the evapotranspiration surface elevation varies from place to place.



Figure 43 - Diagram illustrating a constant extinction depth in the EVT package combined with a varying evapotranspiration surface.

In the EVT package, the maximum rate is given as a positive value with units of length over time (LT⁻¹). The head in a cell is used to compute the rate for that cell. MODFLOW multiplies that rate by the length and width of the cell to compute a volumetric rate.

In the simplest usage of the EVT package, the evapotranspiration rate is linearly related to head between the surface and extinction elevations (Figure 44a). However, the EVT package allows for a non-linear relationship between head and evapotranspiration rate within that range (Figure 44b). To define a non-linear relationship between head and evapotranspiration rate, the modeler defines a series of line segments relating the evapotranspiration rate to the head in the cell. If this option is used, the modeler defines two sets of fractions. One set represents fractions of the evapotranspiration rate. Using a nonlinear relationship can be advantageous for locations with a mixture of plants, some of which have shallow roots and others deep roots, because when the cell head is beneath the shallow roots, only the deep-rooted plants will transpire water from beneath the water table. At higher heads, all plants will transpire water from beneath the water table (Figure 44).


Figure 44 - Relationship between head and evapotranspiration rate in the Evapotranspiration package a) simplest representation; and b) nonlinear representation.

In MODFLOW 6, it is possible to apply evapotranspiration to any or all cells in the model because MODFLOW 6 allows the user to specify evapotranspiration either as an array of cells or a list of cells. The layer to which evapotranspiration is applied can also be assigned in the same way as with recharge: to the top layer, to a specified layer, or to the top active layer. MODFLOW 6 also allows more than one EVT package input file in the same model. As with recharge, if the cell to which an evapotranspiration boundary is assigned converts to dry, there is an option for the evapotranspiration to be assigned to a lower cell. If there is no active lower cell, the rate will be zero.

8.5 Opportunities to Learn More by Working with MODFLOW Models

Exercise 5¹ provides an opportunity for hands-on work with MODFLOW specified flow and head dependent flux packages.

Model size is often limited by the time required to solve the model. For that reason, it is common to construct models using boundary conditions that are not present in the physical system. Exercise 67 explores the influence of model boundaries on the simulated flow system and introduces simulation of transient conditions.

Exercise 7 provides an opportunity to use a MODFLOW companion code, MODPATH, to track paths of flow through a MODFLOW model.

9 Other Packages

9.1 The Iterative Model Solution Package

MODFLOW models must include a solver package that solves the groundwater flow equation. In MODFLOW 6, the only solver package is the Iterative Model Solution. (IMS) package. In it, the user can specify *Simple, Moderate,* or *Complex* options and it can support either the standard or Newton-Raphson linearization methods (Langevin and other, 2017). For a discussion of an earlier version of the IMS package, see the documentation for MODFLOW-USG where it is called the Sparse Matrix Solver. The discussion there provides additional details that are also applicable to MODFLOW 6 (Panday and others, 2013). The most detailed discussion of the IMS input variables is in the file mf6io.pdf which is provided in the "doc" directory of the MODFLOW 6 distribution file (USGS MODFLOW 6 Development Team, 2022).

The solver solves the equations iteratively; it first finds an approximate solution to the equations and then uses the approximate solution in the equations to get a better solution. This is repeated until the solution meets criteria specified by the modeler. There are two types of iterations: outer and inner. In each outer iteration, the equations are linearized using the most recent approximate solution. Then the linearized equations are approximated in a series of inner iterations to obtain a better solution before starting a new outer iteration.

The most important variables in the solver package are the convergence criteria variables. There are three such criteria: one for the outer iterations and two for the inner iterations. The criterion for the outer iterations is a head closure criterion. With it, the maximum change in head between two outer iterations in any cell must be less than the value of the head closure criterion for the solution to be accepted. The inner iterations have a head closure criterion, but they also have a residual closure criterion. The head closure criterion for the inner iterations should be less than the head closure criterion for the outer iterations. Typically, it is an order of magnitude less than the head closure criterion for the outer iterations. The other criterion for the inner iterations is a residual criterion. The residual criterion is related to the budget error (residual) in the cells. Before a solution can be accepted, the budget error in the cells must be small enough to satisfy the criterion. There are three options for the residual criterion. If the STRICT option is used, the largest residual in any cell must be less than the criterion. If the L2NORM RCLOSE option is used, the L2-Norm of the residuals must be less than or equal the residual closure criterion. The L2-Norm is calculated as the square root of the mean of the squared residual in all the active cells. If the RELATIVE_RCLOSE option is used, the change in the L2-Norm between iterations is compared to the residual closure criterion to determine whether the solution has converged rather than comparing the absolute value of the L2-Norm. By default, the STRICT option is used.

Sometimes it is worthwhile to compare the solutions with different values of the closure criteria to see how much the solution changes. If reducing the closure criteria results in a substantial change in the solution, the larger closure criteria are too large. Another indication that the closure criteria are too large is if the overall percent discrepancy in the water budget is too large. Discrepancies between 0.5 and 1 percent are of concern and greater than 1 percent are too large. However, while a large percent error indicates the convergence criteria are too large, a small percent error does not mean the convergence criteria are small enough. It is a good idea to reduce the percent discrepancy in the overall water budget as much as possible given the trade-off with computation time.

Meeting the head and residual closure criteria does not ensure that the error in computed heads and flows are less than the closure criteria. In some models, the effects of the boundary conditions can take many iterations to propagate over the entire grid. In such cases, the errors have the potential to be substantially larger than the closure criteria. For this reason, it is best to keep the closure criteria small. For example, the models illustrated in Box 4 all met the closure criteria, but the calculated heads vary substantially among them especially at the edge of the grid.

The IMS package has options to print the progress of the solution process in each iteration. The data are written to CSV (comma-separated values) files. This makes it easy to open the files and plot the data with spreadsheet programs (Figure 45). Values related to the solution are printed for each iteration. If the model has not converged, it can be worthwhile to look at these results. If the absolute value of the maximum head change in the outer iterations is decreasing with each iteration, convergence might be achieved by allowing a larger number of outer iterations. On the other hand, if the absolute value of the maximum head change in the outer iterations is not decreasing with each iteration, increasing the allowable number of outer iterations probably will not help.



Figure 45 - Plot of convergence data from a model that successfully converged.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

If a model does not converge, the modeler can look in the output from the solver to identify which cells are frequently not meeting the criteria. Sometimes examining the model configuration in the vicinity of such cells can reveal a problem with the model. If the wetting option is active, it is a good idea to evaluate whether the cells that are not meeting the criteria are repeatedly switching between wet and dry status. Increasing the wetting threshold for those cells may help with convergence.

The IMS package has many other options that can be used to change how the solver operates. Sometimes the maximum change in head or residual will oscillate between positive and negative values without ever meeting the convergence criteria. There are several options that may reduce and eliminate the oscillation. First, there is a complexity option that can be set to "Simple," "Moderate," or "Complex." These options affect many of the default values applied to the other options as shown in Table 1 and Table 2. In addition, the modeler can specify values for any of the variables in Table 1 and Table 2 to override the default values. Descriptions of these variables are given in the file mf6io.pdf in the MODFLOW 6 distribution.

Nonlinear variable	default/simple	moderate	complex
OUTER_DVCLOSE	0.001	0.01	0.1
OUTER_MAXIMUM	25	50	100
UNDER_RELAXATION	NONE	DBD	DBD
UNDER_RELAXATION_THETA	1.0	0.9	0.8
UNDER_RELAXATION_KAPPA	0.0	0.0001	0.0001
UNDER_RELAXATION_GAMMA	0.0	0.0	0.0
UNDER_RELAXATION_MOMENTUM	0.0	0.0	0.0
BACKTRACKING_NUMBER	0	0	20
BACKTRACKING_TOLERANCE	0.0	0.0	1.05
BACKTRACKING_REDUCTION_FACTOR	0.0	0.0	0.1
BACKTRACKING_RESIDUAL_LIMIT	0.0	0.0	0.002

Table 1 - Nonlinear IMS variables in MODFLOW 6 version 6.3

Table 2 - Linear IMS Variables in MODFLOW 6 version 6.3

Linear variable	default/simple	moderate	complex
INNER_MAXIMUM	50	100	500
INNER_DVCLOSE	0.001	0.01	0.1
INNER_RCLOSE	0.1	0.1	0.1
RCLOSE_OPTION	STRICT	STRICT	STRICT
LINEAR_ACCELERATION	CG	BICGSTAB	BICGSTAB
RELAXATION_FACTOR	0.0	0.97	0.0
PRECONDITIONER_LEVELS	0	0	5
PRECONDITIONER_DROP_TOLERANCE	0.0	0.0	0.0001
NUMBER_ORTHOGONALIZATIONS	0	0	2
SCALING_METHOD	NONE	NONE	NONE
REORDERING_METHOD	NONE	NONE	NONE

If the model has convergence problems and changing the complexity option does not help, it may be that the model has features that are causing the convergence issue such as unreasonably high conductances, sharp contrasts in hydraulic conductivity within layers, poorly specified boundary conditions, or time steps that are too long. If none of these are applicable, then adjusting the under-relaxation variables may improve the solution process to reach convergence. With under-relaxation, the change in head between iterations is reduced which can facilitate convergence.

Backtracking has a similar impact, but there may be several backtracking iterations in which the changes in head are reduced in order to satisfy a flow-residual criterion and this may require a lot of computation time.

The ideal solution variable values are problem-dependent and difficult to predict. Typically, acceptable values are found by trial and error.

9.2 The Output Control Option

Output Control is used to specify the time steps for which to print heads to the listing file, save heads to an external file, print a budget summary to the listing file, or save the budget terms for each cell to an external file. For each stress period, the user can specify the time steps at which the calculated heads or flows are printed or saved. There is a trade-off between the size of output files and the frequency with which output is printed and saved. The simulation and evaluation of results can take much longer if a lot of output is requested. Consequently, it is best to consider which information is important to the project analysis and limit the output to include only that information.

The printed budget summary is short and includes the percent discrepancy for the model so frequent printing of the budget summary is not burdensome and can be useful.

9.3 The Streamflow Routing Package

The Streamflow Routing (SFR) package in MODFLOW 6 is like the River package. In both packages, flow between the groundwater system and the boundary can be in either direction. Like the River package, the rate of flow is controlled by the conductance of the boundary and the difference in head between the stream stage and the groundwater cell. However, unlike the River package, flow into a stream does not disappear from the model. Instead, it is routed to the next downstream stream cell and may change the stage of that stream boundary. Each stream cell keeps track of how much water is flowing through it. The flow in the stream will limit flow from the stream to the groundwater if the volume of inflow to the groundwater cell exceeds the volume available in the stream. The potential flow from the stream to the groundwater is calculated using heads and conductance. If all the available water flows into the groundwater system, no water will be routed downstream to the next stream boundary.

To route the flow properly, the connections between stream reaches must be specified (Figure 46). For each reach, the user specifies both the upstream and downstream reaches. The upstream reaches are specified with positive numbers and the downstream reaches are specified with negative numbers. If a reach has more than one downstream

reach, the user must specify how the flow will be divided between the reaches. One of the downstream reaches will be considered the main flow channel and the others will be considered diversions. There are three options for specifying the amount of flow that is diverted. It can be a fraction of the total flow, an amount more than some specified value, or the amount diverted can be specified and the remainder will flow to the main channel.



Figure 46 - Simple stream network having seven reaches with a junction having two reaches, a confluence of two reaches, and the resulting reach connectivity. All downstream connections for a reach must include the reach as an upstream connection. Downstream connections for a reach are denoted with a negative reach number (From USGS MODFLOW 6 Development Team, 2022).

Unlike the River package, conductance in the Streamflow Routing package is not specified directly. Instead, the modeler specifies the length and width of the stream in a cell along with the hydraulic conductivity and thickness of the stream bed. If desired, the modeler can specify a cross section of the stream channel. From these, MODFLOW calculates the stream conductance.

Another difference between the Streamflow Routing package and the River package is that the Streamflow Routing package has an option for having the head in the stream calculated instead of being specified by the modeler. The Streamflow Routing package uses Manning's equation to calculate the stream stage from the flow rate. For MODFLOW to make this calculation, the modeler specifies two additional inputs: the stream roughness and the stream gradient.

The modeler can specify the amount of rainfall and runoff entering a stream reach. The rainfall rate is multiplied by the reach length and width to determine the volumetric rate of precipitation on the reach. Runoff is specified as a volumetric rate. Water can also leave a stream reach by evaporation. The evaporation rate provided by the modeler is multiplied by the reach length and width to determine the volumetric rate of evaporation.

9.4 The Horizontal Flow Barrier Package

The Horizontal Flow Barrier package is used to simulate barriers to flow that are much smaller than the grid cells. For example, slurry walls or volcanic dikes could be simulated with the Horizontal Flow Barrier package. For each barrier, the modeler specifies two cells in the same layer on opposite sides of the barrier and the hydraulic characteristic of the barrier (Figure 47). The hydraulic characteristic is the hydraulic conductivity of the barrier divided by its thickness in the direction perpendicular to flow across the barrier. The hydraulic characteristic is used by MODFLOW to modify the conductance between the cells.



Figure 47 - Illustration of horizontal flow barriers in green along the interfaces between cells.

10 Time-Variable Input

Typically, the time variable input for MODFLOW 6 is specified using stress periods and remains constant for the entire stress period. However, for some inputs, it is possible to specify time variable input in a different way so that the input might change in every time step. This is done using either Time-Series files or Time-Array-Series files.

10.1 Time-Series Files

In MODFLOW 6, time-series files provide a general mechanism for specifying transient data that is independent of the stress periods of the model. In a time-series file, there is a list of times and one or more series of real-number values associated with those times. Each series of values is given a name. That name can be included in one of the other model input files. For example, in the constant head (CHD) package, a time-series file could be used to give a different specified head at every time step. The times specified in a time-series file will be interpolated to the appropriate model time step. One of three different interpolation methods can be used: "STEPWISE," "LINEAREND," or "LINEAR." Data for an example time series with times from 0 to 6 is shown in Table 3. If there were more than one time series in the file, an additional column of data would be present for each additional series. Table 4 shows the value that would be used for the time step with each of the different interpolation methods for a time step extending from time = 0 to time = 5. Figure 48 illustrates the calculations graphically.

	Table 3 - Examp	le data for a time-series file	
	Time (days)	Associated value	
	0	0	
	1	0	
	2	1000	
	6	1200	
Table 4 - Value interpolate	ed by optional inte	erpolation methods for time =	5 given values in Table 3
		Interpolated value	
	Stepwise	600	
	Linear	745	
	_inearEnd	1150	

• With STEPWISE, it is assumed that values change abruptly at each new time, instead of gradually between times (Figure 48a). A time-weighted average of the values in the series during the time step is used. In this case, the time-weighted average is [(0×2 days) + (1000×3 days)]/5 days = 600.

If LINEAREND is used, MODFLOW linearly interpolates between the time values surrounding the time at the end of the time step and uses that interpolated value for the entire time step (Figure 48b). In this case, the final value is $(1200 - 1000) \times (3 \text{ days} / 4 \text{ days}) + 1000 = 1150$.

• If LINEAR is used with the same times and values, MODFLOW interpolates linearly between the values associated with times 0, 1, 2, and 6 and constructs a

time-weighted average value for the time step. In this case, the final value is 745 (Figure 48c). Because the end of the time step is between two of the times in the time-series, the interpolated value calculated for LINEAREND will be used in the calculation.

((0×1 day) + (0+1000) × (1 day)/2 + (1000 + 1150) × (3 days)/2) / (1 day + 1 day + 3 days) = 745.



Figure 48 - Illustrations of interpolation methods for time series. The time step in the example extends from time = 0 to time = 5. The solid line represents the assumed change in the time series based on the interpolation method used. a) STEPWISE method - The value used for the time step is the average value for the time step assuming that the value changes abruptly at each time in the time series. b) LINEAREND method - The value used for the end of the time step is determined by linear interpolation between times surrounding the time of the end of the time step rather than a time-averaged value. c) LINEAR method - The value used for the time step is the average value for the time step is the average value for the time step assuming that the value changes linearly between each time in the time series. For (a) and (c) a time-averaged weight is used and the blue area represents the area used in calculating the time-averaged weight. At time = 5, a new time step begins, shown by the green area.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

The appropriate interpolation method to use will depend on how the value being modeled changes over time.

- STEPWISE could be useful for modeling pumping rates in the Well package where someone sets the pumping rate to a certain value and then leaves it at that value until there is a reason to change it. The STEPWISE method ensures that the volume of pumping in the time step is correct.
- LINEAREND would be appropriate for a specified head boundary condition in which the specified head is changing continuously. Because MODFLOW uses an implicit formulation, the specified head for a time step should be the head at the end of the time step.
- LINEAR might be appropriate for river stage where a gage records the river stage at a fixed interval and the stage is assumed to change continuously between the times at which the river stage was measured.

In addition to a name and an interpolation method, time series files can include scale factors for each time series. If scale factors are included, all the values in the time series are multiplied by the scale factor.

Time-series can be used with the following packages.

- CSUB: Skeletal Storage, Compaction, and Subsidence
- CHD: Constant Head Boundary
- WEL: Well
- DRN: Drain
- RIV: River
- GHB: General Head Boundary
- RCH: Recharge
- EVT: Evapotranspiration
- MAW: Multi-Aquifer Well
- SFR: Streamflow Routing
- LAK: Lake
- UZF: Unsaturated Zone Flow
- TVK: Time-Varying Hydraulic Conductivity
- TVS: Time-Varying Storage

10.2 Time-Array-Series Files

Time-array-series files are similar in concept to time-series files. However, each time-array-series associates an array of real-number values with each time rather than a single value. For example, in the Recharge package, an array of recharge rates can be used for each time step where the array specifies the recharge rate for every cell over the top surface of the model. These recharge rates can be interpolated from a time-array-series. Only a single series of arrays can be defined in one time-array-series file and each file can

only be associated with one package. Each time-array series has an array, an interpolation method, and an optional scale factor.

Time-array-series can be used with the Recharge and Evapotranspiration packages.

11 Observation Utility

The Observation Utility is used to generate a time series of simulated values at various locations. Values are printed at the end of each time step. The user specifies an observation type of interest along with either one or two identifiers for each observation. For example, a cell could be an identifier for a head observation. MODFLOW saves the simulated value associated with the observation to a file at the end of every time step. There is no attempt made to interpolate heads, flows, or any other observation to a specific location within a cell or to a specific time within a time step. A separate program can be used to interpolate to the observation location and time. Mf6ObsExtractor.exe (distributed with ModelMuse) is one such program. There are over 100 different observation types that can be specified in MODFLOW 6. These include, head, drawdown, flow through a specific face of a cell, and flows related to boundary conditions such as drains, rivers, specified head cells, and general-head boundaries. The "Lake," "Streamflow Routing," "Multi-Aquifer Well," "Unsaturated Zone Flow," and "Skeletal Storage, Compaction, and Subsidence" packages each have multiple types of observation associated with them.

The user can specify whether the output from the Observation utility is to be a binary or text file. The binary files have the advantage of saving data without rounding errors that are introduced during the conversion of binary values to base-10 numbers. Output from the Observation utility is described within the file "mf6io.pdf" in the section titled "MODFLOW 6 - Description of Input and Output." The PDF is included in the doc folder distributed with MODFLOW 6 as described in Box 2 of this book.

12 Advanced Packages

MODFLOW has several packages that provide advanced simulation capabilities (Langevin et al., 2017; Hughes et al., 2022). These packages have complex input requirements which can make them difficult to use. In many cases, using them provides little benefit because a simpler representation of the features can work just as well with less effort. Only brief descriptions of their capabilities are provided here. In addition, there are several packages used for simulating solute transport (Langevin et al., 2022). The solute transport process in MODFLOW is outside the scope of this book so those packages are not described.

12.1 Skeletal Storage, Compaction, and Subsidence (CSUB) Package

The CSUB package simulates subsidence due to aquifer compaction. The compaction can be instantaneous or delayed and can be elastic or inelastic (Hughes et al., 2022). The compaction is assumed to occur in interbeds within a cell. The modeler needs to enter data that is related to compaction. Unless modeling subsidence is part of the goal of the project, the CSUB package is not required.

12.2 Multi-Aquifer Well (MAW) Package

The MAW package is designed for simulating wells that extend vertically over several cells although it can also be used for wells in a single cell (Langevin et al., 2017). The user must specify the extent of the well screen or screens, the conductance of the well screens, and the pumping rate among other inputs. If the pumping rate is zero, the MAW package can simulate flow between cells through the well bore. The MAW package allows MODFLOW to reduce the specified pumping rate in the well or shut off the well entirely if the head in the well gets too low. This might occur if the well pump cannot pump at the specified rate when the lift is too high.

12.3 Lake (LAK) Package

The Lake package is designed for simulating lakes whose water level is primarily controlled by groundwater flow into or out of the lake (Langevin et al., 2017). However, in many lakes, groundwater flow has little effect on the lake level. This is especially true of human-made lakes. Lakes in which lake levels are not greatly affected by groundwater flow can be simulated with other packages such as the General-Head Boundary or Constant Head packages. One way the Lake package might be used is to simulate water levels in an open-pit mine after closure.

12.4 Unsaturated Zone Flow (UZF) Package

The Unsaturated Zone Flow package simulates vertical flow in the unsaturated zone above the water table. The user specifies the infiltration at the ground surface and the UZF package simulates the flow of this water downward to the water table (Langevin et al., 2017). It can also simulate evapotranspiration. Beginners find this attractive as it seems like an easier way to simulate recharge than estimating the losses in the unsaturated zone themselves. However, there can be large uncertainties associated with the input required for the UZF package. These uncertainties can undermine the accuracy of the model. The UZF package can also greatly increase both the memory used by the model and the time required to run the simulation. Unless there is a long delay between when precipitation occurs and when the recharge reaches the saturated zone, the Recharge and Evapotranspiration packages are typically sufficient. Successful usage of the UZF package requires that the properties of the unsaturated zone are reasonably well known.

12.5 Water Mover (MVR) Package

The Water Mover package is used to simulate transfers of water from one boundary condition to another (Langevin et al., 2017). The user designates a source boundary and receiver boundary along with controls on the amount of water transferred. The source can be a boundary in one of the following packages:

- Well Package;
- Drain Package;
- River Package;
- General-Head Boundary Package;
- Multi-Aquifer Well Package;
- Streamflow Routing Package;
- Unsaturated Zone Flow Package; and
- Lake Package.

The receiver can be a boundary in one of the following packages.

- Multi-Aquifer Well Package;
- Streamflow Routing Package;
- Unsaturated Zone Flow Package; and
- Lake Package.

The Water Mover package can only be used if one of the other advanced packages is used.

12.6 Buoyancy (BUY6) Package

The Buoyancy package can be used to simulate the effects of fluid density differences on groundwater flow (Langevin et al., 2022). If it is used along with the

groundwater transport process, the fluid density can be calculated from the solute concentration, but the fluid density can also be specified directly.

12.7 Viscosity VSC Package

The Viscosity package accounts for the effects of solute concentration on fluid viscosity and thus on hydraulic conductivity and the conductances in boundary conditions.

12.8 Time-Varying Hydraulic Conductivity (TVK) and Time-Varying Storage (TVS) Packages

The Time-varying Hydraulic Conductivity and Time-varying Storage packages allow the modeler to specify new values for any of the three hydraulic conductivity values or the storage parameters for a stress period. The new values remain in effect until changed. For example, if an earthquake caused changes in the aquifer properties in the fault zone, these changes could be simulated with the TVK and TVS packages.

12.9 Groundwater Flow (GWF) Exchange Package

MODFLOW allows the modeler to have separate grids in different parts of the model domain (Langevin et al., 2017). The Groundwater Flow Exchange package is used to simulate flow between the separate grids. It can also be used to simulate flow between widely separated parts of the same grid. MODFLOW allows but never requires use of separate grids.

13 Next Steps

This book presents basic information to help a groundwater professional start using MODFLOW 6. There is much more to know, and many resources are available. It is useful to read additional material to learn more about using MODFLOW 6. For example, there are two public-domain publications from the USGS that discuss modeling concepts applicable not only to MODFLOW but to modeling in general. The first discusses conceptualization of groundwater systems and their boundaries (<u>Reilly, 2001</u>, and the other presents guidelines for evaluating ground water flow models (<u>Reilly and Harbaugh, 2004</u>). Reading the guidelines for evaluating models helps a modeler develop better models using MODFLOW.

It is also useful to read other MODFLOW model reports. The USGS has published reports that use MODFLOW and many are listed on the Community Surface Dynamics Modeling System's <u>MODFLOW references web page</u>?. New model reports and data sets from the USGS are listed in the USGS Groundwater Highlights newsletter. One can subscribe to the USGS newsletter at <u>https://water.usgs.gov/ogw/highlights/</u>?. In addition, the Google group devoted to MODFLOW users at <u>https://groups.google.com/g/modflow</u>? may be of interest to some readers.

Saul Montoya's blog on <u>https://hatarilabs.com/ih-en</u> has many tutorials about MODFLOW. The Hatari Labs' YouTube channel includes numerous videos about MODFLOW. Experimenting with MODFLOW software even on hypothetical systems is a good way to master the program. Following guidance from other resources that offer example MODFLOW modeling problems is an excellent way to learn more. Another Groundwater Project book, <u>Groundwater Resource Development: Effects and Sustainability</u> provides exercises that use MODFLOW to assess the effects of groundwater resource development on baseflow in streams. Viewing and following along with <u>videos at https://www.usgs.gov/mission-areas/water-resources/modelmuse-tutorial-videos-0</u> is another way to advance one's knowledge of MODFLOW.

Finally, there is one more exercise included in this book, <u>Exercise 8</u>. Unlike, the previous exercises, it represents a more realistic situation and includes some real data.

14 Exercises

Exercise 1

Open the Name file (e.g., SimpleModel.nam) for the model you created and named based on the instructions of Section 4. It can be opened with any text editor (e.g., Notepad). In the Name file, identify the discretization file for the model. It will be listed in the Packages section with the identifier "DIS6." Open the discretization file with a text editor. Also open the file mf6io.pdf. Mf6io.pdf will be in the "doc" directory of the MODFLOW 6 distribution. In mf6io.pdf locate the description of the Structured Discretization (DIS) input file. It can be found in the section named "Groundwater Flow (GWF) Model Input." Go to the section titled "Explanation of Variables" and note the blocks in your file and the description of the variables as listed in mf6io.pdf. Any line that begins with "#", "!", or "//" indicates it is a comment and does not affect the meaning of the file.

MODFLOW has an option to save a binary grid file that can be used by other programs. In the section of mf6io.pdf that describes the structured grid file, determine how this option is specified. Then examine your structured grid file and determine whether a binary grid file will be saved for your model.

> Solution to Exercise 1 <u>Return to where text links to Exercise 1</u>

Richard B. Winston

Exercise 2

This image shows part of a MODFLOW model that uses Discretization with Vertices. Each cell can have flow between it and its neighbors.

11	12	1	3	14		14 15				16					
21	22	2	24 25 23 26 27		25 28 27 30		2 3	9 1	3	2	3	3 5			
		42	43	46 50	47 51	48 52	49 53	62 66	63 67	64 68	65 69	78 82	79 83	80 84	81 85
40	41	44	45	54 58	55 59	56 60	57 61	70 74	71 75	72 76	73 77	86 90	87 91	88 92	89 93

Part of a DISV grid with cell numbers.

- a. What cells can have flow from or to cell 23?
- b. What cells can have flow from or to cell 25?
- c. What cells can have flow from or to cell 46?

Solution to Exercise 2

Return to where text links to Exercise 21

Exercise 3

Introduction to the Basic, Node Property Flow, and Constant Head Packages

Exercises 3 through 7 were originally developed for courses on MODFLOW taught within the USGS by Arlen Harbaugh, David Pollock and others starting in 1982. The exercises are adapted here for use with MODFLOW 6.

This groundwater flow system is in a valley which is 10,000 m wide and many kilometers long. An unconfined upper sand aquifer is separated from a lower sand aquifer by a fine-grained silt that acts as a confining layer for the lower aquifer. The aquifers are bounded on the east and the west by impermeable hills. The lower aquifer is underlain by impermeable bedrock. Along the eastern boundary there is a river that fully penetrates the upper aquifer, with a stage of essentially 320 m along the entire distance from the northern to the southern moraine. The northern boundary of the flow system is a low permeability moraine 20 km upstream. The southern boundary there is a canal that fully penetrates the upper aquifer, with a stage of essentially 330 m along the entire distance from the northern boundary there is a canal that fully penetrates the upper aquifer, with a stage of essentially 330 m along the entire distance from the northern boundary there is a canal that fully penetrates the upper aquifer, with a stage of essentially 330 m along the entire distance from the northern boundary there is a canal that fully penetrates the upper aquifer, with a stage of essentially 330 m along the entire distance from the northern to the southern moraine. The canal receives its water from the river north of the northern moraine and discharges to the river south of the southern moraine.



Illustration of model configuration in map view.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

In the upper aquifer, the horizontal hydraulic conductivity is isotropic with a value of 50 m/d, the vertical hydraulic conductivity is 10 m/d and the specific yield is 0.20. The bottom of the upper aquifer is at an elevation of 220 m. The top is at land surface, which can be specified as 350 m. (The river and canal are treated as fully penetrating the upper aquifer to illustrate how to set up the model. Such deep waterways are not typical of the real world.)

In the silt unit, both the horizontal and vertical conductivity are 0.01 m/d and the specific storage is 0.000001 m^{-1} . The bottom of the silt layer is at 200 m.

In the lower aquifer the horizontal conductivity is isotropic with a value of 200 m/d, the vertical conductivity is 20 m/d and the specific storage is 0.000001 m^{-1} . The bottom of the lower aquifer is at 0 m.



Layer 1 Kx=Ky=50 m/d, Kv=10 m/d, Sy=0.2 Layer 2 Kx=Ky=Kv=0.01 m/d, Ss=0.000001 m⁻¹ Layer 1 Kx=Ky=200 m/d, Kv=20 m/d, Ss=0.000001 m⁻¹ Illustration of cross section view.

The area of interest is a square farm 4,000 m on a side which is halfway between the canal and the river. The modeled area is larger than the area of interest so as to include natural boundaries of the system. The river and canal form natural boundaries. As formulated here, the northern and southern boundaries (see map view above) will be along flow lines, thus no flow will cross these boundaries. In later versions of this model additional stresses such as wells will be introduced. The aim is to place the northern and southern boundaries far enough away from the area of interest that the results in the area of interest will not be greatly affected.

Simulate groundwater flow in the vicinity of the field as a steady-state flow system. Use 3 layers, 21 rows and 20 columns with a uniform horizontal grid spacing of 500 m in each direction. Represent the upper aquifer with layer 1, the silt with layer 2, and the lower aquifer with layer 3. The northern and southern boundaries will be presumed streamlines perpendicular to the canal and river. The eastern and western boundaries will be constant head boundaries representing the river and the canal. The head in the river is 320 m the head in the canal is 330 m.

Return to where text links to Exercise 3

Creating the Base Run for Exercise 3

The following numbered items provide general directions for creating the base model. Some readers may want to undertake the work using only those items. For readers who prefer more detailed guidance, step-by-step instructions for creating the base model are provided in Box 5.

1. Create a model that has 3 layers, 21 rows, and 20 columns. Save the model in a directory you create for this exercise. Name the model PS1A.

2. Enter all the data relating to the description of the flow system using the DIS, NPF, STO, and TDIS packages. Optional: decrease the nonlinear and linear head closure criterion in the IMS package to 0.0001 and 1×10^{-5} respectively. Including data for the Storage package is optional for this model because it is a steady-state model. However, later exercises involve versions of this model that will require storage properties, so it is included here.

3. Define specified head boundaries in the upper aquifer (layer 1) on the east and west edges of the model to represent the canal and the river.

- 4. In the Output Control make the following changes:
 - a. Change the Head Print Format Code to 5 (FORTRAN format 9G13.6). This format causes output to be printed with 9 values per line, 13 characters per value including up to 6 decimal digits for each value.
 - b. Change the option to save heads so that the heads are saved at the end of the simulation. This setting will cause MODFLOW to generate a binary file head output file that can be read by post-processing programs such as graphics applications.

5. Run the model with MODFLOW 6.

6. Examine the text output of results by opening output file named PS1A.LST in a text editor.

7. If using ModelMuse to work with the model, examine the visual output of calculated heads by going to *File*|*Import*|*Model Results*... and selecting the binary output file named PS1A.bhd that contains the calculated heads and choose the contour grid with the head values. Colored coded and labeled values of head will appear on the grid. The plan-view contours reflect horizontal flow from the canal to the river, and the cross-sectional view at the bottom of the screen indicates downward flow from the canal to layer 2 and subsequently layer 3 as well as upward flow to the river.

8. Examine the visual output of calculated flows by going to *File* | *Import* | *Model Results*... and selecting the binary output file named PS1A.cbc that contains the calculated flows and choose to color the grid with the flow values for the specified head (CHD) boundaries. Inflow from the canal is colored in red and outflow to the river is colored in blue. When the cursor is over one of the colored cells, the flow rate through the specified head cell is displayed on the far-right panel of the status bar. More information about the cell under the cursor is provided in the *Data* | *Show Grid or Mesh Values* dialog box.

After completing the simulation, use the output to answer the questions posed in exercises 3.1 through 3.4.

Exercise 3.1

Using the water budget summary at the end of the MODFLOW listing file, what is the total volumetric rate of flow leaving the canal and the total volumetric rate of flow entering the river? Round to the nearest whole number.

For comparison, use Darcy's Law and the head output in the listing file to compute the total flow rate out of the canal and into the river. Calculate the flow from one canal cell and multiply by 21 rows to get the total flow. To simplify the calculation, use the average saturated thickness between columns 1 and 2 to compute the horizontal flow. For the vertical flow calculation, assume that all the head difference between the canal and the node in layer 2 occurs within the confining layer between the bottom of layer 1 and the node in layer 2. How do these flow rates compare with those determined from the MODFLOW water budget summary?

Solution to Exercise 3.1

Exercise 3.2

Between which two columns does the flow between layer 1 and layer 2 change from downward to upward? What about between layers 2 and 3?

Solution to Exercise 3.2

Exercise 3.3

What are the total volumetric rates of flow from column 10 to column 11 in each of the three model layers? Use Darcy's Law and the head output from the MODFLOW listing file to make these calculations and fill in the table provided here.

	h ₁₀	h ₁₁	Δh (h ₁₁ - h ₁₀)	b Layer thickness	Q (All 21 rows)
Layer 1					
Layer 2					
Layer 3					

Solution to Exercise 3.3

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Exercise 3.4

What is the total volumetric rate of flow downward across the top of layer 3 for columns 1 through 10? What is the total volumetric rate for flow upward across the top of layer 3 for columns 11 through 20? *Hint*: Use a simple water balance equation and the information from your answers to the previous exercises. Show your results on the schematic cross section provided here.



Explain how you could use Darcy's law as an alternative approach for calculating the total downward and upward flow rates described above. You do not need to make the calculations; just describe how you would do it.

Solution to Exercise 3.4

Exercise 3.5

In some cases, flow rates through part of the model may be of interest but calculating them through a simple water balance approach might not be practical. ZONEBUDGET can be used to address such questions. With ZONEBUDGET, the modeler assigns cells to individual zones and ZONEBUDGET computes a water budget for each of those zones. ZONEBUDGET is distributed with MODFLOW 6. For this exercise, use ZONEBUDGET to calculate the answer to the same question as before; determine the flow downward from layers 2 to 3 in columns 1 through 10 and the upward flow in columns 11 through 20 from layers 3 to 2. Step-by-step instructions for PS1B1 are provided in Box 67.

Solution to Exercise 3.5

Return to where text links to Exercise 3

Richard B. Winston

Exercise 4

Exercises 4.1 through 4.4 each involve a modification of the base case model, PS1A from Exercise 3. In each case, use the base run model (PS1A) as a starting point, make the changes, then save a separate modified model with the new model name as indicated for each exercise (PS1B1, PS1B2, PS1B3, and PS1B4).

Return to where text links to Exercise 41

Exercise 4.1

Start by opening model PS1A and saving it as PS1B1. Next double all the hydraulic conductivity values (vertical and horizontal) in both aquifers and the confining layer, then save and run the simulation again. Step-by-step instructions for PS1B1 are provided in Box 7.

How much water is leaving the canal? What is the effect of increasing the hydraulic conductivities on the head distribution?

Solution to Exercise 4.1

Exercise 4.2

Start by opening model PS1A and saving it as PS1B2. Next, raise the heads in the canal and in the river by 1 m and run the simulation again using the hydraulic conductivities used in the original problem described in Exercise 3 Step-by-step instructions for PS1B2 are provided in Box 8.

What is the effect on the head distribution? How much water is leaving the canal? Calculate the rate of flow between column 10 and column 11 for layer 1 and layer 3.

Solution to Exercise 4.2

Exercise 4.3

Start by opening model PS1A and saving it as PS1B3. Next, reduce the vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity of the silt to 0.0001 m/d, then save and run the model. Step-by-step instructions are provided in Box 9.

What is the effect on the heads and flow rates in each layer? Calculate the rate of flow between column 10 and column 11 for layer 1 and layer 3.

Solution to Exercise 4.3

Exercise 4.4

Start by opening model PS1A and saving it as PS1B4. Next, add a high-conductivity region to layer 1 by setting the hydraulic conductivity equal to 250 m/d for a rectangular block of cells extending from (row 9, column 5) to (row 13, column 15), then save and run the model. Step-by-step instructions for PS1B4 are provided in $\underline{Box 10}$.

Observe the change to the head distribution in layer 1. As a reminder, if you are using ModelMuse, the heads can be displayed by selecting *File*|*Import*|*Model Results* and selecting the binary head output file, then choosing to color the grid or to contour the heads.

Solution to Exercise 4.4

Return to where text links to Exercise 4

Exercise 5

Introduction to Stress Packages

This exercise introduces the use of stress package features. The groundwater flow system is like the base case presented in Exercise 3 (PS1A), except the canal on the left side has been removed and areal recharge has been added to layer 1 as the source of water for the system. The recharge rate is 0.005 m/day.

The exercise consists of four major parts (A, B, C, and D). Part A introduces the use of the recharge package. Parts B, C, and D demonstrate the river, drain, general-head boundary, and well packages.

Return where text links to Exercise 5

Part A - The Recharge Package

- 1. Open model PS1A and use the Save As option to create a new model named PS2A.
- 2. Make the changes required to remove the canal and add recharge.
- 3. Run MODFLOW, then view the resulting heads in ModelMuse and the listed output in the ".lst" file and use the results to complete the exercises 5.1 through 5.9.
- 4. Step-by-step instructions are provided in $\underline{Box \ 11}$.

Exercise 5.1

Does the recharge in the budget printed in the listing file match the recharge the amount of recharge applied? Hint: Multiply the recharge rate by the model area.

Solution to Exercise 5.1

Exercise 5.2

How much water is going into the river?

Solution to Exercise 5.2 ↓

Exercise 5.3

How is the head distribution in this simulation different from that in problem set 1? What causes the difference?

Solution to Exercise 5.3

Exercise 5.4

Between which two columns does the flow change from downward across the bottom of layer 1 to upward across the bottom of layer 1?

Solution to Exercise 5.4 ↓

Exercise 5.5

For each of the three model layers, calculate the total volumetric rates of flow between the two columns identified in Exercise 5.4. The provided table is useful for compiling the information.

	h _{left}	h _{right}	∆h h _{right} - h _{left}	b Thickness	Q (All 21 rows)
Layer 1					
Layer 2					
Layer 3					

Solution to Exercise 5.5 ↓

Exercise 5.6

Calculate a budget for cell 1,1,10 (layer, row, column) and for cell 1,1,20, by calculating all flows into and out of each cell and the mass balance error.

Solution to Exercise 5.6

Exercise 5.7

Double all the vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity terms in all layers. In ModelMuse, this is done using *Data* | *Edit Data Sets*. Name this model PS2A1. Describe the changes in the flow system.

Solution to Exercise 5.7 ↓

Exercise 5.8

Using the results from PS2A (the original run with the recharge package), calculate a water budget, for each of the sub-regions indicated on the cross section below. Label the flow arrows on the cross section with the values from the simulation.



Diagrammatic model cross section with Recharge package.

Solution to Exercise 5.8

Exercise 5.9

All the water that enters the system comes from recharge entering the top of the system. Delineate the zone that recharges model layer 3 on the schematic cross section shown in image below.

Hint: Flow in the system is from left to right. The recharge source area for layer 3 starts at the west edge of the system. Using water budget information from previous Exercise 5 solutions, calculate the width of the source area required to capture enough recharge to supply the flow that enters layer 3.



Diagrammatic unconfined model cross section.

Solution to Exercise 5.9

Part B - The River Package

This exercise creates the same model as PS2A except that the constant-head river on the east side of the grid is represented using the MODFLOW river package. The hydraulic conductivity of the riverbed is specified as 20 m/d, and the width is 10 m. The elevation of the riverbed bottom is 317 m. The riverbed is 1 m thick. Create model PS2B as follows.

1. Open model PS2A in your GUI and use the Save As option to create a new model named PS2B.

2. Make the changes are required to delete the CHD representation of the river and replace it with the River Package.

3. Run MODFLOW then view the resulting heads in ModelMuse and the listed output in the ".lst" file.

4. Step-by-step instructions are provided in Step-byStep Instructions for Model PS1B in Box 12.

When the model simulation is successful, then it be used for Exercise 5.10.

Exercise 5.10

Calculate the cell budget for cell 1,1,20 (layer, row, column). Compare to the budget for the same cell in run PS2A which was completed in Exercise 5.6. How does the use of the river package represent a different conceptual model?

Solution to Exercise 5.10 **↓**

Part C - The Drain and General-Head Boundary Packages

This exercise uses the same system as model PS2B except that a buried drain tile, simulated with the DRAIN package, is installed in row 15 in columns 10⁻20 (coordinates = (4500, -7250) to (10,000, -7250)) as shown in the image below. The conductance between the aquifer and the drain is 100,000 m²/d, the elevation of the drain is 322.5 m.

Follow these steps:

- 1. Open model PS2B in your GUI and use the Save As option to create a new model named PS2C.
 - 2. Make whatever changes are required to add the drain.

3. Run MODFLOW then view the resulting heads in ModelMuse and the listed output in the ".lst" file.

4. Examine the listing file to notice the impact that the drain has on water levels.

5. Step-by-step instructions are provided in $\underline{Box 13}$.



ation of drain boundary.

When you have a successful run, it can be used for Exercises 5.11 and 5.12.

Exercise 5.11

The presence of the drain cells will affect the groundwater levels. If the discharge out of the drain cells is measured, that observation can be used to help estimate model parameters such as the drain conductance. For this exercise, construct a cell budget for cells (1, 15, 10) and (1, 15, 19). You may also wish to plot the heads in a graphical user interface to see the overall effect of the drains.

Solution to Exercise 5.11

Exercise 5.12

Replace the drain with a general head boundary using the same head and conductance. Name this model PS2C1.

Step-by-step instructions are provided in $\underline{Box 14}$.

Compare the water budget for run PS2C1 with the water budget for run PS2C and explain any difference you observe.

Solution to Exercise 5.12

Part D - The Well Package

This exercise uses model PS2C with the addition of a well located in layer 1 at coordinates 4875,-5375 in the southeastern quarter of the cell at row 11, column 10 as shown below. The discharge rate of the well is 75,000 m³/d. Steps for the exercise follow.



- 1. Open model PS2C in your GUI and use the Save As option to create a new model named PS2D.
- 2. Make the model changes required to add the well.

3. Run MODFLOW then view the resulting heads in your GUI. If you contour the heads notice that the contours are not centered on the well itself but on the center of the cell containing the well. This is because the heads are only calculated at the centers of cells. If more detail is needed, the cells need to be made smaller.

4. Examine the listing file to see the values of head in nodes around the well and the water budget.

5. Step-by-step instructions are provided in $\underline{Box 15}$.

When you have a successful run, it can be used to complete Exercise 5.13, and a successful run of Exercise 5.13 can be used for Exercise 5.14. A common error is specifying the well withdrawal as a positive value. This is often discovered by noticing that heads increased after adding a well so, it is always good practice to view results and confirm they are consistent with your concept of how the model should behave.

Exercise 5.13

What is the change in the total volumetric rate of flow to the river in run PS2D compared with that of run PS2C? What is the change in the total volumetric rate of flow to the drain in run PS2D compared with that in run PS2C? Add the change in river discharge to the change in drain discharge and compare the sum to the well discharge rate. Record your results in the table provided. Round the values to the nearest whole number.

Flow rate out	PS2D	PS2C	PS2D - PS2C
River			
Drain			
Well	75,000	0	75,000
			Sum = 0

How much is the water table drawdown after the pumping reaches steady state?
<u>Solution to Exercise 5.13</u>

Exercise 5.14

Starting with model PS2D, use the Save As option in your GUI to create a new model named PS2D1. Add a second pumping well in layer 3, at coordinates (2374, -6237) that has a withdrawal rate of 100,000 m^3 /d.

Step-by-step instructions are provided in $\underline{Box 16}$.

How do the head distribution and flow budget change between models PS2D and PS2D1? How much drawdown is caused by the second well?

Use a contouring program or your GUI to display the head distribution in layer 1 and layer 3. Draw a sketch of what you think the source area at the water table looks like for the well in layer 3.

Solution to Exercise 5.14

Return to where text links to Exercise 51

Richard B. Winston

Exercise 6

Introduction to Effects of Model Boundaries and Simulation of Transient Flow

This exercise examines the effect of boundary conditions on groundwater flow using a system like the one represented by model PS2C. Recall that in model PS2C, the source of water is uniform areal recharge and discharge occurs at a river along the east side of the system. Because groundwater flow is parallel to the north and south boundaries, those boundaries are streamlines that can be simulated as no-flow boundaries in the model. Previously, when we added a pumping well near the center of the system in the upper aquifer, we continued to represent the north and south boundaries as no-flow boundaries even though we know those boundaries would not continue to act as perfect no-flow boundaries in nature. Head gradients would change, and some water would flow across those boundaries. How much flow would be induced across the north and south boundaries? What error is introduced by treating those boundaries as no-flow? What other choices are available to represent the north and south boundaries? And, how do the different boundary condition options compare to one another? Questions such as these arise in nearly every model study. This simple problem provides an opportunity to examine the impact of boundary conditions in detail. It also serves as an introduction to transient flow simulation using MODFLOW.

Although the system simulated in this exercise is like that of model PS2C, it has been simplified as a one-layer model in order to make it easier to analyze the budget components of the transient system as well as the impact of boundary conditions. The model properties are as follows.

- 1 layer (Convertible, bottom elevation = 0 m)
- 21 rows and 20 columns
- Uniform 500 m areal grid spacing
- Horizontal hydraulic conductivity = 50 m/d
- Vertical hydraulic conductivity = 10 m/d (this value must be entered in MODFLOW to fully define the material properties, but is irrelevant in a one-layer model because there is no component of flow in the vertical direction)
- Specific yield = 0.2
- Specific storage = 0.000001 m⁻¹
- Uniform areal recharge of 0.0025 m/d
- Discharge to a river located at the right edge of the model (X = 9800) in column 20, rows 1-21
- River stage = 50 m
- River bed bottom = 48 m
- River bed conductance = $100,000 \text{ m}^2/\text{d}$
- A well located at (4820, -5297) in row 11, column 10 discharging at 100,000 m³/d

This exercise consists of three model simulations.

1. Base simulation – steady-state flow with no well discharge.

2. Simulation A – transient flow with a discharge well and constant head boundaries on the north and south. The specified assigned values equal to the heads calculated for the base simulation.

3. Simulation B – transient flow with discharge well and no-flow boundaries on the north and south.

The base simulation is necessary to establish the starting heads for the transient simulations A and B. The head, drawdown, and water budget output from simulations A and B will be examined and compared to answer several questions about the effects of the boundary conditions on the system.

Return to where text links to Exercise 61

Creating the Base Simulation - Steady-State Flow with No Well Discharge

Steady-state heads are needed as starting heads for the constant-head cells along the north and south boundaries in run A. These steady-state heads also provide meaningful starting heads for the transient flow simulations of runs A and B. This simulation will save the steady-state heads calculated by the base simulation in an unformatted binary file. The binary file cannot be edited or displayed on the screen with a text editor, but it can be processed by MODFLOW to provide starting heads for simulations A and B.

Rather than build this model (PS3Base), the PS3Base files can be extracted from the zip file provided on the book page <u>Getting-Started-With-MODFLOW</u> Exercises.zip,, then imported to a Graphical User Interface. Examine the contents of the model folder, then run MODFLOW to generate its output, import the calculated heads to visualize the head distribution, and view the results in the listing file. The model PS3Base is supplied both in the form of a ModelMuse file and as the MODFLOW input files. If you are working through the exercises using ModelMuse, you can start with the ModelMuse file. Otherwise, use the model input files.

Step-by-step instructions for starting the PS3Base_model are provided in Box 17¹.

Using the heads calculated by the base model, two simulations will be conducted, one using constant head boundaries along the north and south border and the other using no-flow boundaries. Both start by calculating steady state heads without pumping, then simulate pumping for 1800 days, and finally solve for the steady condition with pumping which helps the modeler determine if the system was close to steady state after 1800 days of pumping.

Simulation A – Constant Head Boundaries

The following steps outline construction of the model with constant head boundaries along the north and south boundaries. More detailed description of the steps is provided in $\underline{Box \ 18}$.

1. Open model PS3BASE in a GUI and use the Save As option to create a new model named PS3A.

2. In the TDIS package, define three stress periods with the following properties. The MODFLOW storage package will be activated because the model has a transient stress period.

3. Stress period 1: length = 1 day, time steps = 1, multiplier = 1, type = SS

4. Stress period 2: length = 1800 days (about 5 years), maximum first time step size of 16 days which will result in 10 time steps given a multiplier of 1.5, type = TR

5. Stress period 3: length = 1 day, time steps = 1, multiplier = 1, type = SS

6. Make the changes required to specify constant heads along the north and south boundaries (row 1 and row 21) as described above.

7. Change starting head to be read from file PS3BASE.bhd. The format must be (BINARY).

8. For stress periods 2 and 3, add a well to row 11, column 10 with a discharge rate of $-100,000 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$. The well is not present in stress period 1.

9. Make the necessary modifications in the RIVER and RECHARGE packages to set all their properties to the same values for all three stress periods.

10. Modify the Output Control to make the necessary changes to save and print head at all time steps. By saving head in an output file we will be able to use graphics programs to display the output.

11. Step-by-step instructions are provided for PS3A in Box 18.

12. Run the model. ModelMonitor now shows the mass balance for 12 times steps. If a box displaying warnings appears, review the items listed and make corrections to the input if there are errors. There will be a warning message that there is no well boundary condition in the first stress period, but that is not a concern because we do not intend for the well to be pumping during the intial steady state period.

13. Import the results for all time steps to visualize the resulting head changes over time.

• *Stress Period 1*: The first stress period is a steady-state period with one time-step. Heads for this time step should be identical to those from PS3BASE because the hydraulic properties and stresses that define the ground-water flow system during this steady-state time step are identical to those in simulation PS3BASE. If that is true, why even include this first stress period? The answer has to do with the effect on the water budget when rows 1 and 21 are changed to constant head cells. Recall that areal recharge is not applied to constant head cells. That means that changing two rows in the model to constant head has the effect of decreasing the total recharge to the system. By including this first stready-state time step, the base simulation is reproduced for rows 2 through 20 but MODFLOW computes the amount of recharge for a smaller active flow area of

the model (rows 2-20, columns 1-20) than in model PS3BASE. This step could have been skipped, and initial heads for the first transient stress period specified to be the head output from PS3BASE, but it was included because it makes it easier to examine how the water budget components change in response to the addition of the well discharge. It also makes it easier to compare the results of this simulation with those that will be generated later in simulation B, which treats rows 1 and 21 as no-flow cells rather than constant head cells.

- Stress Period 2: The second stress period is an 1800-day transient period represented by 10 time-steps. In this period, a discharge well withdraws water at a rate of 100,000 m³/d. The heads in these 10 time-steps show the transient response of the ground-water flow system to the instantaneous addition of the discharge well. A modeler should have expectations for the nature of the results so that their expectations can be compared to model results and if they are not consistent the modeler can determine whether the model input needs to be corrected or their expectations were not reasonable. The logical expectations based on hydrogeologic knowledge would be that at early time, the volume budget will show a large rate of flow in from storage (because initially all the well discharge comes from storage), and little change in the rates of flow in from the constant head boundaries and flow out to the river (because it will take a while for heads near the boundaries to change). As time goes on, the rate of flow in from storage is expected to decrease (because more and more of the well discharge is drawn inward from the model boundaries) so the rate of flow in from the constant head boundaries is expected to increase and the rate of flow out to the river is expected to decrease.
- *Stress Period 3*: The third stress period is another steady-state period with one time-step with the discharge well pumping at the same rate as in period 2 (100,000 m³/d). Later, examination of the output from the transient stress period will reveal that the system does not reach a new steady state at the end of the second stress period. Adding the final steady-state stress period provides a way to calculate the new steady-state head distribution in a single time step without the need for several additional transient time steps.

Exercise 6.1

Examine the output in the listing file, PS3A.LST and compare the water-budgets for the steady-state condition without the well (period 1, step 1) with the steady-state condition with the well (period 3, step 1). Record your results in the table provided here.

Flow rate							
(round to the nearest whole number)							
Steady-state, no well (period 1, step 1)	Steady-state with well (period 3, step 1)	Change in flow rate (with well – without well)					
Inf	low						
Out	flow						
	(roun Steady-state, no well (period 1, step 1) Inf	Flow rate (round to the nearest wh Steady-state, Steady-state no well with well (period 1, step 1) (period 3, step 1) Inflow					

Solution to Exercise 6.1 ↓

Exercise 6.2

Compute the change in each budget component of simulation PS3A at time steps 1, 3, 5, 8, and 10 in stress period 2. You may find it convenient to fill out the flow rates themselves in the first table. Record your changes in flow rates in the second table provided here.
Model PS3A	Flow rate					
Pudget component	Period 1,	Period 2,				
	step 1	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10
		Inflov	v			
Storage-specific storage						
Storage-specific yield						
Constant head						
Wells						
River leakage						
Recharge						
Total inflow						
		Outflo	W			
Storage-specific storage						
Storage-specific yield						
Constant head						
Wells						
River leakage						
Recharge						
Total outflow						
Inflow – outflow						

Model PS3A		Chan	ige in flow r	ate ¹	
Budget component	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,
Budget component	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10
		Inflow			
Storage-specific storage					
Storage-specific yield					
Constant head					
Wells					
River leakage					
Recharge					
Total inflow change					
		Outflow			
Storage-specific storage					
Storage-specific yield					
Constant head					
Wells					
River leakage					
Recharge					
Total outflow change					
Inflow – outflow					

¹ Rate at the current time step minus the initial rate at period 1, step 1. Round to the nearest whole number.

Consider whether the volume budget summaries for various times (e.g., the end of the first steady state period, midway through the transient pumping period, at the end of the pumping period, and at the end of the steady state pumping period) are consistent with your expectations for how the system would behave.

Solution to Exercise 6.2

Simulation B – No-Flow Boundaries

In this exercise the constant head cells of simulation PS3A are changed to no-flow cells to simulate the north and south boundaries as flow lines and keep the active flow area of the model the same as in PS3A. Start with model PS3A and use the Save As option to create a new model named PS3B. Change the specified heads for rows 1 and 21 to inactive cells to flag them as no-flow cells. Then run the simulation.

Step-by-step instructions for creating simulation PS3B are provided in Box 197.

Exercise 6.3

Compare the water-budgets for the steady-state condition without the well (period 1, step 1) with the steady-state condition with the well (period 3, step 1). Record your results in the table provided here. How do they differ from PS3A?

Model BS2B	Flow rate						
WOULEI F33D	(round to the nearest whole number)						
Budget component	Steady-state, No well (period 1, step 1)	Steady-state with well {Period 3, step 1)	Change in flow rate (with well - without well)				
Inflow							
Storage-specific storage							
Storage-specific yield							
Wells							
River leakage							
Recharge							
Total							
	Ou	tflow					
Storage-specific storage							
Storage-specific yield							
Wells							
River leakage							
Recharge							
Total							
Inflow – outflow							

Solution to Exercise 6.3

Exercise 6.4

Compute the change in each budget component of run PS3B at time steps 1, 3, 5, 8, and 10 in stress period 2. Record your results in the table provided here. You may find it

convenient to fill out the flow rates themselves in the first table. Record your changes in flow rates in the second table provided here. How do they differ from PS3A?

Model PS3B	Flow rate					
	Period 1,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,
Budget component	step 1	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10
		Inflov	v			
Storage-specific storage						
Storage-specific yield						
Wells						
River leakage						
Recharge						
Total inflow						
	Outflow					
Storage-specific storage						
Storage-specific yield						
Wells						
River leakage						
Recharge						
Total outflow						
Inflow – outflow						
Model PS3B			Change in	flow rate ¹		
Dudget component	Period 2,	Period	2, Perio	d 2, Pe	eriod 2,	Period 2,
Budget component	step 1	step 3	step	5 s	step 8	step 10
		Inflov	v			
Storage-specific storage						
Storage-specific yield						

5	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10
		Inflow			
Storage-specific storage					
Storage-specific yield					
Wells					
River leakage					
Recharge					
Total inflow change					
		Outflow			
Storage-specific storage					
Storage-specific yield					
Wells					
River leakage					
Recharge					
Total outflow change					
Inflow – outflow					

¹Rate at the current time step minus the initial rate at period 1, step 1. Round to the nearest whole number.

Solution to Exercise 6.4

Return to where text links to Exercise 61

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Richard B. Winston

Exercise 7

MODPATH is a particle tracking program designed to work with output from MODFLOW. This exercise illustrates the major features of MODPATH by applying particle tracking to the final run from Exercise 5.14 (model PS2D1) which included wells in layer 1 and 3 as well as a drain and river in layer 1. The system is relatively complex due to the multiple discharge features. It provides an example of how particle tracking can be used to facilitate visualization of three-dimensional, flow in a complex system. The image below shows the head contours for layers 1 and 3.





Contour legend

325.2

325.4

325.6

325.8 326

326.2

326.4



Return to where text links to Exercise 71

Introduction to MODPATH

<u>Exercise 5.14</u> involved sketching the source area for the well in layer 3. The complexity and variation in the head patterns in layers 1 and 3 make it difficult to provide a quantitative estimate of the source area. In this exercise, particle tracking is used to help delineate the source area and illustrate the major features of the flow system.

Rather than build the needed files, the PSMP files can be extracted from the zip file provided on the book page <u>Getting-Started-With-MODFLOW Exercises.zip</u>. The zip file contains the ModelMuse files for all the completed MODFLOW exercises presented thus far in this book, as well as a file for the PSMP model without the MODPATH component. The file PSMP.gpt can be opened in ModelMuse or, if you already set up a version of the model in another Graphical User Interface, that file can be opened. The model includes only a single steady-state stress period.

Return to where text links to Exercise 7

Modify the PSMP Dataset so that it is Ready to Run MODPATH

Open PSMP dataset in ModelMuse or your GUI and follow the steps 1 through 3 to prepare it to run MODPATH. If you have any difficulties following the steps, a link is provided after step five that leads to a box with more detailed instructions.

- 1. If not already installed, download MODPATH version 7 from the USGS web site and install it by extracting it to an empty directory.
- 2. Activate MODPATH 7 and set the STOPOPTION to stop the particles at the termination points.
 - 3. Set the porosity for all layers to 0.3.

4. Make sure that the heads and flows will be saved because they are part of the input for MODPATH. In transient models, heads and flows are required for every time step.

5. The dataset should now be ready to run MODFLOW and MODPATH. However, there is one very important step required to make sure things are set up properly. When MODPATH is activated, an auxiliary variable named IFACE needs to be assigned to each entry in the river, drain, well, and perhaps the recharge packages. Your GUI may do this for you. IFACE is the integer boundary face flag that tells MODPATH where within a cell to assign the flow to, or from, those boundaries. By default, IFACE will be treated as if it was zero for all entries. A value of zero indicates that the stress component is distributed internally within the cell and not assigned to a cell face to represent a boundary flow. In this problem, the conceptual model of the river and drain is that they are shallow features located near the top of layer 1. To represent that, the IFACE values for the drain and river cells need to be assigned a value of 6, so MODPATH will assign those flow rates to the top faces of the cells. Recharge is also conceptualized as occurring at the surface, so it also needs to be assigned an IFACE

value of 6. Once those changes are made, the dataset is ready to be used for a MODPATH simulation.

Step-by-step instructions for using ModelMuse to set up the model to use MODPATH are provided in Box 20¹.

Remember that it is necessary to run MODFLOW again after making these changes so that the budget output required by MODPATH includes data for all stress periods as well as the correct IFACE values before any MODPATH simulations are made. Save this version of the model. It will be the starting point for each of the simulations conducted in Exercises 7.1 through 7.3.

Exercise 7.1

Forward Endpoint Simulation

If it is not already open, open the version of PSMP that was saved after the steps undertaken in Box 20. Save it with a new file name such as PSMP_Endpoints. Then follow steps 1 through 5 below. A link to step-by-step instructions for each of the 5 steps is provided after step 5.

- 1. Make a forward-tracking endpoint simulation to delineate the source areas for the wells, drain, and river.
- 2. Place a 5×5 array of particles on face 6 (top face) of each cell in layer 1.
- 3. Change the setting in MODPATH to read zone arrays.
- 4. Set the zone numbers of layer 1 and layer 3 so that the river is zone 2, the well in layer 1 is zone 3, the drain in layer 1 is zone 4, and the well in layer 3 is zone 5.
- 5. Run MODPATH and plot the endpoints at their starting locations with the particles colored by their final zone number.

See the step-by-step instructions in $\underline{Box 21}$.

How well do the MODPATH results compare with what you anticipated after running model PS2D1? To view the results again after the next simulation, save them with a different file name.

Solution to Exercise 7.1 ↓

Exercise 7.2

Forward Pathline Simulation

Open the version of PSMP that was saved before starting the endpoint simulation. Save it with a new file name such as PSMP_Pathlines. In this exercise, one particle is placed on the top face of layer 1 (face 6) at X = 1750 and Y = 0 through -10,500 (column 4 and rows 1 through 21). Make a pathline simulation and view the results in a GUI.

Follow the steps 1 through 4 to create a new simulation file. A link to step-by-step instructions for using ModelMuse to accomplish the 4 steps is provided after step 4.

1. Set the MODPATH simulation type to be Pathline.

- 2. Specify the starting locations for particles in layer 1, column 4 from row 1 through row 21. There should be 1 particle per cell placed in the center of the top surface of the cell.
- 3. Run MODPATH.
- After MODPATH finishes, open the pathline file in the GUI to view the results. Step-by-step instructions are provided in <u>Box 22</u>.

To view the results again after creating input files and running the next simulation, save them with a different file name.

Solution to Exercise 7.2

Exercise 7.3

Forward Time Series Simulation

In this exercise a 5×5 array of particles is placed on the top face of layer 1 (face 6) for a block of cells in the range of row 8 through row 13 and column 4 through column 7. A timeseries simulation is generated in which particle locations are output to a timeseries file at a fixed time interval of 100 days for 300 time points. Follow steps 1 through 4 to create a new simulation file.

- 1. Open the version of PSMP that was saved before starting the endpoint simulation. Save it with a new file name such as PSMP_TimeSeries.
- 2. Set the simulation type to Timeseries.
- 3. Define the time points for the timeseries simulation by specifying fixed time increments of 100 days and a total of 300 time points.
- Set the starting locations of the particles to be from layer 1, row 8, column 4 to layer 1, row 13, column 7. Make sure that a 5×5 array of particles are specified for the top face (face = 6).

Run MODPATH. After MODPATH finishes, open the time-series file in the GUI to view the results. Try animating the particle movement by selecting the times at which the particles are displayed.

Step-by-step instructions are provided in $\underline{Box 23}$.

Solution to Exercise 7.3 ↓

Return to where text links to Exercise 71

Exercise 8

Exercise 8.1

Alluvial Aquifer Problem Set

This exercise is a modified version of an exercise provided by a reviewer of this book, Eve Kuniansky, who developed it based on a report by Torres-González and others (2002). It is estimated to take about 3 hours to complete this exercise. Information about the geology and hydrology of the alluvial aquifer under study, and the available site data, is discussed in *Site Information for Exercise 8* at the end of this exercise.

Overall Project Goal

The goal of the site model is to find a location for a well that can withdraw up to 1000 m³/day from the alluvial aquifer without causing the well to go dry. The alluvial aquifer was deposited in a valley incised into bedrock and hydraulically connected to the Rio de Manati, a river in Puerto Rico. The alluvium will be used to filter the river water, providing pre-treatment. Thus, travel time from the river to the well must be at least 60 days as required to eliminate surface-water borne pathogens. As a safety margin, a travel-time of at least 60 days is preferred. (The recommended travel time might be different for other locations.) MODPATH will be used to estimate travel time from the river to the well. Another consideration with final well placement is locating the well in an area that is rarely inundated.

There are two phases to the problem that reinforce what has already been presented but provide an opportunity for readers to gain practical experience with incorporating field data into a model and as well as other challenges faced in applying a model to a field system. <u>Site Information for Exercise 8</u>¹ is provided as the last subsection of this exercise, including a description of the study area and site data needed for the exercise. The data and images for this exercise can be downloaded from the <u>Groundwater Project web site</u>?

Phase 1 of the exercise begins by developing a conceptual model of the alluvial aquifer then building and calibrating the initial model. It is estimated to require 2.5 hours of time to complete Phase 1. In this phase the reader uses the information collected in 1998 to characterize the system, then builds and calibrates a groundwater model using the depth to bedrock data, slug test data, steady-state water level map collected immediately before a step-drawdown test, the step-drawdown test data and analysis of the test conducted by the well driller.

Phase 2 of the exercise uses the model to locate a well outside of the floodplain that will have a 60-day time of travel between the well and the river using MODPATH and confirm that it will not go dry at a pumping rate of 1000 m³/d using MODFLOW. It is estimated to require 0.5 hours of time to complete Phase 2.

Starting ModelMuse and Importing a Background Image

- Start ModelMuse.
- Set the number of layers to 1 and change the name of the aquifer.
- Retain the default settings for the bottom elevations.
- Click the *No grid* button.
- Select File | Import | Image...
- Click the *Select Image* button and select *contour.jpg*.

There is a .jgw file associated with contour.jpg that has georeferenced information on the WGS84 latitude and longitude and increment for each pixel in the .jpg. ModelMuse uses this to determine the coordinates of the upper left and lower right corners of the image. However, the coordinates are in decimal degrees for the WGS84 datum. Decimal degrees are not suitable for modeling. Thus, decimal degrees will be converted to Universal Transverse Mercator coordinates UTM Zone 20N. This is a sufficiently small area that the UTM projection will not result in distortion of the site features.

• As shown below, select the block of cells that contain the X and Y coordinates (Longitude, Latitude) in the dialog box shown below. Multiple cells can be selected by clicking on one of the cells and then holding down the shift key while clicking on another cell. Next, press *Ctrl-C* on the keyboard to copy the cells to the clipboard.



Settings on web page for converting coordinates

• Go to <u>http://www.zonums.com/online/coords/cotrans.php?module=13</u>. This web page can be used to convert coordinates from decimal degrees to UTM coordinates. By default, it expects the coordinates to be latitude (Y) and longitude (X) in that order. The coordinates copied from ModelMuse have longitude followed by latitude. On the web page, use the Columns drop-down menu to specify the data in longitude followed by latitude. The data are separated by tab characters and the model area is in UTM Zone 19 north. Have the output data separated by tabs. Enter that data on the web page. Once all the data items have been set correctly as illustrated below, click the *Transform* button. The transformed coordinates will appear in a separate window.

Acronis MSP Webina	ar with Tech Experts OPEN
Zonum Solutions Free Software Tools	Software About Comments Forum Donate
SINGLE CONVERSION Deg-Min-Sec ⇒ Decimal Deg. Decimal Deg. ⇒ Deg-Min-Sec Lat/Lon ⇒ UTM UTM ⇒ Lat/Lon	Lat/Lon to UTM (meters) Clear Upload File Data Example Transform Input Coordinates Datum WGS84 Columns Lon Lat Separated by Tab Hint
BATCH CONVERSION Deg-Min-Sec ⇒ Decimal Deg. Decimal Deg. ⇒ Deg-Min-Sec Lat/Lon ⇒ UTM UTM ⇒ Lat/Lon	Output Coordinate System Datum WGS84 Projection UTM Zone 19 V Cone? North V Separated b Tab -66.4943461758618 18.3776588694685 Cone? North V Separated b Tab
RELATED TOOLS Digipoint MapTools E-Query Terrain Mapplets	-66.4746237976122 18.3650645347991
	© 2006-2010 Zonums Disclaimer

Settings on web page for converting coordinates

- Copy the transformed coordinates from the web page and paste into the Import Image dialog box in ModelMuse replacing the original decimal degrees coordinates (select the data and right-click to copy the data). Click *OK*.
- Now it is possible to zoom in on the image.

Another site that can be used for coordinate transformation is the Multipoint Conversion tab on <u>https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/NCAT/</u>?.

Importing XYZ Data of the Ground Surface

The file riverarea.xyz contains coordinates of points where the elevation of the ground is known. The coordinates are in decimal degrees (WGS84). These data points can be imported into ModelMuse to specify the top of the model after the geographic

coordinates are converted to Cartesian coordinates.

1. Open riverarea.xyz in a text editor. Copy all the data to the clipboard and paste it into a spreadsheet.

2. Separate the data so that the coordinates and elevations are in separate columns. The last column is the ground elevation (longitude, latitude, elevation, WGS84 datum). In Microsoft Excel, the function *Data* | *Text to Columns* can be used to separate the data.

3. Use <u>http://www.zonums.com/online/coords/cotrans.php?module=13</u> → to transform the coordinates into the correct UTM coordinates.

4. Copy the converted coordinates to the spreadsheet and align them with the elevations.

In ModelMuse, interpolation of the data points will specify the elevation of Model_Top. To do that, first specify which interpolation algorithm will be used.

5. As shown below, select *Data Edit Data Sets*... and then select the *Model_Top* data set. Set the interpolation method to *Natural Neighbor*. Click the *Apply* button.

🗱 Data Sets	
Required Hydrology Leyor Dofinition Model_Top Aquiter_Bottom	Basic Comment Name Model_Top Type Orientation Real V Evaluated At Units Cells Interpolation Anisotropy I Default formula 0
Add Delete	<u>? H</u> elp ✓ Apply <u>I</u> Close

Assigning Natural Neighbor interpolation method

6. Next import the data points. Select *File*|*Import*|*Points*... Check the checkboxes for "Model_Top" and "Set values by interpolation" as illustrated below. Copy the data from the spreadsheet and paste it into the table on the Data tab. Click *OK*. The object that is imported may obscure the background image. It is an array of small squares representing the data points. If so, you can hide the object.

						- 0 ×		
Controls Da	ata							
Data	a sets op Bottom	Cells	at ners	View of Control	direction nt e			
		Number of	Z formulas One	; ·	⊂ Two			
		Specify I	ayer instead	l of elevati	on			
		E Set value	Set values of intersected cells					
		Set values of cells by interpolation						
		Imported Points Poot name						
		Imported_r	onita e cinglo ot	ioct with r	nultiple c	octions		
		 Import as a single object with multiple sections Make objects visible 						
		Features						
		none				-		
		Inone		Para	ameter			
			? H	elp 🛛 😪	∕ OK	X Cancel		
🕵 Import Points	-	_	-			- 0 <u>- X</u>		
Controls Da	ata							
X	Y	Model_Top				A		
X 764761.994	Y 2033794.011	Model_Top 95.126						
X 764761.994 764762.519	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997	Model_Top 95.126 105.019				<u>^</u>		
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.043	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.043 764763.568	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982 2033679.967	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.043 764763.568 764801.257	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982 2033679.967 2033718.51	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.043 764763.568 764801.257 764801.781	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982 2033679.967 2033718.51 2033680.494	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.568 764801.257 764801.257 764801.781 764838.422	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982 2033679.967 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033795.066	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755 87.95				î		
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.568 764801.257 764801.257 764801.781 764838.422 764838.947	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982 2033679.967 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033795.066 2033757.051	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755 87.95 92.274						
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.043 764763.568 764801.257 764801.781 764838.422 764838.947 764876.636	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033717.982 2033679.967 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033795.066 2033757.051 2033795.593	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755 87.95 92.274 83.579				î		
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764763.043 764763.688 764801.257 764801.781 764881.781 764838.422 764838.947 764876.636 764877.16	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 203376.524 2033717.982 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033795.061 2033795.593 2033757.579	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755 87.95 92.274 83.579 85.705				î		
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.043 764763.568 764801.257 764801.781 764838.422 764838.494 764876.636 764877.16 764839.471	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 203376.524 2033717.982 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033795.066 2033795.593 2033757.579 2033719.037	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.682 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755 87.95 92.274 83.579 85.705 99.821				Ô		
X 764761.994 764762.519 764800.208 764800.732 764763.568 764801.257 764801.257 764801.257 764801.251 764838.422 764838.947 764839.471 2023	Y 2033794.011 2033755.927 2033756.524 2033756.524 2033718.51 2033679.967 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033757.051 2033757.052 2033757.579 2033719.037 Rows	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.882 99.731 112.975 108.139 116.755 87.95 92.274 83.579 95.705 99.821 Open file 				*		
x 764761994 764782.519 764782.519 764783.043 764763.043 764763.568 764801.781 764801.781 764838.422 764838.422 764838.427 764876.636 764877.16 764839.471 2023 ♣	Y 2033794.011 2033755.997 2033794.538 2033756.524 2033679.967 2033718.51 2033680.494 2033795.066 2033757.051 2033795.593 2033757.579 2033719.037 Rows	Model_Top 95.126 105.019 91.882 99.731 112.975 120.495 108.139 116.755 87.95 92.274 83.579 85.705 99.821 № Open file	? H	elp	ОК	× Cancel		

Import Points dialog box with settings and data

To test that the data were imported correctly, create a grid covering the entire image and use ModelMuse to create contours of the Model_Top data set as explained in the following steps. Then, compare those elevations to the ones in the background image.

1. Create a polygon object that roughly matches the area of the background image. Use it to specify a grid size of 10 as shown below. Click *OK*.

Object Properties Properties Data Sets M	ODFLOW Features Vertices Commen	ts/Captions	
Evaluated at © Cells C C Name Image_Outline P Duplicate cells allowed P Use to set grid cell size Grid cell size Color object line Color object line Color object interior P Set values of enclosed Set values of cells by in Number of Zomulas C Zero C One	Cell corners	Object information (not ec Object length [6733.40654749819 Object area [2700290.04956055 Object order [2025	litable)
Z-coordinate	0		Edit F()
Higher Z-coordinate	0		Edit F()
Lower Z-coordinate	0		Edit F()
		? Help ✓ ОК	X Cancel

Setting grid cell size

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

- 2. Select *Grid* | *Generate Grid*. Keep all the default settings and click OK.
- 3. Select View | show or Hide 2D Grid | Show Exterior.
- 4. The vertical exaggeration is too high so select *View* | *Vertical Exaggeration*... and click the *Default* and *OK* buttons.
- 5. Select *Data Data Visualization* and select *Contour Data* as shown below. Then select the Model_Top data set, set the contour interval to 5 and click *Apply*. Compare the contours generated by ModelMuse with those embedded in the background image. The contours should be similar but will not be identical.

🐉 Data Visualization		-		\times
Color Grid	Selection Filters Legend			
Contour Data MODPATH Pathlines MODPATH End Points MODPATH Time Series Head Observation Results PEST Observation Results SFR Stream Links	Data set Model_Top Data set comment (read only) Specify contours 5	Conto	contour ur Inter	′s val
STR Stream Links SWR Reach Connections SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA and MODF Cross Sections	Method Image: Control of the sector of t	ntours abel font ng (pixel) om mes		A
<>	Color adiustment □ Log transform ? Help ✓ Apply		<u>C</u> lose	

Contouring the top elevation

Importing Image Containing Domain Outline

Import another background image from the file named "siteswalluvium.png." This image covers a larger area and has a higher resolution. It contains an outline of the extent of the alluvium. Use the extent of the alluvium as the outline of model area. The image contains the locations of a number of boreholes and other features. The coordinates of these features are in SiteInformation.xlsx. They need to be converted to UTM coordinates.

1. Open SiteInformation_T1.xlsx and convert all the coordinates to UTM coordinates.

2. Select *File* | *Import* | *Image* and select the siteswalluvium.png. Click *OK* in the Information dialog box that appears. Enlarge the Import Image window so you can view a larger area. In the image, sequentially click on the locations of several of the boreholes or wells. Enter the coordinates from the SiteInformation.xlsx spreadsheet. Some useful boreholes to pick include BH-5, BH-10, BH-6, and BH-1. (The locations on the image are only approximate. For example, well TW2 is

located northeast of well TW4 according to it's coordinates but is shown as being northwest or well TW4 in the image. The coordinates are believed to be more accurate than the image.)

3. Click OK.

Create a New Grid of Just the Area Covered by Alluvium

1. Either delete the object that was previously used to specify the domain outline or edit it in the Object Properties dialog box and uncheck the check box for specifying the grid size.

2. Create a new polygon object by tracing the orange line that represents the edge of the alluvium in siteswalluvium.png. In the Object Properties dialog box, check the *Use to set grid cell size* box and set the grid cell size to 10. Click *OK* to close the dialog box.

3. Select *Grid* | *Generate Grid* to create a new grid.

Check the Active Area of the Grid

By default, all the cells inside the domain outline will be active.

• To check that the active cells have been specified correctly, select *View* | *Show* or *Hide 2D Grid* | *Show Active*.

If the active area needed to be adjusted, it could be done by using objects to specify values for the data set named "Active."

Other Options

1. Make the aquifer an unconfined aquifer by changing the value of the Cell_Type data set. The Comment in the Data Sets dialog box indicates that if Cell_Type is 0, the cell thickness is zero and if it is greater than zero the cell thickness is calculated. This can be used to determine an appropriate value for Cell_Type.

2. Set the units of the model to meters and days in the *Model*|*MODFLOW Options* dialog box.

3. Set the initial head to the elevation of the top of the aquifer, using the Data Sets dialog box.

Specifying the Elevation of the Aquifer Bottom

SiteInformation.xlsx contains data on the borehole refusal depth for the boreholes and wells. This will be assumed to be the bottom of the alluvial aquifer. The wells also have data on land surface elevation. These data will be imported and used to compute the elevation of the bottom of the alluvial aquifer.

1. First, define a data set for the borehole depth. Select *Data Edit Data Sets* and click the *Add* button. Change the name of the new data set to "Borehole_Depth."

2. Now import the borehole depths and the surface elevation for the wells as shown below. Select *File Import Points*... and check the boxes for the "Model_Top"

and "Borehole_Depth". Also check the boxes for "Set values of intersected cells" and "Set values of cells by interpolation". Specify the name of the object to be imported (the Root name) as "TestWells." On the Data tab, copy and paste the coordinates of the well, the land surface in meters (as Model_Top) and the borehole refusal depth in meters. Click *OK*. There will be a warning that interpolation is not used on one of the data sets. In this case, the Borehole_Depth data set does not use interpolation. However, it will not be a problem so choose *Yes* in the dialog box. The data points will be interpolated for the "Model_Top" data set.

Import Points		- 🗆 ×
Controls Data		
Data sets Model_Top Aquifer_Bottom Borehole_Depth	Evaluated at © Cells © Cell corners -Number of Z formulas	Ciew direction Cieve Top Cieve Front Cieve Side
		⊂ Two
	□ Specify column and re □ Specify layer instead	ow instead of X and Y of elevation
	 Set values of intersection 	ted cells
	Set values of cells by	interpolation
	TestWells	Root name
	 ✓ Import as a single obj ✓ Make objects visible Features 	ect with multiple sections
	none	T
	none	 Parameter
	? <u> </u>	elp VOK X Cancel

Import Points dialog box

3. Repeat these import steps for the boreholes but only import the borehole depth. Do not check the box for "Set values of cells by interpolation." During or after importing the data, change the name of the new object to have the root name "Boreholes."

4. Calculate the elevation of the aquifer bottom as Model_Top - Borehole_Depth. However, do not use a default formula. Instead, calculate the value at each well and borehole and interpolate between those values. First, in the Data Sets dialog box, specify the interpolation method of the Aquifer_Bottom data set as Natural Neighbor.

5. Next, change the values of both the TestWells and Boreholes objects so that they set the value of the aquifer bottom. Select both the TestWells and Boreholes objects. To select more than one object, click on the first one in the top view of the model to select it. Then hold down the shift key on the keyboard and double-click the other object.

1. In the Object Properties dialog box, the names of the objects will be displayed as shown below. Make sure that the correct objects are being edited. Also note

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

that the "Set values of cells by interpolation" is grayed. That is because it is specified differently for the two objects. For the Wells object it would be checked and for the Boreholes object it would be unchecked. Check the "Set values of cells by interpolation" box.

🔀 Object Properties		-	
Properties Data Sets MO	DFLOW Features Comments/Caption	s	
Evaluated at Cells	Il corners	Names of selected object	s
Name		lestWells_1 Boreholes_1	^
Duplicate cells allowed	0 Quadtree refinement		
Use to set grid cell size			
Grid cell size	100		
Color object line	Set object line color	-	
Color object interior	Set object fill color		
 Set values of enclosed of Set values of intersected 	cells Minimum fraction		~
Set values of cells by inter-	erpolation 0	<	>
Number of Z formulas © Zero © One	C Two		
Z-coordinate	(Model_Top + Aquifer_Bottom) / 2.		Edit F()
Higher Z-coordinate	Model_Top		Edit F()
Lower Z-coordinate	Aquifer_Bottom		Edit F()
		? Help	× Can

Setting values of cells by interpolation

6. On the Data tab, check the box for the Aquifer bottom data set as shown below. Then set its formula to "Model_Top - Borehole_Depth." Note that the "Model_Top" checkbox is grayed. Be sure it remains gray. Click *OK* to close the "Object Properties" dialog box. At this point the "Model_Top" and "Aquifer_Bottom" should both be defined.

😕 Object Properties		- 🗆 ×
Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Fea	tures Comments/Captions	
Required	Formula for "Aquifer_Bottom"	data set Edit F()
 ⇒ Zayer Definition ⇒ Model Top ⇒ Aquifer Bottom ⇒ User Defined ⇒ Borehole_Depth 	Model_Top - Borehole_Depth	
Layer elevations can only be specified using objects with Zero Z formulas.	Data set comment	Associated model data MODFLOW DIS: BOTM
PHAST-style interpolation		
C Use PHAST-style interpolation	Interpolation dir ୧୦୦୦	C Z C Mix
Distance 1 0 Value 1	0 Mixture formula	
Distance 2 1 Value 2	1	Edit F()
		? Help ✓ OK X Cancel

Calculating aquifer bottom

7. Experiment with coloring or contouring the grid with the "Model_Top" and then with the "Aquifer_Bottom" data set to make sure the values seem reasonable in the active area of the model.

It is worthwhile reviewing how the aquifer bottom is calculated. The calculation takes place in several steps.

First, the "Model_Top" data set is calculated. The first step is to interpolate between the XYZ data of the ground surface that was imported and the elevations of the well tops. The "TestWells" object sets values of cells intersected by the well locations, so in those cells the interpolated value is overridden by the value specified in the object. This is likely to be similar to but not identical to the interpolated value.

Second, the value of the "Borehole_Depth" data set is calculated. No interpolation method has been assigned to that data set, so the default formula is used to assign a value of 0 to all the cells. Then the values in the "TestWells" and "Borehole objects" will be assigned to the cells intersected by those objects.

Next, for each point in the "TestWells" and "Boreholes objects", the value of the "Model_Top - Borehole_Depth" is calculated. The "Boreholes object" does not set the value of "Model_Top" so the value it uses in the equation will be an interpolated value. Because the aquifer bottom data set has an interpolator assigned, and because both the Wells and "Boreholes objects" set values of cells by interpolation, the values for each well and borehole point will be interpolated to define values for every cell. Finally, because the "TestWells" and "Boreholes objects" also set values of intersected cells, the values of cells intersected by the objects will be reset by them, so the values assigned to intersected cells might be slightly different from the interpolated values.

Assigning Hydraulic Conductivity

Hydraulic conductivity is assigned in much the same way as elevations are assigned. The one difference is that interpolation cannot be used to assign values to 3D data sets. However, a formula can be used in a 3D data set to link to a 2D data set in which interpolation is allowed and that is described by the following steps.

1. Define a data set named "Kx_2D" and set its interpolation method to Natural Neighbor.

2. Slug tests were used to estimate the hydraulic conductivity in the wells. Slug test results are provided in the SiteInformation_T1.xlsx spreadsheet available for download with this book and are also tabulated in the final section of this exercise, *Site Information for Exercise* 8. Import that information and use it to specify the Kx_2D data set by interpolation.

3. Next, select *Data Edit Data Sets*... and set the formula for the Kx data set to Kx_2D.

Define River Boundary

The river is an important boundary condition for this model. Assume the river bed sediments have the same hydraulic conductivity as the aquifer and the head in the river varies gradually from a higher value in the south to a lower value in the north. Use the elevation of the top of the model to pick a few elevation points along the river and interpolate the elevations between those points along the length of the river as described

below.

1. Activate the River package in the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box.

2. Select *Data* | *Show Grid or Mesh Values* and use the All Data Sets tab to display values of the Model_Top data set. Alternatively, you could create contour lines of the Model_Top data set.

2	Grid o	r Mesh Value	_	
Current Data	All Data Sets	Model_Top Value 66.0323643370843 Explanation set via Natural Neighbor.		XT3D Data
—		Opdate	2 Help	
			: Tielb	

Grid or Mesh Values dialog box

3. Draw a polyline object along the river. You may need to display the background image to see where the river is. For now, do not use the polyline object to set the values of any data sets or Model Features. Be sure to put a vertex near where each River Stage site in the image is located and near the two temporary gages. Close the Object Properties dialog box when you are done without using it to assign any values.

4. After creating the object, select *Object* | *Edit* | *Vertex Values*. Then double-click on one of the vertices of the object that is at one of the temporary or permanent river stage sites. The Vertex Values dialog box will appear. Enter "RiverHead" as the key. For the value, enter the river stage value for that site from the Water levels table (Table 4¹) in the final section of Exercise 8 *Site Information for Exercise* 8. Repeat this for several more points along the length of the river. It may be necessary to zoom in to read the site identifier and the vertices may need to be

moved closer to the stage-measurement site. You may also select additional points along the river and assign values based on the top of the model. (See step 2.)

<u>®</u> Vertex Val	ues			_		\times	
Key	Value						
RiverHead	20.51						
Add	<u>? H</u>	elp	√ ()K	×	Cancel	

Vertex Values dialog box

5. Use *Navigation* | *Measure* to measure the width of the river. Then create a global variable named RiverWidth that has the width of the river as its value.

Select Object | Select Objects and double-click on the river object. In the Object 6. Properties dialog box, under the MODFLOW Features tab, activate the River package. Enter the starting and ending times for the model (-1 and 0 for this steadystate simulation) and then under "River Stage," click on the F() button to open the Formula Editor. Locate the InterpolatedVertexValue function, select it, and then click *Function help* to read about what the InterpolatedVertexValue function does. You have already entered vertex values associated with "RiverHead." So now use the InterpolatedVertexValue function to assign values of the River Stage (see figure below). From the information provided, the river is well incised into the alluvium, so the bottom of the river bed can be set using the information on the cross-section, provided in the final section of this exercise, Site Information for Exercise 8, as 10 meters below the MODEL_TOP or 10 meters above the bottom. Alternatively, it could be set to 1 meter below the river stage. Then set the conductance interpretation to "Calculated" and assume the river bed thickness is 1 meter so the conductance per unit length of the river bed sediments will be the hydraulic conductivity times the river width.



Assigning river head with the InterpolatedVertexValue function

🔀 Object Properties						-	- [×
Properties Data Sets	MODFLOW Features V	ertices \	Vertex Values	Comments/Captions					
RIV: River package	e		RI	V: River package					
				Formula					
	Starting time	Ending time		River stage	Conducta per unit ler area	ance ngth or 1	River	botto	om
	PEST Modifier		none		none		none	_	
	Modification Method		Add		Multiply		Add		
	-1	0	InterpolatedV	/ertexValue("RiverHead")	Kx * River\	Width	Model	_Тор	- 10
	1 ♣ Number of t	imes			·	E Insei	t X	<u>D</u> ele	te
	Conductance interpr	etation	Calculated	T					
Com	vert time units			<u>? I</u>	lelp	🗸 ок	×	Car	ncel

Assignment of River Properties

7. At this point, enough information has been specified to conduct a steady-state model run. Run the model to see if the simulated water levels seem reasonable. Given the variability in how one sets the river bottom and river stage, and the elevations of some areas of the model, the input may require corrections.

Richard B. Winston

If the Errors and Warnings dialog box appears, check to see if the inputs require correction. Use ListingAnalyst to examine the ".lst" file. Did the model converge? Does the VOLUMETRIC BUDGET show that mass balance is preserved? If everything seems OK, save the ModelMuse file with the name "AlluvialSS." The SS indicates that this is a steady-state model.

Define Observations

1. Next use ModelMuse to specify head observations. Start by saving the model as AlluvialSSHOB. Entering the Observed Water Levels (heads) in Model Muse facilitates plotting residuals. A residual is an observed minus a simulated value. In this case, a difference in water levels. The data downloaded for this problem includes a Shapefile containing the observed heads and river stages for the model area.

Observed water levels						
Identifier	Water level altitude (meters)					
TW-1	19.33					
TW-2	19.37					
TW-3	19.38					
TW-4	19.40					
TW-5	19.38					
TW-6	19.36					
TW-7	19.42					
TW-8	19.46					
RS-2	20.12					
RS-3	19.81					
RS-4	19.46					
RS-5	19.45					
RS-6	19.16					
RS-7	19.16					
SG50036400	18.90					
SG50036200	20.51					

2. First, turn on Observation Utility in the *Model* |*MODFLOW Packages and Programs* dialog box.

3. ModelMuse has a utility program that works with the parameter estimation program PEST. It can be used to extract simulated values corresponding to the locations and times of the observed values. To use this utility program, PEST must be activated in ModelMuse even though we will not use the PEST software. To activate PEST, select *Model PEST Properties* and change the PEST Status to *Only define Observations*.

4. Select *File Import Shapefile* and select *HeadObs.shp*. Check *Set values of intersected cells*. On the Features tab, select the Observation utility. Use

115

"OBSNAME" for the observation name in both locations. Select *Head* as the observation type. Set the Observation time to 0, the Observed value to HOB, and the Observation weight to 1. Multilayer should be set to False.

🐉 Import Shapefile - C:\ModelingTools\ModelMuse\class\Kuniansky 2013\New folder\HeadObs.shp 🛛 🗌 🗙									
Options 1 Options 2 CSV (Optional) Data Features Coordinate Conversion									
OBS: Observation	Utility	-	Feature cl	hoice	1	Numb	er of ti	mes	
Observation name	Observation type	Observation time	Observed value	Observation weight	n l				
OBSNAME	Head	0	HOB	1 .	·				
Observation name	e OBSNAME	•							
Drawdown obs	ervation (drawdow	n)	Boundary	flow observa	ations				
Groundwater fle Types of flow obsection Nearest horizon All horizontal ne Overlying neight Underlying neight	ow observation (flor ervation ntal neighbor eighbors nbor ghbor	w-ja-face)	CHD flo	ows ows ows ows ows ows ows					
False	✓ Multila	ayer							
Number of shapes	= 16			? <u>H</u> elp	-	ок	×	Cance	3I

Assigning a head observation

5. Run the model again. The utility program MF6ObsExtractor runs after MODFLOW finishes running. It extracts simulated values at the observation locations for comparison with the observed values. These can be plotted using ModelMuse. Select *Data Data Visualization* and select *PEST Observation Results*. In the Browse dialog box where the file can be selected, change "files of type" to "Result files" in order to see the file with the extension MF6Values. Select the file with the extension MF6Values.

Data Visualization		X					
Color Grid Contour Data	Controls Values (read only) Legend Graph						
MODPATH Patnines MODPATH End Points MODPATH Time Series	WodelMuse\class\Kuniansky 2013\NewModelSS3_HOB.Mf6Values"						
Head Observation Results PEST Observation Results	Filters						
SFR Stream Links STR Stream Links	Limit to: 0	Limit to: 0					
SWR Reach Connections SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA and MODF	Minimum time □ Limit to: 0	Maximum time □ Limit to: 0					
Cross Sections	Minimum weighted residual	Maximum weighted residual					
	Color for negative residuals (Simulated head too high)	Color for positive residuals (Simulated head too low)					
	20 A Maximum syn	nbol size (pixels)					
< >>	Root Mean Square Weighted R	esidual = 0.0674266734587143					
		? <u>H</u> elp ✓ Apply Sciose					

Importing simulated values

6. When you click on *Apply*, the residuals will be displayed in the top view of the model.



Spatial plot of residuals

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

7. Experiment with the tabs to see graphs of residuals or simulated values versus observed values. The values displayed in the graph may differ slightly depending on how you defined the domain outline.



Simulated Values and Residual Values versus Observed Values in the Data Visualization dialog box

8. Try to improve the model fit by adjusting the hydraulic conductivity distribution. You can do that by adding new objects that define the hydraulic conductivity, removing existing objects, or editing values assigned using existing objects.

Setting up Transient Model to Simulate Initial Condition and Step Drawdown Test

Water levels were collected shortly before the step-drawdown test along with the river stage values during a period when there was not much rain and the river flow and stage were thought to be steady throughout the days before, during, and after the step-drawdown test. Pressure transducers were installed in TW-6, TW-7, and TW-2 and removed at 5pm the next day. The pumping rates from TW-4 are shown in the following table. The transient model will use storage parameters, so set Specific yield to 0.05 for this aquifer.

Timing and Rates of Pumped well TW-4							
Rate meter ³ /day							
-1000							
-1500							
-2000							
0							

1. Before setting up transient stress periods with pumping, open AlluviumSS and save this as "AlluviumTR." *Do not start with the ModelMuse file that has head observations.*

2. Go to *Model MODFLOW Time* menu, to add the required stress periods. Include a steady-state initial period and then add 3 transient pumping periods and a transient period when the pump turns off for a day for a total of 5 stress periods. Calculate the elapsed time in days for the three pumping periods. The length of the last stress period is 1 day. Hint: time zero is the start of the first pumping period and three hours equals 0.125 days. Time step input will be entered later in the exercise.

3. Remember to set the start and end time for the River feature, so it is active for the entire simulation. Double click on that object to bring up the Object Properties window; then set start time for River to -1 and end time to the last total elapsed time (Hint: 1.375).

4. Zoom into the area with wells TW-2 and TW-4, they may be in the same cell and if not will certainly be in neighboring cells (this depends on the grid you set up). Ideally, there should be several cells separating the pumping well and the observation well. To achieve this, locally refine the grid around these two wells. To do this, create a rectangle or polygon object surrounding the cells near TW-2 and TW-4 and assign the Quadtree refinement level a value of 4. Then select *Grid*|*Switch to DISV* to switch to Discretization with vertices. (As mentioned previously, the locations of the wells in the model are based on their coordinates rather their locations shown on sitealluvium.png.)





5. Activate the Well package and create a point object at the location of TW-4 (Test well 4). Name it "PumpingWell." Open it in the Object Properties dialog box and go to the MODFLOW features tab. Select the Well package and enter the pumping rates for each stress period as illustrated below. No pumping rates need to be defined for the steady-state stress period or the last stress period. If you wish, you can enter a pumping rate of zero for those stress periods.

120

AN"							
Object Properties					-		\times
Properties Data Sets MO	DFLOW Features Ve	ertices	Comments/(Captions			
RIV: River package			WEL: Wel	l package			
WEL: Well package							
			Formula				
	Starting time	Ending time	Pumping rate				
	PEST Modifier						
	Modification Method		Multiply				
(0 125	-1000				
	0.125	0.25	-1500				
	0.25	0.375	-2000	J			
	3 🝨 Number of tir	nes			.,	× <u>D</u> ele	te
	Pumping rate interpre	etation	Direct	•			
						Tabfile	è
Convert	time units			7 Help	🖌 ОК	× Car	
				. <u>T</u> cib			

Pumping rates for well test

6. A few solver variables need to be changed to achieve a satisfactory solution with the new model. In the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box, Select the IMS solver and override the default linear acceleration method to specify BICGSTAB. In addition, reduce *Outer DVCLOSE* and *Inner DVCLOSE* to 0.0001 and 0.00001 respectively.

Next, activate PEST observations and specify the head observations at TW-2, TW6, and TW-7 to see if the model is reasonable again before moving to the second part of the exercise. The second part involves determining a location where a production well can pump 1000 m³/day, in an area that does not get inundated, and has at least 60 days of time for water to travel from the river to the well.

The spreadsheet TR_WL_Obs.xlsx has the transient water level altitudes provided by the drilling company in the format required for reading into ModelMuse to create the HOB file in MODFLOW-2005.

1. Open *Model* | *MODFLOW Packages and Programs,* expand *Observations* and check *OBS: Observation Utility* to activate it.

2. Open *Model* | *PEST Properties* and set the PEST status "only define observations."

3. Create point objects for each of the test wells, enter the observed values for each well, and specify the associated head observations. The user can copy the times and values from the spreadsheet and paste them into the calibration tab for each observation location. The values in the other columns can copied from a spreadsheet in the same way but the user must create those columns in the spreadsheet themselves. Similarly, the user can copy the coordinates of the observation location and paste them into the vertices tab of the Object Properties dialog box.

4. Go back to the *Model MODFLOW Time* dialog box and modify the number of time steps in each stress period so that time step sizes will be similar to, or smaller than, the difference in time between observations. This ensures that there will be simulated values close in time to the observed values.

5. Run MODFLOW. In the *Data Data Visualization* dialog box import the MF6Values file. In general with pump tests, the model does not duplicate the observations exactly.

6. Try to obtain a better fit to the data by adjusting K in the ModelMuse file containing the slug test observations for the points at TW-4 and TW-2. Do not spend too much time on this if you have limited time and want to be sure to complete Phase 2. If you can obtain a better fit, using modified K values, you can modify the steady-state version of the model to incorporate the updated K values.



The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

122

There is some bias in the fit to the pump test in the model version used to create these graphs, but the RMS of 0.27 is acceptable for continuing the exercise

Solution to Exercise 8.1

Exercise 8.2

Determining an Appropriate Location for a Production Well

Set up MODPATH

1. Open the steady state model and save it as "AlluvialSS_MPath."

2. Activate MODPATH and the Well package in the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box.

3. For MODPATH, choose *Pathlines*, *Backwards* particle tracking, *Use zone arrays*, StopZone = 2, and *Stop at termination points*.

MODFLOW Packages and Pro	grams	-		×
E Flow Packages	MODPATH			
Boundary conditions	Comments			
Specified flux				^
RCH: Rechar				
WEL: Well pa				\sim
E Solvers	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output time	s		
Subsidence Observations	Modpath version Output mode (SimulationType)	Time serie	00	
B Rost processors	Pathines C	Pathlines	+ Time s	series
	Top face Treatment of evapotranspiration (IEV	ITP)		
Groundwater Transpo	Top face Treatment of recharge (IRCHTP)			
	Reference Vise zone arrays (ZoneArrayOption) Reference Reference	nce time to enceTime)	or simula	tion
	Which endpoints should be recorded?			
	All			
	Zone in which to stop particles (StopZone)			
	Treatment of weak sinks (WeakSinkOption)	a direction		
	Pass through	ngDirection	n)	
	0 Weak sink fractional threshold Backw	ard	•	
< >				
	? Help	ок	× Ca	ncel
MODFLOW Packages and Prog	rams	-		×
○ NPF: Node Pt ^	MODPATH			
HFB: Horizont	Comments			
Boundary condition				^
Specified head				
- RCH: Rech				\vee
WEL: Well	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output time	s		
Head-dependen DDN: Drain	Treatment of weak sources (WeakSourceOption) Treatment	tment of E	TS flows	5
- ETS: Evap	Pass through (1) - Top	face	•	
- 🗆 GHB: Gene	End of particle tracking (StopOption) Trea	tment of U	ZF flows	;
- CLAK: Lake	Stop at termination points (steady-state) (2)	face	•	
- MVR: Wate	Maximum tracking time (StonTime)	tment of M	INW2 flo	WS
RIV: River	Budget checking (BudgetOutputOption)	rnal sink	•	
- SFR: MOD	None (1)	tment of R	eservoir	flows
	Top	face	•	
⊞ Subsidence	Trea	tment of S	FR flows	5
Observations	Advection observations	face	•	
H Post processors	(AdvectiveObservationsOption) Trea	tment of L	ake flow	s
	None (1) Top	face	•	
MT3DMS or MT3D *				
	2 Hala	OK	× Co	ncol
	7 Нер	UK	× Ca	ncei

MODPATH options

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

4. The river is the source of water for the well; so set the river's Modpath_Zone data set to 2.

5. Activate the Well Package. Create a point object and use it to define a well with a withdrawal rate of -1000. Also have it be the starting point for the MODPATH particles. Define several particles on each lateral face of the cell. It would be reasonable to start with the well near TW-4. If that site proves unsatisfactory, then move the well and try again.

Object Properties							×
roperties Data Sets M	ODFLOW Features	Vertices C	omments/Ca	ptions			
RIV: River package	۱		WEL: Well p	ackage			
WEL: Well package MODPATH	J						
			Formula				
	Starting time	Ending	Pumping				
	0	time	rate				
	DEST Modifier		2020				
	Modification Meth	hod	Multiply				
	-1	0	-1000				
	1 🔮 Number	of times			·E Insert	× Dele	ete
	Pumping rate inte	omrotation	Direct	-			
	Pumping rate inte	erpretation	Direct	<u> </u>			
						_1	
						Tabfil	e
					1		
Conve	rt time units			? Help	✓ OK	× Ca	ince
Conve Object Properties	rt time units	1		? Help	✓ OK	Ca	ince
Object Properties roperties Data Sets M □¬ RIV: River package □ WEL Well package ■ WDPATH	CODFLOW Features Flow into bound Horizontal fac cells (-1) Cleft (1) Front (3) Bottom (5)	Vertices C dary cell (IFAC ces next to ina Right (2) Back (4) Top (6)	comments/Ca CE) ctive	? Help	<u>- ок</u>	Ca	
Conve	CODFLOW Features Flow into bound C Horizontal fac cells (-1) C Left (1) Front (3) Bottom (5) V Initial particle	Vertices C dary cell (IFAC ces next to ina Right (2) Back (4) Top (6)	comments/Ca CE) cctive	? Help	- -	Ca	:::
Conve Object Properties roperties Data Sets M -T RIV: River package 	At time units	Vertices C dary cell (IFAC ces next to ina Right (2) Back (4) Top (6) e blacement - Botto From Inter 4 € 1 €	ace F tace F tace F al Number of ro Vumber of ro Vumber of ro	? Нер aptions Right face Back face Top face wws in wws in Y wws in Z	✓ OK	Ca	ince S
Object Properties roperties Data Sets M -⊤ RIV: River package - WEI: Well package MODPATH	At time units	Vertices C dary cell (IFAC ces next to ina Right (2) Back (4) Top (6) e placement Fron Fon Inter 4 € 1 €	ace tace tace tace mal Number of roc Number of roc tirection Number of roc direction Number of roc direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction direction	? <u>Help</u> aptions	✓ OK	ase ting) te	
Object Properties roperties Data Sets M 	At time units	Vertices C dary cell (IFAC ces next to ina Right (2) Back (4) Top (6) Placement Placement Inter 4 1 1	ace F tace F tace F undate f Aumber of ro direction Sumber of ro direction	? Help	✓ ОК	ase ing) ie	2
Object Properties roperties Data Sets M 	At time units	Vertices C dary cell (IFAC ces next to ina Right (2) Back (4) Top (6) e blacement - Botto Inter 4 € 1 €	ace F tace f tace f umber of ro vumber of ro direction direction	? <u>Help</u> aptions	✓ OK	Count	ince >

Point object specifying well and MODPATH starting locations

6. Remember to do a steady-state simulation, but with the pumping well.

7. Decide whether to add long-term recharge to see how the addition of recharge affects particle movement if you have time.

8. Select *Data Edit Datasets* and then select the Porosity data set. You will see that the default porosity is 0.25. Experiment with different porosity values to explore how they affect travel time.

Run the Model and Analyze results

Run the model using *File* | *Export MODFLOW 6 Input Files* and check the listing file to make sure that there is some flow to the well. If the cell containing the well went dry, the flow to the well will be zero. If that happens, try moving the well to a different location. Make sure the tested locations are in the region that will not be frequently flooded.

VOLUME BUDGET FOR ENTIRE	MODEL AT END O	F TIME STEP 1, STRESS	PERIOD 1
CUMULATIVE VOLUME	L**3 RA -	TES FOR THIS TIME STEP	L**3/T
IN:		IN:	
WEL = RIV =	0.0000 1297.6639	WEL = RIV =	0.0000 1297.6639
TOTAL IN =	1297.6639	TOTAL IN =	1297.6639
OUT:		OUT:	
WEL = RIV =	1000.0000 297.7641	WEL = RIV =	1000.0000 297.7641
TOTAL OUT =	1297.7641	TOTAL OUT =	1297.7641
IN - OUT =	-0.1002	IN - OUT =	-0.1002
PERCENT DISCREPANCY =	-0.01	PERCENT DISCREPANCY =	-0.01

MODFLOW budget

Import the MODPATH Pathlines in the Data Visualization Window. Then use the Grid or Mesh Values dialog box to check the travel time from the well backwards to the river. If the travel time is too short, try moving the well to a different location.

	Data Visualization Color Grid Contour Data MODPATH Pathlines MODPATH Pathlines MODPATH Time Series Head Observation Results SFR Stream Links STR Stream Links STR Stream Links SWR Reach Connections SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA models) Cross Sections Color adjustment 0.60 € 1							ifer'Alluvia
😰 Grid or Mesh Value								
Γ	0	Þ	т		First	Last	os€	
	ŭn		ath	Number	15	15	15	
	ent	ata	line	X	765592.410552367	765948.222865037	76	
	Dat	Set		Y	2033522.50870675	2033026.51587784	20:	
	ω	ŝ		Z	-3.70955981870698	32.654157124071	6.9	
				X'	1893600.88441309	1893554.63441309	18!	
				Y'	1065655.30217906	1065046.63788269	10	
				Local Z	0.5	0.5	0.5	
				Time	0	427.763347883936	31.	
				Column	15	10	9	
				Row	37	98	56	
				Layer	1	1	1	
				Time step	1	1	1	
				Group	1	1	1	
				Athline L	ength 657.276702	021444	•	
? <u>H</u> elp								

Plotting pathlines

See what happens if the particles are removed from the well and instead placed in the river cells with forward tracking simulated. The river should not be defined as a stopping zone when tracking from the river.

Solution to Exercise 8.2

Return to where text links to Exercise 81

Site Information for Exercise 8

Geologic Setting

This is a small study area located on the north coast of Puerto Rico. Thick gravel floodplain alluvium is adjacent to the erosional channel cut by the Manati River (shown in yellow on the map below). The area of alluvium, where the city has permission to install a well, is proposed on the east side of the alluvium within the black rectangle.



Surface geologic map showing quaternary alluvial deposit to be used to filter river water (Torres-Gonzales and others, 2002).

Cross-section A-A' is shown in the following image. The bedrock, which is limestone and dolomite, has low hydraulic conductivity. The gravels closest to the current river channel are coarsest and contain less fine material than the rest of the alluvium. Typically, gravel porosity ranges from 0.2 to 0.35 and hydraulic conductivity ranges from 1 to 40 m/day. The average land surface in the study area is 28 m above sea level (local vertical datum) and on average the base of the alluvium is about 0 m relative to the local sea level datum as shown in the cross section.



Cross section A-A' for Exercise 8. Units of length and altitude are in feet, showing average stage of river (Torres-Gonzales and others, 2002). 1 foot = 0.3048 meters.

Hydrology of Site

Puerto Rico has a humid tropical climate. The study area is approximately 18 degrees north of the equator. Thus, rainfall and temperature do not have seasonal signatures, with the exception of large rain events of short duration from hurricanes and tropical storms. Annual rainfall is typically 1549 mm and the estimated average net recharge per year is 154.9 mm or 0.0004245 m/day.

The river has fairly steady flow and stage except during the large storms as shown in the image below.



Mean monthly discharge at U.S. Geological Survey stream-gaging stations 50035000 and 50038100 for 1997 and 1998 water years (Torres-Gonzales and others, 2002). Also shown are the highest and lowest mean monthly discharge, as well as the long-term mean. The approximate locations of gaging stations 50035000 and 50038100 are shown in the map of the study area. Most of the 1997 and the first half of the 1998 water year were drier than normal. 1 cubic foot per second = 2446.6 cubic meters per day.

The extent of a significant flood event is shown in the image below indicating areas near the river that are periodically inundated during large storms.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.



Extent of significant flooding event, location of piezometers, and location of selected sampling sites within the Río Grande de Manatí valley, Río Arriba Saliente area, Puerto Rico (Torres-Gonzales et al., 2002).
Aerial Photograph of Data Locations

In April and May of 1998 exploratory data were collected using a cone penetrometer to establish depth to bedrock. The refusal depth indicates the bottom of the alluvial gravel (BH-# for borehole identifier), some of these points were completed with wells (TW-#, for well identifier). The image below shows the locations of data collection sites and the following table provides geographic coordinates in WGS84 and other site information for wells and boreholes. Eight wells were completed and slug tests at the wells indicate horizontal conductivity ranges from 14 to 32 m/day.



Location of data collection sites (image is testsites.jpg).

Data Locations and Values

Tables of data locations and values follow.

Longitude (WGS84)	Latitude (WGS84)	ldenti- fier	Site type	CPT refusal meters	Well depth meters	Case diam cm	Screen below surface meters	Altitude land surface meters	K _h in meter/day from slug tests
-66.485488	18.375000	TW-1	Well - Active	20	13	10	10 to 13	28.54	16
-66.484202	18.373961	TW-2	Well - Active	19	16	10	13 to 16	29.11	20
-66.483483	18.372057	TW-3	Well - Active	22	13	10	10 to 13	29.61	14
-66.484232	18.373941	TW-4	Well - Active	34	19	10	7 to 19	29.28	20
-66.484570	18.370998	TW-8	Well - Active	25	12	5	9 to 12	28.40	35
-66.484035	18.373109	TW-7	Well - Active	28	12	5	9 to 12	29.06	25
-66.485138	18.373811	TW-6	Well - Active	26	12	5	9 to 12	28.64	34
-66.484722	18.372940	TW-5	Well - Active	28	12	10	9 to 12	29.28	32
-66.483021	18.366195	BH-1	borehole	28					
-66.484321	18.368539	BH-2	borehole	29					
-66.485824	18.371597	BH-3	borehole	27					
-66.486130	18.375000	BH-4	borehole	30					
-66.487098	18.376744	BH-5	borehole	27					
-66.482384	18.367087	BH-6	borehole	22					
-66.482792	18.367036	BH-7	borehole	26					
-66.482970	18.372107	BH-8	borehole	23					
-66.484983	18.374400	BH-9	borehole	30					
-66.488169	18.376413	BH-10	borehole	28					
-66.485060	18.371648	BH-11	borehole	27					
-66.483751	18.372524	BH-12	borehole	28					
-66.486385	18.375903	BH-13	borehole	30					
-66.485060	18.370221	BH-14	borehole	31					
-66.483805	18.367053	RS-1	river stage site						
-66.484645	18.368557	RS-2	river stage site						
-66.485152	18.369677	RS-3	river stage site						
-66.485835	18.371024	RS-4	river stage site						
-66.486272	18.373141	RS-5	river stage site						
-66.486325	18.373770	RS-6	river stage site						
-66.486464	18.375000	RS-7	river stage site						
-66.486744	18.375992	SG5003 6400	Stream Gage						
-66.482693	18.365691	SG5003 6200	Stream Gage						

Data and information on sites where data were collected

On 28 May of 1998, water level and river stage data were collected at the site. Shortly thereafter, a step-drawdown test was conducted. When interpreting the step drawdown test, it was assumed that the initial water levels had not changed. Data from the testing are shown in the following table.

N	Water levels in wells and at river sites									
Identifier	Water level elevation immediately									
TW-1	19.33									
TW-2	19.37									
TW-3	19.38									
TW-4	19.40									
TW-5	19.38									
TW-6	19.36									
TW-7	19.42									
TW-8	19.46									
RS-2	20.12									
RS-3	19.81									
RS-4	19.46									
RS-5	19.45									
RS-6	19.16									
RS-7	19.16									
SG50036400	18.90									
SG50036200	20.51									

Water Levels in Wells and at River Sites

Step Test Pumping Rtaes for TW-4

For the step drawdown test, there were 3 pressure transducers and data loggers, which were used in wells TW-6, TW-7, and TW-2. TW-4 is close to TW-2 and is outside of the flood prone area. The step test was conducted to ensure that a 1,000 m³/day withdrawal rate is possible at the site. The drilling company provided drawdown and elapsed time from beginning of pumping for those 3 wells as illustrated in the following graph.

Step test pumping rates for TW-4						
Start time	Rate meter ³ /day					
8am	-1000					
11am	-1500					
2pm	-2000					

Drawdown Data at Observation Wells



Saturated Thickness Map

The aquifer has a saturated thickness ranging from 10 to 32 m as shown in the following contour map.



Saturated thickness in the study area before pumping test (2-meter contour interval).

Step Test Analysis Challenges

Analysis of this test using an unconfined aquifer solution with partially penetrating wells yielded aquifer transmissivity and storage parameters. Unfortunately, the aquifer geometry and boundary conditions violate some of the assumptions of the analytical solutions (radial symmetry, constant thickness of infinite extent, and nearby no flow and recharge boundaries). In fact, none of the available analytical solutions are appropriate for this setting. The drilling company fit the drawdown at TW-2 to the Cooper-Jacob Straight line method (Cooper and Jacob, 1946) and then plotted the result using the Theis method to see if the fit was reasonable. From this analysis, the transmissivity is about 210 m²/day and specific yield is about 0.03. If we assume the average saturated thickness of the aquifer is approximately 10 m in the test area (see map above), this results in a hydraulic conductivity of 20 m/day, which matches the slug test undertaken in TW-4.

Data Notes

The downloaded Digital Elevation Map (DEM) data are in the WGS84 datum (horizontal and vertical), the measured water level elevations are in the local Puerto Rico vertical datum and the tabulated latitude and longitude were estimated by eye for the WGS84 horizontal datum. Thus, for this Exercise, the DEM elevations are more than 5 meters too low, and the .xyz dataset from the ASTER GDEM v2 Worldwide Elevation Data was modified in the area of the alluvial aquifer to match the local Puerto Rico Datum. Additionally, the refusal depths were fabricated for this Exercise based on knowledge of the area in order to provide a realistic experience when developing the model. The step-test data were generated for this Exercise as were the slug test results.

Solution to Exercise 87

Return to where text links to Exercise 81

15 References

- Anderson, M., W. Woessner, and R. Hunt, 2015, Applied Groundwater Modeling. Academic Press, 630 pages.
- Cooper, H.H. and C.E. Jacob, 1946, A generalized graphical method for evaluating formation constants and summarizing well field history. Transactions, American Geophysical Union, volume 27, pages 526-534.
- Dahl, T.E. and G.J. Allord, 1996, History of wetlands in the conterminous United States, in National water summary on wetland resources. United States Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2425, 8 pages,

https://water.usgs.gov/nwsum/WSP2425/history.html 7.

- Harbaugh, A.W., 2005, MODFLOW-2005, The United States Geological Survey modular ground-water model—the Ground-Water Flow Process. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 6-A16, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A16</u>.
- Harbaugh, A.W., E.R. Banta, M.C. Hill, and M.G. McDonald, 2000, MODFLOW-2000, The United States Geological Survey Modular Ground-Water Model—User guide to modularization concepts and the Ground-Water Flow Process. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 2000–92, 121 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/ofr200092</u>.
- Harbaugh, A.W. and M.G. McDonald, 1996a, User's documentation for MODFLOW-96, an update to the United States Geological Survey modular finite-difference ground-water flow model. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 96-485, 56 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/ofr96485</u>.
- Harbaugh, A.W. and M.G. McDonald, 1996b, Programmer's documentation for MODFLOW-96, an update to the United States Geological Survey modular finite-difference ground-water flow model. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 96-486, 220 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/ofr96486</u>.
- Hill, M.C., E.R. Banta, A.W. Harbaugh, and E.R. Anderman, 2000, MODFLOW-2000, The United States Geological Survey modular ground-water model—User guide to the observation, sensitivity, and parameter-estimation processes and three post-processing programs. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 00-184, 210 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/ofr00184</u>.
- Hughes, J.D., C.D. Langevin, and E.R. Banta, 2017, Documentation for the MODFLOW-6 framework: United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A57, 40 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A57</u>.
- Hughes, J.D., S.A. Leake, D.L. Galloway, and J.T. White, 2022, Documentation for the Skeletal Storage, Compaction, and Subsidence (CSUB) Package of MODFLOW 6: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A62, 57 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A62</u>.
- Kuniansky, E. L. and W.R. Danskin, 2003, Models Gone Bad—Common Modeling Problems and How to Solve Them, *In* MODFLOW and More 2003: Understanding

through Modeling-Conference Proceedings edited by Poeter, Zheng, Hill, and Doherty: Colorado School of Mines, Golden, Colorado, 5 pages.

- Kuniansky, E. L., C. J. Taylor, J. H. Williams, and F. Paillet, 2022, Introduction to Karst Aquifers. The Groundwater Project, Guelph, Ontario, Canada. <u>doi.org/10.21083/978-1-77470-040-2</u>.
- Langevin, C.D., J.D. Hughes, E.R. Banta, R.G. Niswonger, S. Panday, and A.M. Provost, 2017, Documentation for the MODFLOW-6 groundwater flow model. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A55, 197 pages, doi.org/10.3133/tm6A55⁷.
- Langevin, C.D., A.M. Provost, S. Panday, and J.D. Hughes, 2022, Documentation for the MODFLOW 6 Groundwater Transport Model. U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A61, 56 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A61</u>.
- Lien, J.-M., L. Guilin, and C.D. Langevin, 2015, GRIDGEN version 1.0—A computer program for generating unstructured finite-volume grids. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 2014–1109, 26 pages, <u>doi.org10.3133/ofr20141109</u>.
- McDonald, M.G. and A.W. Harbaugh, 1984, A modular three-dimensional finite-difference ground-water flow model. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-875, 528 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/ofr83875</u>.
- McDonald, M.G. and A.W. Harbaugh, 1988, A modular three-dimensional finite-difference ground-water flow model. United States Geological Survey Techniques of Water Resources Investigations, book 6, chapter A1, 586 pages, <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/twri/twri6a1/</u>?.
- Mehl, S.W. and M.C. Hill, 2006, MODFLOW-2005, The Unites States Geological Survey modular ground-water model—Documentation of shared node Local Grid Refinement (LGR) and the Boundary Flow and Head (BFH) package. United States Geological Survey, number 6-A12, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A12</u>.
- Mehl, S.W. and M.C. Hill, 2007, MODFLOW-2005, The US Geological Survey modular ground-water model—Documentation of the multiple-refined-areas capability of Local Grid Refinement (LGR) and the Boundary Flow and Head (BFH) package. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 6-A21, 13 pages, https://pubs.usgs.gov/tm/2007/06A21/.
- Mehl, S. and M.C. Hill, 2010, Grid-size dependence of Cauchy boundary conditions used to simulate stream-aquifer interactions. Advances in Water Resources, volume 33, number 4, 13 pages, <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2010.01.008</u>.
- Niswonger, R.G., S. Panday, and M. Ibaraki, 2011, MODFLOW-NWT, A Newton formulation for MODFLOW-2005. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 6-A37, 44 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A37</u>.
- Panday, S., C.D. Langevin, R.G. Niswonger, M. Ibaraki, and J.D. Hughes, 2013, MODFLOW-USG version 1—An unstructured grid version of MODFLOW for simulating groundwater flow and tightly coupled processes using a control volume

finite-difference formulation. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A45, 66 pages, <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/tm/06/a45/</u>?.

- Provost, A.M., C.D. Langevin, and J.D. Hughes, 2017, Documentation for the "XT3D" option in the Node Property Flow (NPF) Package of MODFLOW 6. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A56, 40 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/tm6A56</u>.
- Reilly, T.E., 2001, System and boundary conceptualization in ground-water flow simulation. United States Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 3, chapter B8, 30 pages, <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/twri/twri-3_B8/</u>?.
- Reilly, T.E. and A.W. Harbaugh, 2004, Guidelines for evaluating ground-water flow models. United States Geological Survey, Scientific Investigations Report 2004-5038, 30 pages, <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2004/5038/</u>².
- Shoemaker, W.B., E.L. Kuniansky, S. Birk, S. Bauer, and E.D. Swain, 2007, Documentation of a Conduit Flow Process (CFP) for MODFLOW-2005. United States Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A24, 50 pages, doi.org/10.3133/tm6A24.
- Torres-Gonzales, S. and Gómez-Gómez, F., and Warne, A.G., 2002, Ground-Water Resource Assessment in the Rio Grande de Manati Alluvial Plain, Rio Arriba Saliente Area, Puerto Rico. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report, 02-4132, <u>doi.org/10.3133/wri024132</u>.
- USGS MODFLOW 6 Development Team, 2022, MODFLOW 6 Description of Input and Output, version mf6.3.0-March 4, 2022. United States Geological Survey website, <u>https://water.usgs.gov/water-resources/software/MODFLOW-6/mf6io_6.3.0.pdf</u>.
- Winston, R.B., 2019, ModelMuse version 4—A graphical user interface for MODFLOW 6, United States Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2019 – 5036, 10 pages, <u>doi.org/10.3133/sir20195036</u>.

16 Boxes

Box 1 Some Details of How MODFLOW 6 Works

MODFLOW simulates groundwater flow by solving the partial differential equation for groundwater flow using a block-centered finite volume method at the center of each active cell in the model. This forms a linear system of equations in the form of a matrix, [A], multiplied by the head at each cell in the form of a vector, H, set equal to flow into or out of each cell in the form of a vector, Q ([A]×H=Q). The equations represent the flow between the cell and its neighbors, the flow into or out of the groundwater system, and for transient simulations, the changes in the amount of stored water.

The components of the matrix [A] are computed from the specified model properties and the dimensions of each cell. MODFLOW solves for the groundwater level at the center of each cell (head vector) based on known flows into or out of specific cells in the form of well withdrawals or injections, known recharge to specific cells, and / or head-dependent fluxes specified at specific cells. MODFLOW solves the equations iteratively. On each iteration, it approximates the solution and then uses that approximate solution to help it find a better solution on the next iteration.

To use MODFLOW, one must have some knowledge of the properties of the aquifer, the dimensions of the aquifer and confining units, where water enters and exits the aquifer, and the quantity of water entering and leaving the aquifer. With MODFLOW, an initial head must be specified even if the initial head is unknown. Initial heads are described in more detail in Chapter 6.

At each time step, the iterative solver is used to find the unknown head at each cell by computing a new head value on each iteration within that time step until the head change and flow residual from one iteration to the next is smaller than thresholds set by the user. The head and flow thresholds are called the convergence criteria. For each succeeding time step, the heads from the previous converged time step will be used as the starting point for the next iteration. Using these heads, the solver calculates new values for the flows and heads for the current time step. For transient models there are multiple time steps and possibly multiple stress periods. A stress period is based on when the specified flows or head-dependent flows change. Stress periods can have multiple time steps or one time step. For a steady-state model, there is only one time step and stress period is needed because in such models, heads and flows do not change with time.

If the model is poorly constructed or there are numerical problems, MODFLOW may not be able to find an acceptable solution and will halt with an error message indicating the model did not converge. Each site model is different and may have different issues, such as rounding errors owing to the different properties of the aquifer and different specified flows. For this reason, there are multiple solver parameter options for the linear system of equations formed. Often getting the first time step to converge, using the initial

Richard B. Winston

conditions specified, for a transient or steady-state model can be difficult and may require adding time steps or modification of solver parameters. Even with a transient model, the first stress period may be a steady-state stress period so that the transient part of the simulation starts from initial heads that are consistent with the stresses on the system.

Kuniansky and others (2003) provide insights related to developing well-behaved models. The following offers an overarching perspective on the issues faced by modelers.

"From a mathematical perspective the groundwater flow equation is a second order linear or quasi linear equation of elliptic form and varies from the well-known Laplace equation when there are fluxes (wells or recharge) making the equation in the form of the Poisson equation. A partial differential equation in elliptic form generally forms matrices with nice numerical properties regardless of the applied method. When the equation is solved for a site problem set up with MODFLOW, a well-behaved system of equations is always formed if the grid is equally spaced, the aquifer is confined and homogeneous, and simple boundary conditions are applied. However, a poorly conditioned or unstable system of equations can sometimes occur, which results in slow convergence or lack of convergence of MODFLOW's iterative solvers. A poorly conditioned or unstable system of equations can be generated by inappropriate model discretization, extreme changes (several orders of magnitude) in hydraulic conductivity or transmissivity between aquifer zones, the specific implementation of piecewise linear head-dependent fluxes or inappropriate mixing of multiple head-dependent functions, thin model layers that convert between wet and dry, data entry mistakes, or incorrect conceptualization of the aquifer system."

Box 2 Contents of the MODFLOW 6 Distribution Folder

Besides the MODFLOW program itself, the bin subdirectory of the MODFLOW 6 distribution folder contains two other programs: mf5to6.exe and zbud6.exe. mf5to6 is a program for converting MODFLOW-2005 model input files to MODFLOW 6 model input files. ZONEBUDGET (zbud6.exe) is used to extract the water budget of user defined zones within a MODFLOW 6 model.

The doc subdirectory contains documentation for MODFLOW 6. There are four reports documenting the theory of MODFLOW (tm6a55.pdf, tm6a56.pdf, tm6a57.pdf, and mf6suptechinfo.pdf). Another document (mf6io.pdf) describes the structure of the input and output files of MODFLOW 6. Release notes for the distribution are in release.pdf. The release notes include a description of the changes made to MODFLOW 6 along with other important information. The doc subdirectory also has documentation for mf5to6 and ZONEBUDGET along with a description of the example models.

The examples subdirectory contains the input files for a series of MODFLOW 6 models each in their own subdirectory. Each model subdirectory contains a file named "run.bat" You can run the model by double-clicking the run.bat file. The examples subdirectory contains a file named runall.bat which can be used to run all the example models.

The remaining subdirectories contain source code that can be used to compile MODFLOW 6, Mf5to6, and ZONEBUDGET.

Box 3 Test Your Knowledge of Structured Grids

Figure Box 3-1 is a plan view of a structured grid with five rows, five columns, and one layer. Which cells will have flow into or out of cell 13?

1	2	3	4	5
6	7	8	9	10
11	12	13	14	15
16	17	18	19	20
21	22	23	24	25

Figure Box 3-1 - Grid with numbered cells.

Answer: 8, 12, 14, and 18.

Cells 7, 9 17, and 19 are not adjacent because they do not share a cell face with cell 13. They have row and column numbers that both differ by one from the row and column number of cell 13. MODFLOW calculates flows between cell 13 and cells 8, 12, 14, and 18 but not between cell 13 and any other cell.

Box 4 Effect of Time-Step Size on Model Accuracy

Several MODFLOW-2005 simulations were executed using an example model to illustrate the effect of time-step size on accuracy. The model is a single layer model with 100 rows and 100 columns. The rows and columns are each 100 m wide and the layer has a uniform thickness of 100 m. The hydraulic conductivity is 0.0001 m/s and the specific storage is 1×10^{-5} m⁻¹ thus the initial time step as estimated by Equation (2) is 250 s. A well with a pumping rate of -10 m³/s is in row 50, column 50. The outline of the active cells is circular with a radius of 5000 m centered on the center of the grid and flow is simulated for 1,000,000 seconds (i.e., about 12 days). Simulations using 4, 10, 100, 1000, and 4000 constant-length (i.e., time-step multiplier = 1) time steps are executed. In two additional models, a time-step multiplier of 1.3 is used and the number of time steps is varied from 10 to 28.

Model results are plotted for two locations: one near the well, and one near the edge of the model as shown in Figure Box 4-1. The models are set up so that heads for every time step are saved during the first 100,000 seconds, and after that, heads are only saved at intervals of 100,000 seconds. The size of the initial time step as estimated by Equation (2) requires 4000, constant-length, time steps. However, using 1000 time-steps of four times the estimated length produces virtually identical results as the case with 4000 time-steps so the case with 4000 time-steps is not included in this presentation.

Thus, the most accurate solution is illustrated by the case with 1000 time-steps which is represented by the solid black line in Figure Box 4-1. At both monitored locations, an increase of time-step size (i.e., a decrease in the number of constant-length steps) results in less accuracy (For "100 Steps," the accuracy is very close to that of "1000 Steps" but note that at early time the head change near the well deviates slightly from the "1000 Steps" solution). For the models in which time-step multipliers were used; the accuracy was better than with models that used a similar number of steps without multipliers, as illustrated in Figure Box 4-1 where the results for "10 Steps Mult" are closer to those for "1000 Steps" than the results for "10 Steps." At the observation location close to the well, the greatest inaccuracies were in the initial time steps whereas at the location close to the model edge, the inaccuracy increased with time from 100,000 seconds to 300,000 seconds while the rate of head decline was increasing. After 300,000 seconds, the rate of head decline is more linear and the accuracy improved.



Figure Box 4-1 - Effect of time step size on calculated head. a) Observation location at row 50, column 48. b) Observation location at row 50, column 5.

Box 5 Step-by-Step Instructions, Model PS1A

1. Start ModelMuse, create a new MODFLOW model and click *Next*. You can specify "not available" (N/A) as the projection for this example model. Specify the length and time units (meters and days). You can also specify a description of the model. Then click *Next* again (Figure Box 5-1).

3 ModelMuse -		Х
What do you want to do?		
Create new MODFLOW model		
C Create new PHAST model		
C Create new SUTRA model		
C Create new WellFootprint project		
C Open an existing ModelMuse project		
C Import MODFLOW-2005 or MODFLOW-NWT model		
C Imported4.mmZLib (D:\support\Van de Water\Imported4.mmZLib)		
C Imported3.mmZLib (D:\support\Van de Water\Imported3.mmZLib)		
C Imported2.mmZLib (D:\support\Van de Water\Imported2.mmZLib)		
C Imported.mmZLib (D:\support\Van de Water\Imported.mmZLib)		
C SideViewModel.gpt (H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Images\Discretization\SideV	/iewMo	del\S
? <u>H</u> elp	Next -	•
3 ModelMuse -		×
Geo Reference and Model Description		
Problem Set 1A		_
Simulation starting date Projection type Length unit Time unit		
1/ 1/2000	•	
1/ 1/2000 epsg proj4 Meters Days 	•	
1/ 1/2000 epsg or proj4 Meters Days Displays Simulation starting time Projection N/A N/A	-	
1/ 1/2000 Image: Constraint of the second data and the s	•	

Figure Box 5-1 - Screen captures illustrating step 1.

2. Choose a MODFLOW 6 model and specify the grid. Click *Finish*. Then save your model as "PS1A" (Figure Box 5-2).

🐌 Initial Grid								-		×
MODFLO	W 6 - MOI	DFLOW	Version							
Specify init	ial grid (optional)				_					
20	Number of colun	nns	500	Layer group	name	Bottom				
21	Number of rows		500	Model_Top		350				
3	Number of layers	s				Upper Aquife Silt	er	220 200		
Grid origin	Upper left corne	r				Lower Aquife	er	0		
0	X 0	Grid an	gle (degree	es)						
0	Y	Vertical	exaggerat	ion						
0	Z									
						? <u>H</u> elp	×N	lo grid	Finish	+
		2	ModelMu	use: H:\Intro	oductio	n to Mc				
		Fi	le Edit G	orid Data	Obje	ct Nav				
			New							
		6	Open	. .		£ 🕂				
			Save	C	trl+S					
			Save As							
			Export							
			Export Files to /	\rchive						
			Thes to y							
			Importe	d4.mmZLib						
			Importe	d3.mm2Lib		H				
			Importer	d mm7l ib		+				
			nipoliei							
		-	Exit			- H				
						Ħ				

Figure Box 5-2 - Screen captures illustrating step 2.

3. Select *Data* | *Edit Data sets* and specify the initial head (Figure Box 5-3).

🔀 Data Sets	- 🗆 X
 □ Required □ Hydrology □ Active □ Cell_Type □ IDOMAIN □ Kx □ Ky □ Kz ■ Modflow_Initial_Head □ Modflow_Specified_Head □ XT3D_Angle_1 □ XT3D_Angle_2 □ XT3D_Angle_3 ⊞ Layer Definition 	Basic Comment Name Modflow_Initial_Head Type Orientation Real 3D Evaluated At Units Cells Interpolation Anisotropy 1 Default formula Edit formula
Add Delete	? Help ✓ Apply <u>I C</u> lose

Figure Box 5-3 – Screen capture illustrating specifying the initial head.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

4. Use a formula to make all the cells in the top layer convertible and the rest confined. The Cell_Type data set is used to make a cell confined or convertible. The "associated model data" of the Cell_Type data set, under the Comment tab, indicates that a value of one means that the cell's saturated thickness will be calculated based on the head whereas a value of zero means that the saturated thickness depends only on the top and bottom elevation of the cell. The top layer is layer 1, so the formula "If((Layer=1),1,0)" will do what we want. You can click the *Edit Formula* button to display the Formula Editor to help you create the formula, then click *OK*, *Apply* (Figure Box 5-4).

🐉 Data Sets		– 🗆 X					
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type DOMAIN Kx Ky Kz Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1 XT3D_Angle_2 XT3D_Angle_3 E-Layer Definition 	Basic Comment Comment We will use a formula to make the top layer convertible and the other layers confined. Associated model data MODFLOW 6, NPF: icelltype 0: constant cell thickness >0: calculated cell thickness See also the "Convertible" data set for ti						
Add Delete	<	Apply					
		/i					
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type HoMAIN Kx Ky Kz Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1 XT3D_Angle_2 XT3D_Angle_3 Layer Definition	Basic Comment Name Cell_Type Type Integer • Evaluated At Cells • Interpolation none • Default formula	- C × Orientation 3D Units Anisotropy 1 Edit formula					
Add Delete	<u>? H</u> elp ✓	Apply					
Formula Editor ⊕ If((Layer = 1), 1, 0) :: If(Boolean_Value, If_True_Rest [f((Layer = 1), 1, 0)] Logical operators = <> and or 7 8 9 > < not xor > = <= True False 1 2	Ult, If_False_Result)	- C × Double-click to insert into formula Data Sets Functions GIS Grid or Mesh ActiveOnLayer BlockAreaFront BlockAreaTop BlockVolume ColumnCenter ColumnCenter ColumnCount ColumnCount ColumnCount ElevationToLayer ElevationToLayer					
Integer operators 0 E		HighestActiveLayer					
	A **	Layer LaverBoundarvPositi ~					
இ <u>E</u> unc	tion help ? Help	✓ OK X Cancel					

Figure Box 5-4 - Screen captures illustrating specification of the top layer as convertible.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

5. Use a formula to specify Kx for each layer (Figure Box 5-5). Look up the Case function in the ModelMuse help to understand why this formula works. After using the formula editor, click *OK*, *Apply*.

🐉 Data Set	s					34	-			×			
	ed				Ba	asic Co	mment						
A	ctive				Name Kx								
-0	cell_Type												
	IDOMAIN Kx Ky							Orienta	tion				
-K							÷	3D ~					
K	Z		Ev	aluated A	At	Units							
-Modflow_Initial_Head -Modflow Specified Head						ells	÷		_				
-XT3D_Angle_1					Inte	erpolation	n	Anisotr	ору				
-XT3D_Angle_2 -XT3D_Angle_3						one	Ŧ	1					
					Default formula								
						aco/Lavo	r 50 0	01 200		Traica			
									_			0.10	
🕉 Formula Edi Ə- Case(Lay	itor rer, 50., 0.01	 , 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	(, Resu	ult1, Res	sult2,)	<u> </u>	Double-	click	to insi tula	□ ert in	×	
Ø Formula Edi € Case(Lay	d itor rer, 50., 0.01	, 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	(, Resi	ult1, Res	sult2,)		Double-	click form or Me tiveO	to ins nula sh nLaye	□ ert in er	×	
Ø Formula Edi € Case(Lay	itor rer, 50., 0.01	, 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	(, Resi	ult1, Res	sult2,)		Double- Grid o - Act - Blo	click form or Me tiveO ockAr	to insi nula sh nLaye reaFro	ert in er ont	×	
Ø Formula Edi € Case(Lay Case <mark>(</mark> Laye	itor rer, 50., 0.01	, 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	(, Resu	ult1, Res	sult2,)		Double- Grid c - Ac - Blo - Blo - Blo	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr	to insi nula sh nLaye reaFro reaSio reaTo	ert in er ont de p	×	
Formula Edite Case(Lay Case(Laye)	iter rer, 50., 0.01	, 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	, Resi	ult1, Res	sult2,)	·	Double- B Grid C B B C B C B C B C	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr	to insi nula inLaye reaFro reaSio reaTo plume	ert in er ont de	×	
Formula Edite Case(Lay Case(Layer)	iter ier, 50., 0.01	, 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	(, Resu	ult1, Res	sult2,)		Double- Grid d Bic Bic Bic Bic Co Co	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr	to insi nula sh inLaye reaFro reaSio reaTo blume Bound	ert in ert in de p daryf	× ito	
Formula Edi Case(Lay Case(Laye Logical op	iter rer, 50., 0.01 r, 50, 0.01, 2 erators	, 200.) :: Ca	ase(Inde)	ers	ult1, Res	Operate	ors	Double- Grid c Bic Bic Bic Bic Co Co Co Co	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr	to insi nula sh nLaye reaFro reaSio reaTo blume Bound Cente Count	ert in ert in ont de p daryf	× to	
Formula Edi Case(Lay Case(Layer Logical op	r, 50, 0.01, 2	, 200.) :: Ca	Numb	ers	ult1, Res	Sult2,)	ors	Double- Grid d Bic Bic Bic Bic Bic Co Co Co Co Co Co	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr lumn lumn lumn	to insi nula sh nLaye eaFro eaSio eaTo blume Bound Center Count	ert in er ont de p daryf er	× nto	
Formula Edi Case(Laye Case(Laye Logical op<	iter rer, 50., 0.01 r, 50, 0.01, 2 erators and not	, 200.) :: Ca	Numb	ers 8 5	ult1, Res	- Operate	DITS)	Double- B Grid C Blc Blc Blc Blc Co Co Co Co Co Co Ele Ele	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockVo lumn lumn lumn lumn vatic evatic	to insi ula sh nLaye eaFro eaSio eaTo blume Bounn Cente Count Width nToL nToN	ert in ert in ont de p daryf er t i ayer fode	× nto Pos	
Formula Edi Case(Laye Case(Laye Logical op	itor ier, 50., 0.01 r, 50, 0.01, 2 erators and not True	, 200.) :: Ca	Numb	ers 8 5 2	9 6 3	- Operate	ors	Double- Grid of Blo Blo Blo Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Ele Hig	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr lumn lumn lumn lumn lumn umn lumn lumn	to insi- shula sh nLaye reaFro reaSio reaTo blume Bound Cente Count Width nToL Midth nToL Active	ert in ert in de p daryf er t ayer lode	× nto Pos	
Formula Edi	iter iter ier, 50., 0.01 r, 50, 0.01, 2 erators and not True Integer o	, 200.) :: Ca	Numb 7 4 1	ers 8 5 2 E	9 6 3	-Operato	DITS	Double- B Grid C Blc Blc Blc Blc Blc Co Co Co Co Co Ele Ele Hig La;	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar ockar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occhar occha	to insi- sh inLaye eaFro eaSio eaTo blume Bound Cente Count Width inToL Active bunda	ert in ert in de p daryf t ayer fode eLay	× nto Pos	
Formula Edi Case(Layer Case(Laye	itor rer, 50., 0.01 r, 50, 0.01, 2 erators and not True Integer o mod	, 200.) :: Ca	Numb 7 4 1 0	ers 8 5 2 E	9 6 3	Sult2,)	OIS)	Double- Grid of Blo Blo Blo Blo Blo Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co	click form or Me tiveO cckAr cckAr cckAr cckAr lumn lumn lumn lumn lumn lumn lumn lumn	to insi ula sh nLaye eaFro eaTo blume Bound Control Width nToL nToW Active bunda enter bound	ert in er ont de p daryf er t ayer Mode eLayu	× Pos ILa: er	
Formula Edi	iter er, 50., 0.01 r, 50, 0.01, 2 erators and not True Integer o mod	, 200.) :: Ca	Numb 7 4 1 0	ers 8 5 2 E	9 6 3	Sult2,)	Ors	Double- B Grid c Blc Blc Blc Blc Blc Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Co Ele Hig La La La La	click form or Me tiveO ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr ockAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr occAr o	to insish nula sh inLaye eaFro eaSid eaTo blume Bound Cente Count Width inToL Active bounda enter bounda	ert in ert in de p daryf er t ayer lode eLay	× nto Pos lLa: er ositi	

Figure Box 5-5 - Screen captures illustrating specifying the horizontal hydraulic conductivity.

D						_	-1-1-		1	-		^		
Re	quired Hydrol	oav				Ba	Basic Comment Name Kz							
T	Act	ive				Na								
	Cel	I_Type				ļKz								
	-Kx	MAIN				Тур	e		Orier	Orientation				
	-Кy	_				Re	al	Ŧ	3D -					
Kz Modflow Initial Head							aluated	At	Units					
	Mo	dflow_S	pecified_	Head		Ce	ells	~						
	-XT	3D_Ang	le_1			Inte	erpolati	on	Aniso	otropy				
-XT3D_Angle_2							ne	Ŧ	1					
÷.	Layer	Definitio	n			De	fault fo	rmula	F	dit form	nula			
٨	bb	Delete					? ⊦	lelp	🗸 App	ly .	<u>r</u> <u>C</u> lo	se		
Au														
~0														
Form	ula Editor	10 0.01	20.)	se/Index	Posul	1 Decut	+2)		Doubl	–		> into		
Form	oula Editor e(Layer,	10., 0.01,	 , 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	t2,)		Doubl	e-click to	D o insert	> into		
Form Case	oula Editor e(Layer,	10., 0.01,	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	t2,)		Doubl	e-click to formi d or Mes ActiveOr	D o insert ula sh nLayer	> into		
Form	ula Editor e(Layer,	10., 0.01,	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	t2,)		Doubl	e-click to formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre	o insert i ula sh hLayer eaFront	> into		
Form Case	uula Editor e(Layer, Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0., 0.01, 2	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	t2,)		Doubl	e-click to formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre	o insert ula sh hLayer eaFront eaSide eaTop	> into		
Form Case	ula Editor e(Layer, Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0., 0.01, 2	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	t2,)		Doubl	e-click ti formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockVo Column	o insert ula sh aLayer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume	> into		
Case(uula Editor e(Layer, Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0., 0.01, 2 ttors	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	t2,)	ators	Doubl	e-click tr formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockVo Column Column Column	o insert i ula sh Layer aaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundan	> into		
L Form Case Case(Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0., 0.01, 2 ttors and	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	(ators	Doubl	e-click tr formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockVo Column ColumnE ColumnC	o insert i ula sh bLayer eaFront eaTop lume Boundan Center Count	> into yPos		
L Form Case Case(Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0, 0.01, 2 ators and	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result ers 8	1, Resul	t2,)	ators	Doubl	e-click tr formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockVo Column ColumnC ColumnC ColumnV Elevation	o insert i ula sh Layer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundan Center Count Vidth TOLaye	> into yPos		
Form Case(Case(Case()	Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0., 0.01, 2 ttors and not	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result	1, Resul	((ators	Doubl	e-click tr formis d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockVo Column Column Column Column Column Elevation Elevation	o insert i ula sh Layer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundar, Center Count Vidth iToLayer ToMod	> into yPos er lelLa		
Logic	Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 0., 0.01, 2 and not True	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result ers 8 5 2	9 6 3	((*	ators	Doubl	e-click tr form d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre Column Column Column Column Column Elevatior Elevatior tighest ayer	o insert i ula sh bLayer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundan Center Count Vidth nToLayen ToMod ActiveLa	> into yPos er lelLa yer		
Case() Ca	Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 2 and not True Integer o	, 20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	Result ers 8 5 2 E	9 6 3	((*	ators	Doubl	e-click to form d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre Column Column Column Column Elevatior Highest ayer ayerCo	o insert i ula sh Layer saFront saSide saTop lume Soundary Center Count Vidth ToLaye ToMod ActiveLa undaryP nter	> into yyPos er lelLa yyer		
Form Case Case Case	Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 2 ttors and not True Integer of mod	, 20.) :: Cas 20.) :: Cas 20.)	se(Index,	Result ers 8 5 2 E	9 6 3	t2,)	ators	Doubl	e-click t formi d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockVo Column Column Column Column Column Elevatior Elevatior Elevatior ayer ayer ayerCe ayerCo	o insert i ula sh Layer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundan Count Vidth nToLaye nToMod ActiveLa undaryP nter unt	> into yPos er lelLa yer Posit		
Form Case Case(Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 2 ttors and not True Integer of mod	, 20.) :: Cas 20.) or xor False perators div	se(Index,	Result ers 8 5 2 E	9 6 3	t2,)	ators	Doubl		o insert i ula sh bLayer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundan Center Count Vidth iToLaye nToMod ActiveLa undaryP nter unt ioht	> into yPos er lelLa yer Posit		
Logic	Layer, 1	10., 0.01, 2 and not True Integer of mod	20.) :: Cas	se(Index,	ers 8 5 2 E	1, Result	t2,)	ators		 e-click t form d or Mes ActiveOr BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre BlockAre Column Column Column Column Column Column Elevatior Elevatior Elevatior Elevator ayerCo ayerCo averHe OK	o insert i ula sh Layer eaFront eaSide eaTop lume Boundary Center Count Vidth nToLayen ToMod ActiveLa undaryP nter unt ioht	> into yPos er lelLa yer Positi ncel		

6. Use a formula to specify Kz for each layer (Figure Box 5-6).

7. Activate the CHD package. Select *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* and check the check box for the CHD package (Figure Box 5-7). When a package is activated, its input file will be created the next time you generate the MODFLOW input files and the input file for the package will be listed in the MODFLOW name file.

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	grams	-		\times
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Geographic Specified bead	CHD: Time-Variant Specified-Head package Comments			
CHD: Time-V Specified flux Head-dependent fl				^
Solvers				~
Observations Post processors MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Name Value			
< >>	0	×	<u>D</u> elete	
	? <u>H</u> elp ✔ OK	;	Cano	:el

Figure Box 5-7 - Screen capture illustrating activating the CHD package.

8. Optional: MODFLOW iterates to arrive at a solution and the iteration process may stop before reaching a sufficiently accurate solution based on the specified closure criteria. Sometimes, this can be evident from a large percent discrepancy in the water budget of the model. This step will require a smaller head change between iterations before the iteration process stops. Decrease the nonlinear and linear head closure criteria in the Solver by selecting the *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* option, expanding Solvers, and visiting first the nonlinear tab and then the linear tab, and while in each tab check the box to override the default DVClose and enter the values shown in Figure Box 5-8.

2 MODFLOW Packages and Pro	3 MODFLOW Packages and Programs				-		×	MODFLOW Packages and Pr	ograms			-		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Solvers	IMS: Iterative Model Solution Comments	1					_	Flow Packages Boundary conditions Solvers	IMS: Iterative Model Solution Comments					
B Subsidence Observations Post processors							Â	Ging Streative Mo Subsidence Observations Post processors						Ŷ
HT3DMS or MT3D-U	Basic Nonlinear Linear						v	HT3DMS or MT3D-U	Basic Nonlinear Linear					v
	Option	Override	Value				^		Option	Override	Value			
	Outer HClose		0.0001						Inner maximum iterations		100			
	Outer RClose BND		0.1						Inner HClose	R	1E-5	-		
	Outer maximum iterations		100						Inner RClose		0.1			
	Under-relaxation scheme		None						Rclose option		Absolute			
	Under relaxation theta		0.7						Linear acceleration		BICGSTAB			
	Under relaxation kappa	m	0.1						Preconditioner levels		0			
	Under relaxation gamma		0.2						Preconditioner drop tolerance		0			
	Under relaxation momentum	m	0.001						Relaxation factor		0			
	Backtracking number		10						Number of orthogonalizations		7			
	Backtracking tolerance		10000						Scaling method		None			
	Backtracking reduction factor		0.2						Reordering method		None			
< >	Backtracking residual limit		100				~							
			? Help	✓ ОК)	K Can	el				? <u>H</u> elp ✓ ОК	1	× Can	cel

Figure Box 5-8 - Screen captures illustrating specification of the outer and inner head closure criteria.

9. Create a line object in the last column of the model and use it to specify a constant head in the top layer. To create a line object, select *Object* | *Create* | *Straight line* or select *Object* | *Create* | *Polyline*. Then click at one end of the line and then double-click at the other end of the line (Figure Box 5-9). When the Object Properties dialog box appears, use it to specify the position and stage of the river on the properties and MODFLOW features tabs (Figure Box 5-10).



Figure Box 5-9 - Screen capture illustrating creating a straight-line object.

				_	~
Diject Properties	5		-		×
Properties Data Sets MODF	LOW Features Vertices	Comments/Captions			
Evaluated at Cells Cell c	orners Position	Object information (not	edita	ble)	
		10725.8064516129			
✓ Duplicate cells allowed	0 Quadtree refine	Object area			
□ Use to set grid cell size		0			
Grid cell size	1000	Object order			
Color object line	Set object line cold	or 1			
Color object interior	Set object fill colo	r			
 Set values of enclosed cells Set values of intersected ce Set values of cells by interport 	Minimum fracti Ils of cell length	ion			
Number of Z formulas	ি Two				
Z-coordinate	Nodel_Top + Upper_Aquife	er_Bottom) / 2.		Edit F	()
Higher Z-coordinate M	odel_Top			Edit F	0
Lower Z-coordinate	pper_Aquifer_Bottom			Edit F	0
		? <u>H</u> elp ↓ ✓ Ok		🗙 Car	ncel

😕 Object Properties					_		×
Properties Data Sets MC	DDFLOW Features	ertices C	omments	/Captions			
CHD: Time-Variant S	CI	HD: Time-	Variant S	pecified-Head	d package		
			Formula				
	Starting time	Ending time	Starting head	Ending head			
	PEST Modifier						
	Modification Method		Add	Add			
	-1	0	320	320			
L				1			
	1 Number of tir	nes				× <u>D</u> ele	ete
Conver	t time units			? <u>H</u> elp	✔ ОК	🗙 Ca	ncel

Figure Box 5-10 - Screen captures illustrating specifying a specified head boundary.

10. Create another line object in the first column and use it to specify a constant head in the top layer representing the canal (Figure Box 5-11).



Figure Box 5-11 - Screen captures illustrating creating another specified head boundary.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

11. Select *Model MODFLOW Output Control* and specify how the data from the model should be printed (Figure Box 5-12).

MODFLOW Outp	ut Control	_		×
General Drawdown Budget MT3D	Head ▼ Save in external file External file type Binary ► External file format (CHEDFM) 1P ▼ E ▼ 13 • 5 (10(1X1PE13.5)) ▼ Print in listing file Listing file format (IHEDFM) wrap ▼ 9G13.6 ▼ Frequency Last time step of each N'th stress period N = 1 ▼			
	? <u>H</u> elp	ЭK	🗙 Ca	ncel

Figure Box 5-12 - Screen capture illustrating specifying how data from the model should be printed or saved.

12. Select *Model MODFLOW Program Locations*. Make sure that the location of MODFLOW 6 is specified correctly. You may also wish to choose ListingAnalyst as the text editor used to open the MODFLOW listing file (Figure Box 5-13).

3 MODFLOW Program Locations		_		×
bttps://www.usgs.gov/software/modfl	low 6 uses modular h	vdrolo	aic mo	dol
https://www.usgs.gov/soltware/moul	iow-o-usys-mouulai-i	iyurulu	gic-mo	
C:\WRDAPP\mf6.3.0\bin\mf6.exe				<u> </u>
Modflow 2005				
MODFLOW-LGR				
MODFLOW-LGR V2				
MODFLOW-NWT				
MF2005-CFP				
MF2005-OWHM				
MODPATH v7				
ZONEBUDGET 3				
ZONEBUDGET 6				
MT3DMS				
MT3D-USGS				
ModelMate				
Text editor				
C:\WRDAPP\ListingAnalyst_1_2\bi	n\ListingAnalyst.exe			ê
ModelMonitor				
	<u>? H</u> elp ✓	ок	× Cá	ancel

Figure Box 5-13 - Screen capture illustrating specifying executables to use with ModelMuse.

13. Select *File* | *Export* | *MODFLOW 6 input files* or click the *Run MODFLOW* button to run the model (Figure Box 5-14). Select *File* | *Save* to save PS1A. This version of the model will be modified and used again in several subsequent exercises.



14. Close the ModelMonitor. This will prompt ModelMuse to open the listing file in a text editor. Use the information in the listing file to answer the questions posed in Exercise 3.1 through 3.4. In the illustration below the listing file is displayed in ListingAnalyst. ListingAnalyst allows you to quickly navigate in a MODFLOW listing file (Figure Box 5-15).

H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2	(\Models	\Exercise	3\PS1A.lst: ListingAnalyst				-		×
Open file Retrieve F	Retriev	e Nur	mber of lines to retrieve Create	Go to line 🖙 Fi	nd				
X Abort lines	lines	1,0	000 1 index	1 For	ıt				
Contents Index		601							^ ^
FLOWS WILL BE SAVED TO B	L ^	602 603	CUMULATIVE VOLUME	L**3 Ri	ATES FOR THIS TIME STEP	L**3/T	PACKAGE NAME		
DIS STRUCTURED GRID D	Ľ	604							
CHD CHD PACKAGE VER	¢ ¢	605	IN:		IN:				
IC INITIAL CONDITIONS F	\tilde{p}_i	607	CHD =	96986.6898	 CHD =	96986.6898	CHD-1		
Stress Period 1	B	609	TOTAL IN =	96986.6898	TOTAL IN =	96986.6898			
 Start timestep kper="1" kstp Stress Period 1, Time Step 	p 1	611	OUT:		OUT:				
■ INNER ITERATION SUMMA	N.	613							
UBDSVI SAVING FLU		614	CHD =	96992.6350	CHD =	96992.6350	CHD-1		
UBDSV06 SAVING	" –	615 616	TOTAL OUT =	96992.6350	TOTAL OUT =	96992.6350			
HEAD IN LAYER 1 AT	E	617	IN - OUT =	-5.9452	IN - OUT =	-5.9452			
HEAD IN LAYER 3 AT I	E	619	PERCENT DISCREPANCY =	-0.01	PERCENT DISCREPANCY =	-0.01			
VOLUME BUDGET FOR E	Į.	620							
I IME SUMMARY AT ENL	, v	622	<					>	× _
600		020							

Figure Box 5-15 - Screen capture illustrating Listing Analyst displaying a MODFLOW output file.

Box 6 Step-by-Step Instructions for using ZONEBUDGET with Model PS1A

1. With PS1A open, save the model with a different name such as PS1A_ZB.

2. Select *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* and activate ZONEBUDGET (Figure Box 6-1). Click *OK* to close the dialog box. A new integer data set will be created named "Zones" (Figure Box 6-2).

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	rams —		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Solvers	ZONEBUDGET Title (first line) and Comments		
Subsidence Observations Post processors			^
			\sim
■ MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Image: Composite zones Image: Composite zones		
	Zone name		
	<		>
	0 Number of composite zones	Dele	te
	? <u>H</u> elp ✓ OK	× Car	ncel

Figure Box 6-1 - Screen capture of the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box illustrating the activation of ZONEBUDGET.

🗂 Data Sets	- 🗆 ×
- Required Hydrology Lever Definition	Basic Comment
E ZoneBudget	Zones
Zones	Type Orientation
	Integer J 3D J
	Evaluated At Units
	Cells
	Interpolation Anisotropy
	none 🚽 1
	Default formula Edit formula
	0
Add Delete	? <u>H</u> elp ✓ Apply Sciose

Figure Box 6-2 - Screen capture of the Data Sets dialog box illustrating the new data set "Zones."

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

3. Set the selected layer to 2. You can do this by selecting *Grid* | *Set Selected Col, Row, Layer*... or *Grid* | *Set Selected Column, Row, Layer*. The first command displays a dialog box to specify them. The second, allows you to click on the grid to select them. You can also change the selected layer by clicking on the red cube in the upper left corner of the top view of the model.

4. Select *Object* | *Create* | *Rectangle* and draw a rectangle object that covers the left half of the model grid. Use it to assign a zone number of 1 to the Zones data set in left half of the model in layer 2 (Figure Box 6-3).



Figure Box 6-3 - Screen capture illustrating the specification of ZONEBUDGET zone 1.

5. Create additional rectangle objects to assign values of 2, 3, and 4, to the right half of the grid in layer 2, the left half of the grid in layer 3 and the right half of the grid in layer 3 respectively.

6. Color the grid with the Zones data set to check that the zones have been assigned correctly (Figure Box 6-4).



Figure Box 6-4 - Screen capture of ModelMuse main window illustrating the distribution of ZONEBUDGET zones.

7. ZONEBUDGET uses output files from MODFLOW as part of its input. Because the name of the model has been changed, you will have to run MODFLOW again before running ZONEBUDGET. Select *File* | *Export* | *MODFLOW* 6 *Input Files*. The Save MODFLOW input files dialog box has a check box for exporting the ZONEBUDGET input files. If that checkbox is checked, ZONEBUDGET will run immediately after MODFLOW 6. If you had already run the model, you could have selected *File* | *Export* | *ZONEBUDGET Input Files* to run ZONEBUDGET.

8. After running MODFLOW and ZONEBUDGET, open the ZONEBUDGET listing file (PS1A_ZB.zb.lst) in a text editor. You can determine the flows between zones from the budget for each zone (Figure Box 6-5).

VOLUME BUDGET FOR	ZONE 3 AT END OF	TIME STEP	1, STRESS PH	ERIOD	1	
CUMULATIVE VOLU	ME L**3	RATES FOR	THIS TIME STR	EP 1	L**3/T	PACKAGE/MODEL
IN:			IN:			
DATA-SPDIS	= 0.0	000	DATA-SPDIS	=	0.0000	NPF
CHD	= 0.0	000	CHD	=	0.0000	CHD-1
ZONE 1	= 53505.2	120	ZONE 1	-	53505.2120	
ZONE 4	= 0.0	000	ZONE 4	=	0.0000	
TOTAL IN	= 53505.2	120	TOTAL IN	=	53505.2120	
OUT.			OUT			
DATA-SPDIS	= 0.0	000	DATA-SPDIS	=	0.0000	NPF
CHD	= 0.0	000	CHD	=	0.0000	CHD-1
ZONE 1	= 0.0	000	ZONE 1	=	0.0000	
ZONE 4	= 53505.1	937	ZONE 4	=	53505.1937	
TOTAL OUT	= 53505.1	937	TOTAL OUT	=	53505.1937	
IN - OUT	= 1.8280E	-02	IN - OUT	=	1.8280E-02	
PERCENT DISCREPANCY	= 0.0	D PERCENT	DISCREPANCY	=	0.00	

Figure Box 6-5 - Screen capture of the ZONEBUGET listing file with the flow from zone 3 to zone 4 highlighted. This is the flow from layer 2 to layer 3 in the left half of the model.

Box 7 Step-by-Step Instructions for Model PS1B1

1. Open PS1A and save as PS1B1.

2. Modify the description of the project in the *Model MODFLOW Options* dialog box (Figure Box 7-1).

MODFLOW Option:	s		_		×
Description Opti	ons Wetting				
Project name					
Date	Modeler				
3/2/2021					
Description of pro	oject.				
Problem Set 1E	31				^
<					>
		••••	1 014		. 1
		<u>? H</u> elp	✓ OK	🛛 🗶 Car	ncel
/	-				

Figure Box 7-1 - Screen capture illustrating modification of the project description.

3. In the Edit Data Sets dialog box modify the formulas for Kx and Kz to multiply the vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity by two (Figure Box 7-2).

Demoised	Desire la	J /
H Required	Basic Comment	
Active	Name	
-Cell_Type	Kx	
	Туре	Orientation
Ку	Real -	3D _
Kz	Evaluated At	Units
-Modflow_Initial_Head	Cells -	
-XT3D_Angle_1	Interpolation	Anisotropy
-XT3D_Angle_2	none	1
Layer Definition		Edit formula
	Default formula	Edit formula
	2 Holp	Apply Dickson
Data Sets	Basic Comment	>
Data Sets Required Hydrology Coll. Turpo	Basic Comment	>
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN	Basic Comment	- C
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx	Basic Comment	>
Data Sets → Required → Hydrology → Active → Cell_Type → IDOMAIN → Kx → Ky	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real	Orientation
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Kv Modflow_Initial_Head	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real	Orientation
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>·</u> Evaluated At Cells <u>·</u>	Orientation 3D
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1 XT3D_Angle_2	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>·</u> Evaluated At Cells <u>·</u> Interpolation	Orientation SD Units Anisotropy
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Ky Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1 XT3D_Angle_2 XT3D_Angle_3	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real · Evaluated At Cells · Interpolation	Orientation 3D Units Anisotropy 1
Data Sets Required Hydrology - Active - Cell_Type - IDOMAIN - Kx - Ky - Modflow_Initial_Head - Modflow_Specified_Head - XT3D_Angle_1 - XT3D_Angle_3 - XT3D_Angle_3 - XT3D_Engle_3	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real ~ Evaluated At Cells ~ Interpolation none ~	Orientation Orientation JD Units Anisotropy 1 Edit formula
Data Sets Required Hydrology - Active - Cell_Type - IDOMAIN - Kx - Ky - Modflow_Initial_Head - Modflow_Specified_Head - XT3D_Angle_1 - XT3D_Angle_3 → Layer Definition	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real · Evaluated At Cells · Interpolation none · Default formula Case(Layer, 10., 0	Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Orientation Drientation Drien

4. Save the ModelMuse file. Then export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. Import the model results when you are done.

conductivities by two.

Box 8 Step-by-Step Instructions for Model PS1B2

- 1. Open PS1A, modify the project description, and save as PS1B2.
- 2. Edit the two objects that define the specified head boundaries by slecting the red arrow button on the toolbar and then select and double click on the river CHD boundary. Raise the specified head to 321 m (Figure Box 8-1, top). Then select and double click on the canal CHD boundary and raise the specified head to 331 m (Figure Box 8-1, bottom).

🛃 Object Proj	perties								_
Properties	Data Sets	MODFLOW Fea	atures Ve	ertices 0	omments	Caption	s		
-F CHD:	Time-Variar	nt \$	CF	ID: Time-	Variant S	pecified	Head p	ackage	
					Formula				
				-					
		Starting	time	time	bead head	head			
		PEST Modi	fier						
		Modification	Method		Add	Add			
		-1		0	321	321			
		L							
		1 🌲 Nur	nber of tin	nes				·⊟ [nsert	X Delete
			1				1		
Dbject Pro	Cor	nvert time units				?	<u>-</u> lelp	✓ OK	Canc
Cobject Proj Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fea	itures Ve	ertices C	Comments	? !	Help	✓ OK –	Canc
Dobject Proj Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Varian	MODFLOW Fee	itures Ve CF	ertices C ID: Time-	Comments Variant S	?]	Help	✓ OK –	Canc
Dobject Proj Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Varian	MODFLOW Fee	atures Ve	ertices C ID: Time-	Comments Variant S	? ! s/Caption pecified-	Help	✓ OK –	Canc
Coject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee	atures Ve CF	ertices C ID: Time- Ending	Comments Variant S Formula Starting	? ! s/Caption pecified	delp s Head p	✓ OK –	Canc
Doject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee	time	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time	Comments Variant S Formula Starting head	? I	delp	✓ OK 	Canc
Doject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee	time	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time	Comments Variant S Formula Starting head	? I	_elp	✓ OK 	Canc
Cobject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee Starting PEST Modi Modification	time fier Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time	Formula Starting head	? I	<u>H</u> elp	✓ OK –	Can
Cobject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variat	MODFLOW Fee Starting PEST Modi Modification -1	time fier Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time	Comments Variant S Formula Starting head Add 331	Caption pecified	Head p	✓ OK –	Canc
Conject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee Starting PEST Modi Modificatior -1	time fier Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time	Comments Variant S Formula Starting head Add 331	? I s/Caption pecified head Add 331	Help	✓ OK –	Cano
Coject Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Vanar	MODFLOW Fee	time fier Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time	Formula Starting head Add 331	? I	delp delp delp	✓ OK –	Canc
Object Prop	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Vanar	MODFLOW Fee	atures Ve Ch time fier Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time 0	Comments Variant S Formula Starting head Add 331	? I	delp	✓ OK –	Canc
Ø Object Prop Properties □ 2 CHD	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee Starting PEST Modi Modification -1	time	entices C ID: Time- Ending time	Comments Variant S Formula Starting head Add 331	? ! s/Caption pecified head Add 331	delp	✓ OK –	Canc
Object Prop Properties Properties CHD.	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variat	MODFLOW Fee Starting PEST Modi Modification -1	time fier	entices C ID: Time- Ending time	Formula Starting head Add 331	? ! ! c/Caption pecified	delp s	✓ OK –	Canc
Cobject Prop Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variat	MODFLOW Fee Starting FEST Modi Modification -1 1 \$ Nur	time fier Method	Ending time 0	Comments Variant S Starting Head Add 331	? I sicaria	delp s	✓ OK – aackage	× Cano
Deject Prop Properties	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee Starting FEST Modi Modification -1 1 \$ Nur	atures Ve CF fier 1 Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time 0	Formula Formula Starting head Add 331	? ! ! s/Caption pecified. Add 331	delp sis	✓ OK – aackage	× Cano
Object Properties Properties CHD.	Cor perties Data Sets Time-Variar	MODFLOW Fee Starting Starting Starting Starting Starting Starting International I	atures Ve CF fier 1 Method	ertices C ID: Time- Ending time 0	Formula Formula Starting head Add 331	? ! SiCaption pecified	delp delp delp	✓ OK 	× Cano

Figure Box 8-1 - Screen captures illustrating increasing the specified heads by one.

3. Save the ModelMuse file. Then export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. Import the model results when you are done.

Box 9 Step-by-Step Instructions for Model PS1B3

- 1. Open PS1A and save as PS1B3.
- 2. Modify the description in the *Model* | *MODFLOW Options* dialog box.
- 3. Modify the formulas for Kx and Kv to change the horizontal and vertical hydraulic conductivities of the silt layer (Figure Box 9-1).

🐉 Data Sets		- o >
∃ Required	Basic Comment	
Hydrology Active	Name	
-Cell_Type	Kx	
IDOMAIN	Туре	Orientation
- Ky	Real ~	3D
-Kz	Evaluated At	Units
-Modflow_Initial_Head	Cells ~	
-XT3D_Angle_1	Interpolation	Anisotropy
-XT3D_Angle_2 -XT3D_Angle_3	none +] [1
Layer Definition	Default formula	Edit formula
	Case/Laver 50	0.0001 200.)
Add		
	, Heib	
Detete	<u><u>r</u><u>H</u>elp</u>	✓ Appiy1(⊆iose
Detete	Basic Comment	>
Detete	Basic Comment	>
Data Sets Determined Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN	Basic Comment Name Kz Type	Appiy It glose
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real	Appiy IL Glose Orientation ID ID
Data Sets Determined Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Ky Kz Ky Ky Kz Ky Kz Ky Ky Ky Kz Ky Ky	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real	Appiy
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>r</u> Evaluated At	Appiy <u>I</u> (<u>v</u> ose Orientation 3D Units
Data Sets Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Ky Ky Ko Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>·</u> Evaluated At Cells <u>·</u> Interpolation	Appiy IL Glose - - Orientation 3D Units Anisotropy
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active Cell_Type IDOMAIN Kx Ky Ky Ki Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head XT3D_Angle_1 XT3D_Angle_2 XT3D_Angle_3	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>-</u> Evaluated At Cells <u>-</u> Interpolation	Appiy
	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real Evaluated At Cells Interpolation none Default formula	Appiy
Data Sets Required Hydrology - Active - Cell_Type - IDOMAIN - Kx - Ky - Kx - Modflow_Initial_Head - Modflow_Specified_Head - XT3D_Angle_1 - XT3D_Angle_3 E Layer Definition	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>·</u> Evaluated At Cells <u>·</u> Interpolation none <u>·</u> Default formula Case(Laver, 10, 10)	Appiy
Data Sets Required Hydrology Active -Cell_Type IDOMAIN -Kx Ky Ky K2 Modflow_Initial_Head Modflow_Specified_Head -XT3D_Angle_1 -XT3D_Angle_3 E Layer Definition	Basic Comment Name Kz Type Real <u>·</u> Evaluated At Cells <u>·</u> Interpolation none <u>·</u> Default formula Case(Layer, 10.	Appiy

Figure Box 9-1 - Screen captures illustrating modifying the hydraulic conductivity of the silt layer.

4. Save the ModelMuse file. Then export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. Import the model results when you are done.

Box 10 Step-by-Step Instructions for Model PS1B4

- 1. Open PS1A and save as PS1B4.
- 2. Create a new rectangular object that surrounds the cells in question by selecting *Object*|*Create*|*Rectangle* (Figure Box 10-1). On the Data Sets tab of the Object Properties dialog box, enter the value for Kx in the affected cells. Be sure the formulas for the higher and lower Z coordinates enclose just layer 1 (Figure Box 10-2).



Figure Box 10-1 - Screen capture illustrating the position of an object that specifies a different value of hydraulic conductivity.

Properties Data Sets N	AND A CONTRACT OF A DECEMBER OF A DECEMB OF A DECEMBER OF A	al and a second second	Increase and a second			
Evaluated at @ Cells C	Cell corners	s Comments on locked	Captions	ation (not ed	litable)	
Name High Conduction	vity_Zone		Object lengt	h		
Duplicate cells allowed Use to set grid cell siz	d 0 Quadtree refi	nement	Object area	9767603		
Grid cell size	1000		Object orde	r		
Color object line	Set object line of	olor	3			
Color object interior	Set object fill co	lor.				
 Set values of enclosed Set values of intersect Set values of cells by 	d cells Minimum fra ed cells of cell length	ction				
Number of Z formulas	r Two					
Z-coordinate	(Model Top + Upper Aqu	ifer_Bottom) /	2.		Edit	()
Higher Z-coordinate	Model_Top				Edit F	-()
ower Z-coordinate	Upper_Aquifer_Bottom				Edit	()
		1	2 Links	1.01		
Properties Data Sets N	NODFLOW Features Vertice	s Comments	/Captions		Edit F)
Properties Data Sets N Hydrology 	ADDFLOW Features Vertice Formula for 250 250 250 250 Data set co be specified formulas.	s Comments "Kx" data set mment	Associ PHAS MODF MODF	ated model of T: MEDIA-K3 LOW LPF, U LOW BCF; LOW BCF;	data	0
Properties Data Sets N Hydrology 	ADDFLOW Features Vertice Formula for 250 Data set co be specified formulas.	s Comments "Kx" data set mment	Associ PHAS MODF MODF MODF MODF	ated model (T: MEDIA-K) LOW LPF, U LOW BCF: LOW 6 NPF	Edit Fi	0
Properties Data Sets N Properties Data Sets N Properties Data Sets N Properties Deta Sets N Proper	ADDFLOW Features Vertice Formula for 250 Data set co be specified formulas.	s Comments "Kx" data set mment	Associ PHAS MODF MODF MODF MODF MODF MODF MODF	ated model of T: MEDIA-Ko LOW LPF, I LOW BCF: LOW 6 NPF	data k UPW: HK TRAN,HY K)
Properties Data Sets N Proper	ADDFLOW Features Vertice Formula for 250 Data set co be specified formulas. Value 1 Value 2 1	s Comments "Kx" data set mment	Associ PHAS MODF MODF MODF MODF MODF an direction or m C Y C Z	ated model of T: MEDIA-K; LOW LPF, L LOW BCF: LOW 6 NPF ixture	Edit Fi	0

Figure Box 10-2 - Screen captures illustrating specifying the hydraulic conductivity in a limited zone.

3. Save the ModelMuse file. Then export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. Import the model results when you are done.
Box 11 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2A

- 1. Open model PS1A (*File*|*Ope*n) and save it as PS2A (*File*|*Save As*). Change the description of the model in the *Model*|*MODFLOW Options* dialog box.
- 2. Select *Object* | *Select Objects* and click on the object that represents the canal on the western edge of the model to select it. Click the *Delete* button on the keyboard to delete the object.
- 3. Select *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* and activate the Recharge package (under "*Boundary conditions Specified flux*"). It is also a good idea to have the recharge apply to the top active cell so the recharge will enter the system even if a future simulation causes the top layer to go dry (Figure Box 11-1).

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	rams		-	-	ı ×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Specified head Free CHD: Time-V Free Specified flux	RCH: Recharge package Comments				^
RCH: Recharless of the second se	Recharge location option Top ac Recharge assignment method © Objects overwrite values of prev © Sum values of all objects	tive cell	Time varying re	charge	v layers
	Name Value				
< >>	0	- 1		Х <u>D</u> е	lete
		<u>? H</u> elp	✓ OK	× (Cancel

Figure Box 11-1 - Screen capture illustrating activation of the Recharge package.

4. A rectangular object to indicate recharge will be defined over the entire top surface of the grid. To do this, select *Object* | *Create* | *Rectangle* and click at one corner of the rectangle and then click again to define the opposite corner of the rectangle (Figure Box 11-2, top image). In the Object Properties dialog box, check the box next to RCH: Recharge package on the MODFLOW Features tab and enter the recharge rate (Figure Box 11-2).

ModelMuse: H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Models\Exercise 3\PS2A.gpt		_	
File Edit Grid Data Object Navigation View Customize Model Model Sele	ection Help		
) ୮୦ ୫ 👩 🚹		
			- 🗾
◦⊢			
0 – · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			- 00
9-00			-9'00'
8			18
0. F			
	•		
	- ŀ _		
Chiest Properties			
Object Properties Data Sets MODELOW Features Vertices Comments/C	antions	-	
Dobject Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant 5 RCH: Recharge	aptions	-	
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant 5 RCH: Recharge pace	aptions ge package	_	
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant § RCH: Recharge pac	aptions	_	
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge Formula	aptions	_	
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge pac Formula Starting time Ending Recharge	aptions ge package	_	
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact Formula Starting time Ending Recharge rate	aptions ge package		
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge RCH: Recharge RCH: Recharge pact Formula Starting time Ending Recharge PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply	aptions		
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact Starting time Ending Recharge rate PEST Modifier Multiply PEST Modification Method Multiply -1 0 0.005	aptions ge package		
➢ Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C Image: CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact Image: RCH: Recharge pact Formula Image: Starting time Ending Recharge rate Image: PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply Image: Note of the starting time Image: Table of the starte	aptions ge package		
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant S RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact Starting time Ending Recharge rate PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply -1 0 0.005	aptions ge package		
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge pact Formula Starting time Ending Recharge PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply	aptions ge package		
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge pact Formula Starting time Ending Recharge rate PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply -1 0 0.005	aptions ge package	-	
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant S RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact Starting time Ending Recharge PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply -1 0 0.005	aptions ge package		□ ×
Object Properties Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices Comments/C CHD: Time-Variant \$ RCH: Recharge RCH: Recharge pact Formula Starting time Ending Recharge Table PEST Modifier Modification Method Multiply 1 Number of times	aptions ge package	- 	□ ×

Figure Box 11-2 - Screen captures illustrating using an object to define the recharge boundary.

5. Select *File* | *Export* | *MODFLOW 6 Input Files* to run the model. To import the heads from the model, select *File* | *Import* | *Model Results*. For Display Choice, click *Neither*. After importing the model results, a cross section of the water table can be plotted by selecting *Data* | *Data* | *Data Visualization* and selecting the Cross Sections pane. Then

expand down to *Data Sets* | *Optional* | *Model Results* | *Water Table* | *Water_Table_P1_S1* and click the red arrow pointing to the right to move that data set into the Data sets to plot table on the right. If desired, change the color assigned to the water table data sets by clicking on the color in the second column of the "Data sets to plot" table. Next, click *Apply* and *Close* (Figure Box 11-3). A thin line will be plotted across layer one from the west side of the model to the river in the panel at the bottom of the ModelMuse screen. The elevation of the water table line corresponds to the head elevations displayed in the main panel of the ModelMuse screen.



Figure Box 11-3 - Screen capture illustrating visualizing data on a cross section.

6. Save the model for use in the next exercise.

Box 12 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2B

This model PS2B represents the river of model PS2A using the river package. The hydraulic conductivity of the riverbed is 20 m/d, and the width is 10 m. The elevation of the riverbed bottom is 317 m. The riverbed is 1 m thick.

- 1. Open PS2A and save it as PS2B. Change the description of the model.
- 2. Open the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box and deactivate the CHD package and activate the River package as shown in Figure Box 12-1 (the River package is a head-dependent flux boundary).

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	Irams	_		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions G Specified head	RIV: River package Comments			
CHD: Time-V Specified flux Head-dependent fl ORN: Drain p				< >
-⊢ ETS: Evapotr -⊢ GHB: Genera -⊢ LAK: Lake pa -⊢ MAW: Multi-A -⊢ MVR: Water I - ₩ RV: Water I	Name Value			
SFR. MODFL UZF6: Unsatu UZF6: Solvers Subsidence Observations				
Post processors MT3DMS or MT3D-U				
< >	0 👤 Number of parameters	×	<u>D</u> elete	
	<u>?</u> <u>H</u> elp ✓ OK		🗙 Can	cel

Figure Box 12-1 - Screen capture illustrating deactivating the CHD package and activating the River package.

3. Use global variables to define some of the properties of the river by selecting *Data* | *Edit Global Variables*... and defining global variables for the river width, river bed hydraulic conductivity, and the river bed thickness (Figure Box 12-2).

🐉 Global Variables					_		×
Name	Туре	Value		Comment			
RiverBedThickness	Real	1					
RiverK	Real	20					
RiverWidth	Real	10					
3 🗧 Number of	f global varia	ables					
Import global vari	ables				Dele	ete	
Save global varia	ables		? <u>H</u> elp	Apply	<u>, C</u> l	ose	

Figure Box 12-2 - Screen capture illustrating specification of global variables.

4. Select the object that defines the river on the eastern edge of the model and edit in the Object Properties dialog box. (Select *Object* | *Select Objects* and then double-click on the object. Another way to select it is to select *Object* | *Show or Hide Objects* and then double click on the appropriate object (Figure Box 12-3).

🐉 Show or Hide Objects	_		×
 Image: All Objects Image: Point of the set of the	ead pa ver (Int	ackage ersecte	:d)
Show or select objects Choice Show Select Choice Show Select Crientation Front Side Show objects containing search term		<u>? H</u> e <u>∎</u> <u>C</u> lo	elp

5. Check the check box for the River package on the MODFLOW Features tab.
6. Enter values for the starting and ending times, the river stage, and the river bottom (Figure Box 12-4). The conductance of the riverbed is equal to the area of the riverbed in the cell times the hydraulic conductivity of the riverbed divided by the thickness of the riverbed. The length of the river in the cell can be automatically calculated by ModelMuse. The length of the river in the cell times the river width is the area of the river in the cell. If we leave the conductance interpretation method set to "Calculated," whatever value we assign to the conductance per unit length will be multiplied by the length of the object within the cell. Thus, we can define the

Figure Box 12-3 - Screen capture illustrating the use of the "Show or Hide Objects" dialog box to select objects for editing.

conductance using a formula that includes the global variables for river properties. If you used the same names for the global variables as illustrated above, the formula would be "RiverK * RiverWidth / RiverBedThickness" (Figure Box 12-4). For this model, you can check the coordinates of the vertices of the object on the Vertices tab and make sure that the line goes exactly in North/South direction and goes completely through all the cells it intersects.

Object Properties					_		×
Properties Data Sets MO	DFLOW Features	ertices C	omme	nts/Captions			
CHD: Time-Variant S			RI	/: River package			
RIV: River package							
			[:] ormula				
	Starting time	Ending time	River stage	Conductance per u	nit length or area	botto	er om
	PEST Modifier						
	Modification Method		Add	Multiply		Add	
	-1	0	320	(RiverK * RiverWidth) /	RiverBedThickne	ess 317	
I ⇒ I ⇒ Number of times → □ □							
	Conductance interpre	etation	Calcula	ated -			
Convert	t time units			2 Holp	OK	¥ Cance	

Figure Box 12-4 - Screen capture illustrating the use of a formula to specify the riverbed conductance.

7. Save and run the model, import the resulting heads, view the listing file, and answer the question for Exercise 5.10. Be sure to save the ModelMuse file for use in the next exercise.

Box 13 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2C

This model is the same as model PS2B except that a buried drain tile, simulated with the DRAIN package, is installed in row 15 in columns 10-20. The conductance between the aquifer and the drain is $100,000 \text{ m}^2/\text{d}$, the elevation of the drain is 322.5 m.

- 1. Open the model PS2B and save it as PS2C. Edit the description of the model.
- 2. Open the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box and activate the Drain package (Figure Box 13-1).

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	grams	-		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Specified head Specified flux	DRN: Drain package Comments			~
				>
	Name Value			
	0 ≜ Number of parameters	×	<u>D</u> elete	
	<u>? Н</u> еlp ✓ ОК	:	🕻 Can	cel

Figure Box 13-1 - Screen capture illustrating activating the Drain package.

3. Create a straight-line object along row 15 from columns 10 through 20 (Figure Box 13-2). In this case, the only thing that matters is that the object intersect the correct cells because the conductance will be specified directly rather than calculated.



Figure Box 13-2 - Screen capture illustrating using an object to define drain boundaries.

4. In the Object Properties dialog box, make sure that the new object is in the top layer and activate the Drain package on the MODFLOW Features tab. In this case, we will specify the conductance directly rather than using a formula to specify the conductance. Thus, we set the conductance interpretation method to "Direct" and enter values for the starting and ending times, the drain elevation, and the drain conductance (Figure Box 13-3). If "Calculated" rather than "Direct" were selected, the modeler would specify the conductance per unit length and ModelMuse would calculate the conductance by multiplying the length of intersection between the object and the cell with the value specified by the modeler.

Oliver Decention		
Properties Data Sets MO	DFLOW Features Vertices Comments/Captions	
Cells CC	Il corners Position locked Object information (not ec	litable)
Name Drain	Object length	
	0 Quadtree refinement Object area	
Use to set grid cell size	0	
Grid cell size	1000 Object order	
Color object line	Set object line color 3	
Color object interior	Set object fill color	
 Set values of enclosed of Set values of intersected 	ells Minimum fraction I cells of cell length	
 Set values of cells by interest 	arpolation IU	
C Zero C One		
Z-coordinate	(Model_Top + Upper_Aquifer_Bottom) / 2.	Edit F()
Higher Z-coordinate	Model_Top	Edit F()
Lower Z-coordinate	Upper_Aquifer_Bottom	Edit F()
Convert	time units 7 Help 🗸 OK	X Cancel
		<u>ا</u>
Dbject Properties	b	· □ ×
Properties Data Sets MOD	FLOW Features Vertices Comments/Captions	
RCH: Recharge pact RCH: Recharge pact RV: River package	DRN: Drain package	
	Formula	
r	Starting time Engling Elevation Conductance	
•	time	
F	PEST Modifier	
	Indification Method Add Multiply	
Ľ.	1 0 322.5 100000	
-	1 🕄 Number of times 🛛 🔒 Inser	× Delete
	Conductance interpretation	
·		
Convert t	rme units ? <u>H</u> elp ✔OK	× Cancel

Figure Box 13-3 - Screen captures illustrating specifying the Drain properties.

- 5. Try coloring the grid with the drain conductance. Select *Data* | *Data visualization...*, make sure Color Grid is highlighted, and under "Data set or boundary condition" choose DRN Conductance. Notice that the conductance in all the drain cells is 100,000. If you wish, try changing the conductance interpretation to "Calculated" and notice the effect. You will probably see that not all the drain cells have the same conductance because the length of intersection of the object with the cells varies among the cells. After observing this effect, select *Edit* | *Undo* to revert to the previous value of the conductance interpretation.
- 6. Save the ModelMuse file. Then export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. Import the head results when you are done. Be sure to save the ModelMuse file for use in the next two exercises.

Box 14 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2C1

- 1. Use *File Save As* to save the PS2C model again as PS2C1. Change the description of the model.
- 2. In the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box, activate the General Head Boundary (GHB) package and deactivate the Drain package (Figure Box 14-1).

MODELOW/De-de-mail De-mailer		\sim
	U	
Flow Packages DRN: Drain package		
E Boundary conditions		
Specified flux		<u>^</u>
E-Head-dependent fl		
T FTS' Evapotr		
GHB: Genera		v
LAK: Lake pa Name Value		
MAW: Multi-A		
- MVR: Water /		
T 1/2F6 Linsati		
⊞-Solvers		
⊕ Subsidence		
Observations		
Post processors		
⊞-MT3DMS or MT3D-U		
		1
0 🚔 Number of parameters	× <u>D</u> elete	
? Help 🗸 OK	🗙 Cano	:el

Figure Box 14-1 - Screen capture illustrating deactivating the Drain package and activating the General Head Boundary package.

3. Edit the object that formerly defined the drain and use it to define a General Head boundary (Figure Box 14-12).

🖏 Object Properties							×		
Properties Data Sets M	ODFLOW Features Ve	ertices	comments/C	Captions					
GHB: General-Head		GHB:	General-He	ead Boundary pac	kage				
RCH: Recharge pack									
		Formula							
	Starting time	Ending time	Boundary head	Conductance					
	PEST Modifier								
	Modification Method		Add	Multiply					
	4-1	0	322.5	100000 <u>F()</u>					
	1 🖨 Number of tir	mes			•⊟ Insert	X Del	ete		
	Conductance interpre	etation	Direct	_					
	o on data neo merpr	olulion	Direct						
Conve	ert time units			? <u>H</u> elp	ОК	× Ca	ncel		

Figure Box 14-2 - Screen capture illustrating defining the properties of a General Head Boundary.

4. Save and run the model, import the resulting heads, view the listing file, and answer the question for Exercise 5.12. Compare the water budget for run PS2C1 (that uses the GHB) with the water budget for run PS2C (that uses DRN) and explain any difference you observe.

Box 15 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2D

- 1. Open model PS2C and click *Save As* to create a new model named PS2D. Edit the description of the model.
- 2. In the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box, activate the Well package (Figure Box 15-1).

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	rams	-		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Specified head Specified flux \vec{reck: Rechar}{reck: Rechar}	WEL: Well package 1E-6 Cell adjustment fraction (PHIRAMP - MODFLOW-NV Use tabfiles to define well pumpage (TABFILES) (MODFLOW Comments	VT) -NVVT	1.1)	
Head-dependent fl				
Solvers				
Observations				
Post processors MT3DMS or MT3D-II				~
	Name Value			
< >	0	×	<u>D</u> elete	
	<u>?</u> <u>H</u> elp ✓ ОК		🗙 Can	cel

Figure Box 15-1 - Screen capture illustrating activation of the Well package.

3. Create a point object at row 11, column 10 (Figure Box 15-2).



Figure Box 15-2 - Screen capture illustrating the use of a point object to define a well.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

4. In the Object Properties dialog box, make sure that the object is in layer 1 and use it to define a well (Figure Box 15-3).

3 Object Properties					_	
Properties Data Sets MO	DFLOW Fea	tures Vertices	Comments/C	aptions		
Evaluated at			n locked	-Object inform	ation (not edit	able)
© Cells C Ce	ell corners			Object Inform	h	able
Name				0		
Duplicate cells allowed	0	Quadtree refin	ement	Object area		
□ Use to set grid cell size	4000			0		
Grid cell size	1000			Object order		
Color object line	S	et object line co	or 🗕 🗕	4		
Color object interior	S	et object fill col	or			
 Set values of enclosed c Set values of intersected 	ells I cells	Minimum frac of cell length	tion			
E Set values of cells by inte	erpolation	0				
Number of Z formulas						
C Zero C One	• Two					
Z-coordinate	(Model_Top) + Upper_Aqui	fer_Bottom) / 2			Edit F()
Higher Z-coordinate	Model_Top					Edit F()
Lower Z-coordinate	Upper_Aqu	ifer_Bottom				Edit F()
				? <u>H</u> elp	🗸 ОК	X Cancel
😕 Object Properties					_	D X
Properties Data Sets MO	DFLOW Fea	tures Vertices	Comments/C	Captions		
DRN: Drain package			WEL: Well	package		
☐ RCH: Recharge pacl ☐ RIV: River package						
WEL: Well package						
			Formula	<u> </u>		
	Ot anti-	time Tradi	 			
	Starting	time Endi tim	ng Pumping n e	ate		
•	PEST Modif	ier	none			
-	Modification	Method	Multiply			
	-1	0	-75000	<u>.0.</u>		
•						
<u>l</u>	1 🖹 Nur	nber of times				× Delata
	Dura i				<u>insert</u>	✓ Delete
	Pumping ra	te interpretation	Direct	<u> </u>		
< >						Tabfile
0 mm d	timo unite				OK.	Concol

Figure Box 15-3 - Screen captures illustrating defining a well in the Object Properties dialog box.

5. Save and run the model.

- 6. Import the heads from the .bhd file (*File* | *Import* | *Model Results*) and see what effect the well has had on the water levels.
- 7. Be sure to save the ModelMuse file for use in the next exercise.

Box 16 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS2D1

- 1. Save the PS2D model again as PS2D1. Change the description of the model.
- 2. Change the selected layer to layer 3. One way to change the selected layer is to click on the Model Cube in the top left corner of the top view of the model. Another way is to select *Grid* | *Set Selected Col, Row, and Layer*... and enter the new selected layer number in the dialog box. Next, create a point object at coordinates (2374, -6237). (Figure Box 16-1). You can specify the exact coordinates on the Vertices tab of the Object Properties dialog box.



Figure Box 16-1 - Screen capture illustrating using another point object to define another well.

3. In the Object Properties dialog box, make sure the Z coordinates place the well in layer 3. On the MODFLOW Features tab, define a well with the required pumping rate (Figure Box 16-2).

🐉 Object Properties	-	- 🗆	×
Properties Data Sets MC	DFLOW Features Vertices Comments/Captions		
Evaluated at	ell corners Position locked Object information (not en Object length	ditable)	
Name Well2	0		
Duplicate cells allowed	0 Quadtree refinement Object area		
Use to set grid cell size	0		
Grid cell size	1000 Object order		
Color object line	Set object line color 5		
🗖 Color object interior	Set object fill color		
 Set values of enclosed of Set values of intersected Set values of cells by intersected 	erpolation 0		
Number of Z formulas			
C Zero C One	○ Two		
Z-coordinate	(Silt_Bottom + Lower_Aquifer_Bottom) / 2.	Edit F	-()
Higher Z-coordinate	Silt_Bottom	Edit F	-0
Lower Z-coordinate	Lower_Aquifer_Bottom	Edit F	-0
Conver	t time units ? Help	X Ca	Incel

Object Properties				5	_		×
Properties Data Sets MC	DFLOW Features	/ertices 0	Comments/C	aptions			
DRN: Drain package			WEL: W	/ell package			
- 🔽 WEL: Well package							
			Formula				
	Starting time	Ending	Pumping				
1	1	unic	laic				
	PEST Modifier						
	Modification Method		Multiply	1			
	-1	0	-100000				
	1 🗘 Number of t	imes			· 🗏 Insert	X <u>D</u> el	ete
	Pumping rate interp	retation	Direct	•			
					Tal	bfile	
Conver	t time units			? <u>H</u> elp	✓ок	× Ca	ncel

Figure Box 16-2 - Screen capture illustrating specifying the well properties in the Object Properties dialog box.

4. Select *File*|*Save* to save the model and then select *File*|*Export MODFLOW 6 Input Files* to run the model. When the model has finished running, select *File*|*Import Model Results* and select the binary head output file. Choose the contouring option (Figure Box 16-3).

3 Select Model Results to Import	_						
☑ Head: Period: 1; Step: 1; Total Time: 1							
Model Results Classification	Prefix						
Color grid	C Neither						
Data used to color or contour grid							
Head: Period: 1; Step: 1; Total Time: 1		_					
Select all data setsDeselect all data sets	<u>? H</u> elp ✓ OK	X Cancel					

Figure Box 16-3 - Screen capture illustrating importing model results and contouring them.

5. You can change the selected layer to change the layer on which the contours are drawn.

Box 17 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS3Base

1. The reader can build this model based on information gleaned from previous exercises and name it PS3BASE, or start with the PS3Base.gpt provided in the <u>folder of exercises on this book's web page</u>. Load the model into a Graphical User Interface (GUI), examine its contents, and then run MODFLOW to generate output, import the calculated heads to visualize the head distribution, and view the results in the listing file.

2. Start ModelMuse and open the existing file PS3Base.gpt (Figure Box 17-1).

3 ModelMuse	-		Х
What do you want to do?			
C Create new MODFLOW model			
C Create new PHAST model			
C Create new SUTRA model			
C Create new WellFootprint project			
Open an existing ModelMuse project			
C Import MODFLOW-2005 or MODFLOW-NWT model			
C PS3Base.gpt (H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Models\Exercise 3\PS3Base.gpt)	se.gpt)		
C PS3Base.gpt (H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Introduction to MODFLOW\36 Exercise	ses\Cor	npleted	I\PS3
C PS2D1.gpt (H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Models\Exercise 3\PS2D1.gpt	ot)		
C PS2D.gpt (H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Models\Exercise 3\PS2D.gpt)			
C PS2C.gpt (H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Models\Exercise 3\PS2C.gpt)			
?	Help	Next	◆

Figure Box 17-1 - Screen capture illustrating opening an existing model.

3. Run PS3Base (Figure Box 17-2).



Figure Box 17-2 - Screen capture illustrating running PS3Base.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

4. Import the simulated heads into your model by selecting *File*|*Import*|*Model Results* and select *PS3Base.bhd*, then in the dialog box, set the classification to User Defined and specify a prefix. By specifying the prefix, the data sets that will be imported will be easy to recognize later (Figure Box 17-3).

🐉 Select Model Results to Import			_		×
Head: Period: 1; Step: 1; To	tal Time: 1				
User Defined 🗸	Classification	BaseResults	Prefix		
 Display choice Color grid 	 Contour grid 	O Neit	ther		
Data used to color or contour	grid				
Head: Period: 1; Step: 1; Tota	al Time: 1				•
Select all Deselect all data sets		? <u>H</u> elp	🗸 ОК	🗙 Car	ncel

Figure Box 17-3 - Screen capture illustrating importing model results using a specific prefix.

5. Save the model for reuse in parts A and B.

Box 18 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS3A

- 1. Open PS3Base in ModelMuse. Select *File* | *Save As* and save it as PS3A.
- 2. Open model PS3BASE in a GUI and use the *Save As* option to create a new model named PS3A.
- 3. Select *Model* | *MODFLOW Time*... to provide input to the TDIS package. Define three stress periods with the following properties as shown in Figure Box 18-1.
 - Stress period 1: length = 1, time steps = 1, multiplier = 1, type = SS (steady state)
 - Stress period 2: length = 1800, maximum first time-step length = 16, multiplier = 1.5, type = TR (transient)
 - Stress period 3: length = 1, time steps = 1, multiplier = 1, type = SS (steady state)



Figure Box 18-1 - Screen capture illustrating specifying model stress periods.

- 4. When you close the dialog box, you will get a message that the storage package has been activated. Activating the Storage package caused data sets for specific yield and specific storage to be created. Be sure that specific yield and specific storage have been specified in the *Data Edit Data Sets* dialog box.
 - Specific yield = 0.2
 - Specific storage = 0.000001 m⁻¹
- 5. Make the changes required to specify constant heads along the north and south boundaries (row 1 and row 21) as delineated in steps 6 through 8.
- 6. Select *Model* | *Packages and Programs* and activate the CHD package Figure Box 18-2).

MODFLOW Packages and Programs				- [⊐ ×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Specified head Comme	me-Variant Specified-Hea ents	d package			
Head-dependent fl	Value				
Subsidence Observations Post processors MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Value				
	lumber of parameters				
	aniper of parameters			XD	elete
		? <u>H</u> elp	🗸 ОК	×	Cancel

Figure Box 18-2 - Screen capture illustrating activating the Constant Head package.

7. Select *Object* | *Create* | *Straight Line* and draw a straight-line object in the top view of the model in the first row. Activate the CHD package in the Object Properties dialog box. Specify the starting and ending times to encompass all three stress periods and specify the head as the head imported from the base run (Figure Box 18-3). Repeat for the last row.



Figure Box 18-3 - Screen capture illustrating using an object to define specified head boundaries

8. Change starting head to be read from file PS3BASE.bhd. The format must be (BINARY). Select *Model MODFLOW Options* and on the Options tab, select the head file from the base run (Figure Box 18-4). Making this change will result in an altered Initial Conditions package input file.

3 MODFLOW Option	ns		(.)		×	
Description Op	tions Wetting					
Basic package	options v between adjacen	t constant-hea	d cells (CHT)	OCH)		
Print the start	time, end time, an	d elapsed time	e (PRINTTIME	E)		
Continue runn (STOPERRO	ning even if the solv R)	ver closure crit	eria are not n	net.		
-2E20	Head value for	or inactive cell	s (HNOFLO)			
-1E20	Head value for	or cells that be	come dry (H[DRY)		
1 Buc (ST	dget percent discre OPER)	epancy that wil	l cause exect	ution to s	stop	
Open listing fil	le in text editor whe	en model is do	ne.			
meters (2)	Length unit (L	ENUNI)				
days (4)	Time unit (ITM	IUNI)				
g	Mass unit (MI	UNIT)				
Binary file contai	ning initial heads (optional)				
MODFLOW/version 2/Version 2/Models/Exercise 3/PS3Base.bhd"						
 Use GSFLOW format Write binary grid file (MODFLOW-6) (Inverse of NOGRB 						
		? <u>H</u> elp	✓ OK	× Ca	ancel	

Figure Box 18-4 - Screen capture illustrating using the heads from the base model as the starting heads in the new model.

- 9. For stress periods 2 and 3, add a well to row 11, column 10 (coordinates = 4750±250, -5250±250) with a discharge rate of -100,000 m³/d (the well is not present in stress period 1) as described in steps 10 and 11.
- 10. First activate the Well package in the *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* dialog box (Figure Box 18-5).



Figure Box 18-5 - Screen capture illustrating activating the Well package.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

11. Next, create a point object – *Object* | *Create* | *Point* – and define the well properties in the Object Properties dialog box. Be sure that the times encompass only the second and third stress periods (Figure Box 18-6). The model has only one layer, so there is no need to specify the vertical position of the well.

📆 Object Properties					-		×
Properties Data Sets MC	DFLOW Features	ertices C	omments/C	aptions			
CHD: Time-Variant CHD: Time-Variant RCH: Recharge pack RIV: River package			WEL: Well	package			
	1		Formula				
	Starting time	Ending time	Pumping rate				
	PEST Modifier Modification Method	1004	Multiply	1			
l	1 🕄 Number of ti	mes	-100000]	• ⊟ Insert	× Dele	ete
	Pumping rate interpr	etation	Direct	<u> </u>		Tabfil	P
Convert	t time units			? Help	✓ OK	× Ca	ncel

Figure Box 18-6 - Screen capture illustrating specifying the properties of a well that is active in the second and third stress periods.

- 12. Make the necessary modifications in the RIVER and RECHARGE packages to set all their properties to the same values for all three stress periods as described in step 13.
- 13. Open the River object and in the Object Properties dialog box and change the ending time (Figure Box 18-7). Repeat this for the recharge.

Object Properties						-		×
Properties Data Sets M	ODFLOW Features	ertices	Comme	ents/Captions				
CHD: Time-Variant &			RIV: F	River package				
WEL: Well package								
			[:] ormula					
	Starting time	Ending time	River stage	Conductance	River bottom			
	PEST Modifier		none	none	none			
	Modification Method		Add	Multiply	Add			
	ំ <u>-1</u>	1801	50	100000	48			
	1 🔹 Number of ti	mes					X <u>D</u> ele	ete
	Conductance interpre	etation	Direct	•				
< >								
Conve	rt time units			? <u>H</u> el	p	✔ ОК	× Ca	ncel

Figure Box 18-7 - Screen capture illustrating modifying the ending time of a boundary condition.

- 14. Modify the MODFLOW Output Control file to save and print head at all time steps as described in step 15. Any heads that are saved in an output file can be displayed in a graphical user interafce.
- 15. Select *Model MODFLOW Output Control* and select *Head*. If you imported the model, the existing head options should already ensure that heads are saved at the end of every time step (Figure Box 18-8).

MODFLOW Outp	put Control —		×
General Head Drawdown Budget MT3D	Head \checkmark Save in external file External file type Binary External file format (CHEDFM) $1P \checkmark E \checkmark 13 \cdot 5 (10(1X1PE13.5))$ \checkmark Print in listing file Listing file format (IHEDFM) \forall wrap \checkmark 9G13.6 \checkmark Frequency First N time steps and each N'th time step thereafter N = 1		•
	<u>? H</u> elp ✓ OK	🗙 Car	ncel

Figure Box 18-8 - Screen capture illustrating specifying the output control values.

- 16. Next export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. When ModelMuse creates the MODFLOW input files, it will detect that there are no active wells in the first stress period. Because it is unusual for a stress package to be active in a model but not be used in a stress period, ModelMuse issues a warning. You may ignore this warning in this case because the absence of wells in the first stress period is by design.
- 17. While ModelMonitor is running MODFLOW, it will look a little different than before. The graph of percent discrepancy will be plotted for each time step (Figure Box 18-9).



Figure Box 18-9 - Screen capture of the ModelMonitor window displaying the percent discrepancy in the MODFLOW water budget in each time step.

18. After MODFLOW has finished running, the heads can be imported for every time step for which they were saved. To import the heads for all the time steps, check the checkboxes for all of them or click the *Select all data sets* button (Figure Box 18-10).

🐉 Select Model Results to Import	_		\times			
 ✓ Head: Period: 1; Step: 1; Total Time: 1 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 1; Total Time: 16.882809133994 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 2; Total Time: 40.7070228349849 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 3; Total Time: 76.4433433864714 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 4; Total Time: 130.047824213701 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 5; Total Time: 210.454545454545 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 6; Total Time: 331.064627315812 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 7; Total Time: 511.979750107712 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 9; Total Time: 1190.41146057734 ✓ Head: Period: 2; Step: 10; Total Time: 1801 ✓ Head: Period: 3; Step: 1; Total Time: 1802 						
Model Results Classification	Prefix					
Display choice Color grid Contour grid Nei	ther					
Data used to color or contour grid						
Head: Period: 3; Step: 1; Total Time: 1802						
Select all data sets ? Help	✔ ок	🗙 Car	ncel			

Figure Box 18-10 - Screen capture of the Select Model Results to Import dialog box with all the data sets for the model selected.

- 19. The model results for any particular time step can be viewed by selecting the desired data set in the *Data* | *Data* Visualization dialog box.
- 20. It is possible to view an animation of the model results in the *File*|*Export*|*Image* dialog box. To do so, open the Animation pane and check the check box for the 3D Data under Model Results and press the *Preview* button (Figure Box 18-11). You can close this box when done, without saving any images.

🔀 Export Image			- 🗆 X
» ⊻ew » Text	Contour legend 51 52 53 54 55 56		51 51 51
Data Sets Head_P1_S01 Head_P2_S01 Head P2 S02 Display choice Color grid Contour data	57 58	0	10,000
Saved settings (none)	< Ave Manage settings Copy Settings Paste S	Copy im Refresh Save im	age <u>? H</u> elp age <u>I C</u> lose

Figure Box 18-11 - Screen capture illustrating how to animate model results in ModelMuse.

Box 19 Step-by-Step Instructions for PS3B

- 1. Open PS3A.
- 2. Select *Model MODFLOW Packages* and deactivate the CHD package (Figure Box 19-1).

1 MODFLOW Packages and Program	IS	-		×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Specified head CHD Time-V Specified flux Head-dependent fl Solvers	CHD: Time-Variant Specified-Head package Comments			~
Bobservations Observations MT3DMS or MT3D-U	lame Value			
< >>	Number of parameters	×	<u>D</u> elete]
	? Неір 🗸 ОК	>	Canc	el

Figure Box 19-1 - Screen capture illustrating deactivating the CHD package.

3. Because the CHD package is deactivated, the objects that formerly defined the specified head boundaries no longer play that role although they retain data for the CHD package. They can be repurposed to define inactive cells. Open them in the Object Properties dialog box and use them to set the Active data set to False (Figure Box 19-2).

🐉 Object Properties		- 🗆 X
Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Features Vertices	Comments/Captions	
□ Image: Weight of the second se	'Active" data set	
Layer elevations can only be specified using objects with Zero Z formulas.	Associated mode PHAST: MEDIA-& MODFLOW BAS	I data Ictive IBOUND
PHAST-style interpolation		
Use PHAST-style interpolation	Interpolation direction or mixture	
Distance 1 0 Value 1 0	Mixture formula	
Distance 2 1 Value 2 1		Edit F()
	? <u>H</u> elp ✓ OK	X Cancel

Figure Box 19-2 - Screen capture illustrating the use of object to deactivate cells.

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

4. Save the ModelMuse file. Then export the MODFLOW input files and run MODFLOW. Import the model results when you are done.

Box 20 Step-by-Step Instructions for PSMP

- 1. Open PSMP.gpt in ModelMuse.
- 2. Make sure that MODPATH version 7 is installed on your computer. Make sure that heads and flows will be saved for each time step by opening the *Model MODFLOW Output Control* dialog box. On the Head pane, make sure the *Save in external file* checkbox is checked, the frequency is set to *First N time steps and each N'th time step thereafter* and N is set to 1. On the Budget pane, set the same frequency and N. Make sure that Save cell flows is set to Binary.
- 3. Select *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* and activate MODPATH 7 (Figure Box 20-1).

MODFLOW Packages and Prog	rams — 🗆 🗙			
E Flow Packages	MODPATH			
E Solvers	Comments			
Subsidence Observations	^			
	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output times			
MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Modpath version Output mode (SimulationType) • End points • Pathlines • Pathlines			
	Top face Treatment of evapotranspiration (IEVTTP)			
Top face Treatment of recharge (IRCHTP)				
	Use zone arrays (ZoneArrayOption) Reference time for simulation (ReferenceTime)			
	Which endpoints should be recorded?			
	All			
	O Zone in which to stop particles (StopZone) Treatment of weak sinks (WeakSinkOntion)			
	Pass through			
	Weak sink fractional threshold			
< >				
	? <u>H</u> elp ✓ OK X Cancel			

Figure Box 20-1 - Screen capture illustrating activating MODPATH 7 in the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box.

4. On the Version 6 and 7 options tab, set STOPOPTION to stop the particles at the termination points ((Figure Box 20-2). Click *OK* to close the dialog box.

MODFLOW Packages and Pro	grams	– 🗆 X
 Flow Packages Boundary conditions Solvers Subsidence 	MODPATH Comments	~
Observations		
MODPATH ZONEBUDGET	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output	ut times
MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Treatment of weak sources (WeakSourceOption)	Treatment of ETS flows
	End of particle tracking (StopOption) Stop at termination points (steady-state) (2)	Treatment of UZF flows Top face
	Maximum tracking time (StopTime) Budget checking (BudgetOutputOption)	Internal sink
	None (1)	Treatment of Reservoir flows
	1 Particle to track (TraceID)	
	Use retardation (RetardationOption) Advection observations	Top face •
	(AdvectiveObservationsOption)	Treatment of Lake flows
	None (1)	Top face 💌
·		
	<u>? H</u> elp	✓ OK X Cancel

Figure Box 20-2 - Screen capture illustrating specifying options for MODPATH.

5. Make sure the installation location for MODPATH is specified correctly in the *Model MODFLOW Program Locations* dialog box ((Figure Box 20-3).

3 MODFLOW Program Locations	-		\times	
Modflow 6				
https://www.usgs.gov/software/modflow-6-usgs-modular	-hydrol	ogic-m	odel	
C:\WRDAPP\mf6.3.0\bin\mf6.exe			ê	
Modflow 2005				
MODFLOW-LGR				
MODFLOW-LGR V2				
MODFLOW-NWT				
□ MODPATH v7				
https://www.usgs.gov/software/modpath-particle-tracking	g-mode	el-modf	low	
C:\WRDAPP\modpath_7_2_001\bin\mpath7.exe				
ZONEBUDGET 3				
ZONEBUDGET 6				
MT3DMS				
■ MT3D-USGS				
ModelMate				
Text editor				
ModelMonitor				
<u>? H</u> elp ✓	OK	× Ca	ancel	
Figure Box 20-3 - Screen capture illustrating th installation location.	e Mo	ODPA ⁻	TH 7	

6. Select *Data* | *Edit Data Sets* and set the porosity for all layers to 0.3 ((Figure Box 20-4). Click on *Apply* to change the porosity formula.

🐉 Data Sets		_		×
Required Hydrology Layer Definition MODPATH Modpath_Budget Porosity	Basic Comment Name Porosity Type Real • Evaluated At Cells • Interpolation none • Default formula	Orientation 3D Units Anisotropy 1 Edit form	 mula	
Add Delete	? Help	Apply	<u>, C</u> los	se

Figure Box 20-4 - Screen capture illustrating specifying porosity in the Data/Edit Data Sets dialog box.

7. The dataset should now be ready to run MODFLOW and MODPATH. However, there is one very important step required to make sure things are set up properly. When MODPATH is activated in ModelMuse, an auxiliary variable named IFACE is added to each entry in the river, drain, well, and recharge packages. IFACE is the integer boundary face flag that tells MODPATH how to assign those stresses to cell faces if they represent boundary flows. By default, ModelMuse will initially set IFACE equal to zero for all entries. A value of zero indicates that the stress component is distributed internally within the cell and not assigned to a cell face to represent a boundary flow. In this problem, the conceptual model of the river and drain is that they are shallow features that sit near the top of layer 1. To represent that, the IFACE values for the drain and river cells need to be assigned a value of 6, which indicates that MODPATH will assign those flow rates to the top faces of the cells. Recharge is also conceptualized as occurring at the surface, so it also needs to be assigned an IFACE value of 6. The IFACE value can be changed for each individual Objects in the Object Properties dialog box ((Figure Box 20-5). If the objects are not visible, display them with the *Object* | *Show* or Hide Objects dialog box. It can be helpful to hide the other objects. Select all three objects. This can be done on the top view of the model by clicking on them one at a time while holding down the Shift key on the keyboard. It can also be done in the Show or Hide Objects dialog box by selecting an object, right-clicking on it and selecting *Add to selection* from the popup menu. Once all three are selected, double

click on one of the selected objects on the top view of the model or click the *Edit selected objects* button in the Show or Hide Objects dialog box. Choose the MODFLOW Features tab and click on *MODPATH* (there should be a gray check next to DRN, RCH, and RIV), then in the upper portion under "Flow into boundary cell (IFACE)" click the button next to "Top (6)." Once those changes are made, the dataset is ready to be used for MODPATH simulation.



Figure Box 20-5 - Screen capture illustrating specification of the cell face through which the boundary flow occurs for MODPATH in the Object Properties dialog box.

8. Run MODFLOW again so that the budget output required by MODPATH includes data for all stress periods and the correct IFACE values before any MODPATH simulations can be made. Make sure "Export MODPATH input" is checked in the dialog box that appears after instructing ModelMuse to run the model. Save this version of the model. It will be the starting point for each of the following simulations.

Box 21 Step-by-Step Instructions for PSMP, Simulation 1

Exercise 7.1 - Forward Endpoint Simulation

These directions apply to creating the simulation in ModelMuse. If another GUI is used, the steps will be the same but the GUI features will differ. If it is not already open, open the version of PSMP saved after completing the steps described in Box 20. Save the file with a new file name such as PSMP_Endpoints. Make a forward-tracking endpoint simulation to delineate the source areas for the wells, drain, and river. Both forward and backward tracking can be modeled with MODPATH. The choice is specified in the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box. This is also where you specify whether MODPATH produces endpoints, path lines, or time-series data.

1. Create a polygon or rectangle object that covers the entire top view of the model. In the Object Properties dialog box, select *MODFLOW Features* and check the box for Initial particle placement, then specify the particles on the top surface of the cell and place a 5×5 array of particles on face 6 (top face) of each cell in layer 1 (Figure Box 21-1).



Figure Box 21-1 - Screen capture illustrating specifying the initial particle placement for MODPATH.

2. In the MODFLOW Packages and Programs dialog box, change the setting in MODPATH to use zone arrays (Figure Box 21-2). By default, forward tracking is already used.

MODFLOW Packages and Pr	grams	_		×
Flow Packages	MODPATH			
⊞ Solvers ⊞ Subsidence				~
Observations				
MODPATH				~
	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output times			
⊞ MT3DMS or MT3D-U	Modpath version Output mode (SimulationType) Solution End points Time succession Pathlines Pathlines Pathlines	eries es + 1	īme se	eries
	Top face Treatment of evapotranspiration (IEVTTP)			
	Top face Treatment of recharge (IRCHTP)			
	Image: Weight of the second	e for s e)	imulati	on
	Which endpoints should be recorded?			
	All			
	Zone in which to stop particles (StopZone)			
	Treatment of weak sinks (WeakSinkOption) Tracking direct	ion		
	Pass through	tion)		
	0 Weak sink fractional threshold Forward		-	
< >				
	? <u>H</u> elp ✔ OK		🗙 Can	cel

Figure Box 21-2 - Screen capture illustrating specifying options for MODPATH in the *Model*|*MODFLOW Packages and Programs* dialog box.

3. The default MODPATH zone number for the entire model is 1. Set the zone numbers of layer 1 and layer 3 so that the layer 1 cells where the river is located are zone 2, the cell of layer 1 that contains the shallow well is zone 3, the layer 1 cells containing the drain are zone 4, and the cell of layer 3 that contains the deep well is zone 5. The easiest way to do this is to select each object that specifies the boundary condition and use it to specify the MODFLOW Zone number on the Data Sets tab of the Object Properties dialog box (Figure Box 21-3). You can edit objects by double-clicking on them on the top view of the model or in the Show or Hide Objects dialog box. Note that you must unselect the previous selected Object or you may be changing the MODPATH zone numbers in the wrong locations.

🔀 Object Properties				_		×
Properties Data Sets MODFLOW Fea	atures Vertices	s Comments/Captio	ns			
Required Hydrology MODPATH Modpath_Budget Modpath_Zone Porosity	Formula for	"Modpath_Zone" dat	a set		Edit F	0
	Data set cor	mment	Associa	ated model (data	
Layer elevations can only be specified using objects with Zero Z formulas.			MODP MODP Item 32	ATH v5: IBC ATH v6 Sim 2: Zones	UND ulation Fi	ile
PHAST-style interpolation						
Use PHAST-style interpolation		■Interpolation direct	C Z	© Mix		
Distance 1 0 Value 1	0	Mixture formula				
Distance 2 1 Value 2	1				Edit F	-()
		?	Help	✓ OK	🗙 Ca	Incel

Figure Box 21-3 - Screen captures illustrating specifying the MODPATH zone numbers using the formula in an object.

4. MODPATH requires that the heads and flows be saved at every time step in binary format. You can make sure this is the case in the *Model MODFLOW Output Control* dialog box (Figure Box 21-4).
| 2 MODFLOW Output | ut Control — 🗆 🗙 |
|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| General
Head
Drawdown
Budget
MT3D | Head ▼ Save in external file Fxternal file type Binary External file format (CHEDFM) 1P ▼ E ▼ 13 · 5 (10(1X1PE13.5)) ▼ Print in listing file Listing file format (IHEDFM) wrap ▼ 9G13.6 ▼ Frequency First N time steps and each N'th time step thereafter N = 1 ▼ |
| | ? <u>H</u> elp ✓ OK X Cancel |
| 3 MODFLOW Output | ut Control — 🗆 🗙 |
| General
Head
Drawdown
Budget | Budget
I Compact budget
Frequency
First N time steps and each N'th time step thereafter
N = 1
Save cell flows
C None
C Listing
MODFLOW-OWHM)
C Listing
MODFLOW-OWHM) |
| | <u>? H</u> elp ✓ OK X Cancel |

Figure Box 21-4 - Screen captures illustrating the required options for Output Control in MODFLOW when used with MODPATH.

- 5. MODPATH uses output files created by MODFLOW as part of its input. If you have not changed the name of the model, you do not need to run MODFLOW again to run MODPATH. Run MODPATH using the command *File*|*Export*|*MODPATH Input Files*. If you have changed the name of the model, you will need to run MODFLOW again before running MODPATH. When running MODFLOW, there is an option in the Save dialog box to run MODPATH after running MODFLOW. If you select that option, you can run both MODFLOW and MODPATH with a single command.
- 6. Plot the endpoints at their starting locations in ModelMuse with the particles colored by their final zone number. To plot the endpoints in ModelMuse, select *Data Data Visualization* and select *MODPATH End Points*. Then select the endpoint file (Figure Box 21-5). The endpoint file will be in the same directory where you ran MODFLOW.

🔀 Data Visualization			_		Х					
Color Grid	Basic Options Legend									
Contour Data	MODPATH endpoint file									
MODPATH End Points	"H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Exercise7\PSMPSim1.end"									
MODPATH Time Series Head Observation Results SFR Stream Links STR Stream Links SWR Reach Connections SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA and MODF Cross Sections	 ✓ Snow enopoints ☐ Limit to current column, row and layer in 2l Color scheme [Rainbow 	Edit cus sch	Edit custom color schemes							
	Color adjustment	Cycles 1 Endpoint si 4	€ ze (pixels)						
< >										
	? <u>H</u> elp	Apply	<u> </u>	<u>C</u> lose						

Figure Box 21-5 - Screen capture illustrating selecting an endpoint file for visualization in ModelMuse.

7. On the Options tab, set *Where to plot* to "Starting location" and choose to color by "Ending Zone" (Figure Box 21-6).

😕 Data Visualization				_		×
Color Grid Contour Data MODPATH Pathlines MODPATH End Points MODPATH Time Series Head Observation Results SFR Stream Links STR Stream Links SWR Reach Connections SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA and MODF Cross Sections	Basic Options Legend What to show © Show all C Limit by location, zone, tin Color by © None C Release time	me, or group	Where to p Starting Ending Lower limit	olot locations locations Upper limit		
	 Tracking time log(Tracking time) Starting X' Starting Y' Starting Z Starting zone Ending X' Ending Y' Ending Z Group 	Color limits Starting layer Starting row Starting column Starting zone Ending layer Ending row Ending column Ending column Tracking time Release time Group				
		? <u>H</u> elp	🗸 Ар	ply	ι <u>C</u> lose	2

Figure Box 21-6 - Screen capture illustrating setting options for displaying endpoints.

- 8. How well do the MODPATH results compare with what you expected they would be when you completed PS2D1? Save the ModelMuse file.
- 9. Your results should resemble Figure Box 21-7.



Figure Box 21-7 - Visualization of endpoint zones plotted at starting locations.

Return to where text links to Box 21

Box 22 Step-by-Step Instructions for PSMP, Simulation 2

Exercise 7.2 - Forward Pathline Simulation

Open the version of PSMP that was saved before starting the endpoint simulation and save it with a new file name such as PSMP_Pathlines. In this simulation, one particle will be placed on the top face of each cell in layer 1 (face 6) at X=1750 and Y=0 through - 10,500 (column 4 and rows 1 through 21). After making a pathline simulation the results will be viewed in ModelMuse. Follow the steps below to create a new simulation file:

1. In the *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* dialog box, set the simulation type to be Pathlines (Figure Box 22-1).

MODFLOW Packages and Pro	grams – 🗆 X
Flow Packages Boundary conditions Solvers Subsidence	MODPATH Comments
Observations Post processors MODPATH	
■ ZONEBUDGET	Modpath version Output mode (SimulationType) C 5 C 6 7 C pathines C Time series C pathines C Pathines + Time series Top face Treatment of evapotranspiration (IEVTTP)
	Top face ✓ Treatment of recharge (IRCHTP) Reference time for simulation Reference time for simulation ✓ Use zone arrays (ZoneArrayOption) (ReferenceTime) Which endpoints should be recorded? 0
	All 2 Zone in which to stop particles (StopZone)
	Ireatment of weak sinks (WeakSinkOption) Tracking direction (TrackingDirection) Pass through (TrackingDirection) Forward Forward
< >>	? <u>H</u> elp ✓ OK X Cancel

Figure Box 22-1 - Screen capture illustrating specifying the pathlines option in MODPATH.

The starting locations for particles should be in layer 1 at X= 1750 and Y = 0 through -10,500 (column 4 and rows 1 through 21). There should be 1 particle per cell placed in the center of the top surface of the cell. Create a line object in layer 1, column 4 going through all 21 rows (Figure Box 22-2).

🐉 Mo	delMuse:	H:\Intro	duction	to Modflov	/ V2\Vers	ion 2\Ex	ercise7	PSMPSi	n2.gpt				-	[X C
File E	dit Grid	Data	Object	Navigati	on Viev	v Cust	omize	Model	Model 9	Selection	Help				
🗋 💈	÷ ایا 🗧	- 7	La	5	(🖻 🕻	3	•	K 6	× 7	1☆ ᡛ	- 🁧	i •	€ €	1	र 🗟 🔍
╳╢᠈	· —	画	₩2 🗎	+ •	10	ר ר] %	100	2 -	6	006			⊞	
]	-, ,	-, ,	0	, , , , 1		1	0,000			_	2,00	0 0 -	2,000	'
-9,000 -6,000 -3,000															-9,000 -6,000 -3,000
1,000									<u> </u>			ſ]
F				0			1	0,000							

Figure Box 22-2 - Screen capture illustrating using an object to specify MODPATH particle starting locations.

3. In the Object Properties dialog box, set the MODPATH initial particle placement to be in the center of the top face of the cell (Figure Box 22-3).



Figure Box 22-3 - Screen capture illustrating the initial particle placement.

4. All the data should now be set to run the pathline simulation. Run MODPATH. After MODPATH finishes, select *Data Data Visualization* and select *MODPATH Pathlines*. Select the pathline file and uncheck the check box for limiting the visualization to the current column, row, and layer in 2D views. Then click *Apply* (Figure Box 22-4).

😕 Data Visualization				-		×						
Color Grid	Basic Options											
Contour Data	MODPATH pathline file Maxim	MODPATH pathline file Maximum time = ?										
MODPATH End Points	"H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Exercise7\PSMPSim2.path"											
MODPATH Time Series	Show pathlines											
SFR Stream Links	Limit to current column, row an	id layer in 2D vie	ews									
STR Stream Links	Color scheme			Edit cus	stom co	olor						
SWR Reach Connections	Rainbow		· ·	SCh	emes							
Vectors (SUTRA and MODF												
Cross Sections	Color adjustment			Cvc	les							
				4		-						
	0.00			1		-						
< >												
		? <u>H</u> elp	 Apply 	ı j	<u>C</u> lose	э						

Figure Box 22-4 - Screen capture illustrating the selection of a pathline file.

- 7. If you wish to save results, save the ModelMuse file.
- 8. Your results may resemble Figure Box 22-5.



Figure Box 22-5 - Screen capture showing visualization of pathlines in top, front, side, and 3D views.

Return to where text links to Box 22

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Box 23 Step-by-Step Instructions for PSMP, Simulation 3

Exercise 7.3 - Forward Timeseries Simulation

In this exercise a 5×5 array of particles is placed on the top face of layer 1 (face 6) for a block of cells in the range of row 8 through row 13 and column 4 through column 7 (coordinates = $(1750\pm250, -4250\pm250)$ to $(3250\pm250, -6250\pm250)$). A time series simulation is then conducted in which particle locations are output to a time series file at a fixed time interval of 100 days for 300 time points. Steps 1 through 4 provide instructions for creating the simulation file.

1. Open the version of PSMP that was saved before starting the endpoint simulation and save it with a new file name such as PSMP_TiomeSeries.

2. Select *Model MODFLOW Packages and Programs* and set the simulation type to Time Series. Define the time points for the timeseries simulation by specifying fixed time increments of 100 days and a total of 300 time points (Figure Box 23-1). Click *OK* to close the dialog box.

2 MODFLOW Packages and Prog	rams	- 0 ×
Flow Packages Boundary conditions	MODPATH	
Solvers Subsidence Observations Post processors	Comments	~
	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output times Modpath version Output mode (SimulationType) C 5 C 6 7 C End points	īme series
	Top face Treatment of evapotranspiration (IEVT	rathlines + Time series (P)
	Top face ✓ Treatment of recharge (IRCHTP) □ Use zone arrays (ZoneArrayOption) Reference (Reference) Which and a size about d be accorded to 0	e time for simulation ceTime)
	All	
	Zone in which to stop particles (StopZone) Treatment of weak sinks (WeakSinkOption)	dia dia 1
	Pass through	Direction
	0 Weak sink fractional threshold	
	? <u>H</u> elp ✓ (DK X Cancel
3 MODFLOW Packages and Prog	irams	- 🗆 X
 Flow Packages Boundary conditions 	MODPATH	
Solvers Subsidence	Comments	^
Observations Post processors		
	Simulation file options Version 6 & 7 options Output times	ut times (TimePoints)-
2 10102 100 01 10102 0	Method of specifying times (TimePointOption)	me
	Time interval for output (ReleaseTimeIncrement)	
	Maximum number of times allowed	
	300	Number of times
	0	(TimePointCount)
C >		

Figure Box 23-1 - Screen capture illustrating a) selection of the MODPATH time series option and b) related values.

3. Create a rectangle object on layer 1 covering the cells from row 8, column 4 to row 13, column 7. Use it to define a 5 by 5 array of particles for the top face of each cell (Figure Box 23-2). The particles will be assigned to any cell whose center is inside the object.



Figure Box 23-2 - Screen captures illustrating using an object to specify MODPATH particle starting locations.

4. Run MODPATH. After MODPATH finishes, select *Data Data Visualization* and select *MODPATH Time Series* and the time series file. Uncheck the checkbox for limiting the view to the current column, row, and layer (Figure Box 23-3). If

desired, change options on the Options tab. Click on *Apply*. The plot can be animated by holding down the up-arrow button to the right of the "Time to plot" on the Basic tab in the Data Visualization window.

🔀 Data Visualization	X
Color Grid Contour Data MODPATH Pathlines MODPATH Find Points MODPATH Time Series Head Observation Results SFR Stream Links STR Stream Links SWR Reach Connections	Basic Options MODPATH time series file "H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Exercise7\PSMPSim3.ts" Time to plot 0 ✓ Show time series Live the series for the series
SWR Observations Vectors (SUTRA and MODF Cross Sections	Limit to current column, row and layer in 2D views Color scheme Rainbow Color adjustment Cycles
	Time series size (pixels)
< >>	? Help ↓ Apply ↓ Close

Figure Box 23-3 - Screen capture illustrating selection of MODPATH time series file for visualization.

5. Plots for the particles at selected times are shown in Figure Box 23-4. Once a particle exits the model through a boundary condition it is no longer tracked by MODPATH.

6. If you wish, save the ModelMuse file.



Figure Box 23-4 - Visualizations of MODPATH particles at time: a) 0 days; b) 1000 days; c) 4000 days; d) 9000 days; e) 20,000 days; f) 25,000 days. Animation of the particles reveals that particles reach the well in layer 1 at about 1600 days, the drain in about 4600 days, enter layer 2 after about 9200 days, enter layer 3 after about 11,700 days, and enter the well in layer 3 after about 17,300 days.

Return to where text links to Box 23

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

17 Exercise Solutions

Solution Exercise 1

The option is determined by whether NOGRB is present as one of the OPTIONS. If NOGRB is missing, a binary grid file will be created. If it is present a binary grid file will not be created. In this case, NOGRB is not present so a binary grid file will be created.

In ModelMuse, you can specify this option in the *Model* | *MODFLOW Options* dialog box.

Return to Exercise 1 ♪

11	12	12 13 14			15				16						
21	22 🖛	→ (2 ↑		→2 →2	i4 ← 16	2	5 +	★ 2 3	8	3	9	3	2	3	3
		* 42	43		47	48	49	62	63 67	64	65	78	79	80	81
40	40 41			50 54	51	52 58	53 57	86	67 71	68 72	69 73	82	83	84	85
		44	45	58	59	60	61	74	75	76	77	90	91	92	93

Solution Exercise 2

a. Flow from or to cell 23 can occur from cells 13, 22, 24, 26, 42, and 43.

b. Flow from or to cell 25 can occur from cells 14, 24, 27, and 28.

c. Flow from or to cell 46 can occur from cells 26, 43, 47, and 50.

Note that flow only occurs through cell faces not through cell corners.

Return to Exercise 21

Solution Exercise 3

Solution to Exercise 3.1

As shown in the image below the volume budget at the end of the listing file shows the cumulative flow for the entire simulation on the left and the rates of flow for the time step on the right. All inflows are listed first and then outflows are listed. In this simple model there is only one type of boundary condition (CHD) and, because the modeler understands the hydraulics of the system, it is known that the entire CHD inflow is from the canal and the entire CHD outflow is to the river. The inflow along the entire 10,500 m of canal and the outflow to the entire 10,500 m of river (rounded to the nearest 1 m³/day) are:

Inflow from canal = 96990 m^3/day Outflow to river = 96990 m^3/day

S H:\Introduction to Modflow V2\Version 2\Mode	ls\Exercise	3\PS1A.lst: ListingAnalyst							-		×
🗎 Open file Retrieve Retrieve	ve _{Nur}	mber of lines to retriev	Create	Go to line	🖙 Find						
following earlie	r 1.0		index	1	East						
Abort lines lines	1,0	00 <u></u>		1	Font						
Contents Index	611										^ ^
MODFLOW 6	612	HEAD WILL BE :	SAVED ON	UNIT 1013 AT E	ND OF TIM	E STEP 1	, STRESS	PERIOD	1		
MODFLOW 6 compiled Oct 22 20	614										
Survey (USGS). Although the sof	615	VOLUME BUDGE	F FOR EN	TIRE MODEL AT E	ND OF TIM	E STEP 1	, STRESS	PERIOD	1		
review, the USGS reserves the ric	616										
implied, is made by the USGS or	617										
software is released on condition	618	CUMULATIV	E VOLUME	L**3	RATES F	OR THIS TIM	IE STEP	L**3/	T T		
authorized or unauthorized use.	619			-							
ELOWS WILL RE SAVED TO PUD	620	T.N.				T.N					
DIS STRUCTURED GRID DISC	622	11.				1N:					
NPE NODE PROPERTY FLOW F	623		CHD =	96989.63	35		CHD =	9698	39.633	5	
CHD CHD PACKAGE, VERSIC	624										
IC INITIAL CONDITIONS PAC	625	TO	PAL IN =	96989.63	35	TOTA	L IN =	9698	9.633	5	
PROCESSING OC OPTIONS	626										
Stress Period 1	627	OUT:				OUT:					
start timestep kper="1" kstp="	628		aup -	06000 07	150		CUID -	0.600	0.075		
Stress Period 1, Time Step 1	630		CHD -	56550.07	50		CHD -	3633	0.075	,	
INNER ITERATION SUMMARY	631	TOT	AL OUT =	96990.07	50	TOTAI	OUT =	9699	90.075	0	
UBDSV1 SAVING FLOW-	632										
UBDSV06 SAVING DAT	633	IN	- OUT =	-0.44	15	IN -	OUT =	-	-0.441	5	
	634										
HEAD IN LAYER 2 AT EN	635	PERCENT DISCR	EPANCY =	-0.00) PERC	ENT DISCREI	PANCY =	-	-0.00		
HEAD IN LAYER 3 AT EN	636										
HEAD WILL BE SAVED ON I	638										
VOLUME BUDGET FOR ENT	639	1									
TIME SUMMARY AT END O	640	TIME	SUMMARY 3	AT END OF TIME	STEP 1	IN STRESS	PERIOD	1			
	641		SE	CONDS MINUT	ES H	OURS	DAYS	YEARS	3		
	642	4								>	×
	643	•									
638											

Screen capture of the volumetric budget section of the MODFLOW Listing file showing the flow rates through the CHD boundaries.

The slight difference in the listing file between the inflow and outflow results from minor numerical errors. If desired, these errors might be reduced by using smaller head closure values in the solver input file.

Water flows out of the canal into the groundwater system horizontally across the right face and downward across the bottom face. Both flows are into the groundwater system. The flows can be calculated by using Darcy's Law for flow from each cell, multiplying by 21 rows, then adding the results to get the total flow out of the canal.

To compute flow out the right face and the bottom face of one canal cell, first find the resulting heads as shown in the figure below. The contoured head values can also be viewed in ModelMuse by hovering the cursor on a cell and viewing the third panel of the status bar, but the listing file provides text output of the head calculated at each cell, that can be used to determine the value at the node location. The head in column 1 of layer 1 is the specified value of 330 m, in column 2 of layer 1 it is 329.259 and in row 1 of layer 2 it is 327.754. Simplify the calculation for flow out of the right face by using the average head between columns 1 and 2 ([330+329.259]/2 = 329.6295 m) and subtract the bottom elevation of layer 1 (220 m) to obtain the saturated thickness of layer 1 (109.6 m).



Illustrations containing data used to compute flow rates. a) Diagrammatic cross section of the first two columns with heads at cells used in computing flow rates. b) Screen capture of the MODFLOW listing file highlighting the location of the heads in layer 1 used in the flow calculations. Layer 2 heads are viewed by clicking on *HEAD IN LAYER 2* in the Contents menu.

Richard B. Winston

The calculations are set up to give positive values for Q into the groundwater system.

Horizontal Flow =
$$Q_H$$
 = #cells (K × Length × Thickness × $\frac{\text{HeadDifference}}{\text{Distance}}$)
 $Q_H = 21 \left(50 \frac{\text{m}}{\text{d}} \times 500 \text{ m} \times 109.6 \text{ m} \times \frac{330 \text{ m} - 329.259 \text{ m}}{500 \text{ m}} \right) = 85,274.28 \frac{\text{m}^3}{\text{d}}$

Vertical Flow =
$$Q_V$$
 = #cells (K × Length × Width × $\frac{\text{HeadDifference}}{\text{Distance}}$)

$$Q_V = 21 \left(0.01 \frac{\text{m}}{\text{d}} \times 500 \text{ m} \times 500 \text{ m} \times \frac{330 \text{ m} - 327.754 \text{ m}}{10 \text{ m}} \right) = 11,791.5 \frac{\text{m}^3}{\text{d}}$$

$$Q_{canal} = Q_H + Q_V = 97,065.78 \frac{\mathrm{m}^3}{\mathrm{d}}$$

There are two reasons why the results of these calculations differ from those calculated by MODFLOW. First, the calculation of vertical flow assumes that the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the material between the centers of layers 1 and 2 has the hydraulic conductivity of layer 2. MODFLOW uses an inter-layer hydraulic conductivity based on the hydraulic conductivities of both layers 1 and 2. This accounts for most of the difference between MODFLOW's results and the hand calculations. Second, MODFLOW has less rounding error in its calculations.

Specific discharge vectors can be displayed in ModelMuse by importing "Data-Spdis" from the cell-by-cell flow file and then selecting it as the vector source in *Data* | *Data* | *Visualization* dialog box.

Return to Exercise 3.1

Solution to Exercise 3.2

The heads for each cell in layers 1 and 2 are compared using the listing file, which shows that the head in layer 1 is higher than layer 2 in column 10, while the head in layer 1 is less than the head in layer 2 in column 11, so flow directions change from downward to upward flow between columns 10 and 11 (as shown in the images below). This is also true for flow across the top of layer 3.

- X													
Open fileAbort	Retrieve following lines	Retrie earli line	eve er s	mber of lin)00	ies to retrieve	Create index 1	o to line		rϥ F				
Contents Index			Lines	Table (Li	ne: 402)								
 NAMEFILE OPTIC FLOWS WILL BE 9 DIS STRUCTUF NPF NODE PRC CHD CHD PAC IC INITIAL CO PROCESSING OC Stress Period 1 start timestep F Stress Period 1 INNER ITERAT UBDSV1 SAV UBDSV06 SA UBDSV06 SA 	DNS: SAVED TO RED GRID I DPERTY FL(CKAGE, VE NDITIONS OPTIONS OPTIONS (OPTIONS TION SUMM VING FL AVING AVING	BL DI: OV RS P, stp p 1 1A OV D,	398 399 400 401 402 403 404 405 406 407 408 409 410 411 412	1 HEAD 1 2 3	IN LAYER 1 10 19 330.000 325.297 320.805 330.000 325.297 320.805 330.000 325.297 320.805 330.000	1 AT END 329.2 324.2 320.0 329.2 324.2 320.0 329.2 329.2	OF TIM 2 11 20 259 903 900 259 903 900 259 903 900 259 903 900 259 903 900 259 903 900 259 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 900 903 905 905 905 905 905 905 905 905	1E ^	^				
HEAD IN LA	YER 2 AT	E C	413 414 415 416 417	4	320.805 330.000 325 297	324.3 320.0 329.2 324	000 259 203	`	~				
399													



Screen captures of the parts of the MODFLOW listing file showing the heads in layers 1 and 2 used to determine the vertical direction of flow.

This can also be seen in the head contours of the cross section of the ModelMuse window

Return to Exercise 3.2

Solution to Exercise 3.3

	h.,	h.,	Δh	b	Q	
	••10	••11	(h ₁₁ - h ₁₀)	layer thickness	(all 21 rows)	
Layer 1	325.297	324.903	-0.394	105.1	43,480	
Layer 2	325.201	324.972	-0.229	20	1	
Layer 3	325.105	325.041	-0.064	200	53,760	

$$Q = [-KA/L \,\Delta h]21$$

$$\begin{array}{ll} Layer \ 1: & Q = \left[-50 \frac{m}{day} \times \frac{500m \times 105.1m}{500m} (-0.394m) \right] 21 \approx & 43,480 \ \frac{m^3}{day} \\ Layer \ 2: & Q = \left[-0.01 \frac{m}{day} \times \frac{500m \times 20m}{500m} (-0.229m) \right] 21 \approx & 1 \ \frac{m^3}{day} \\ Layer \ 3: & Q = \left[-200 \frac{m}{day} \times \frac{500m \times 200m}{500m} (-0.064m) \right] 21 \approx & 53,760 \ \frac{m^3}{day} \end{array}$$

Total flow from column 10 to column 11 for all layers is the sum of the flow values in the last column of the table: Total flow between columns 10 and $11 = 97,241 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$.

This value should be equal to the rate of flow into the groundwater flow system from the canal which is reported in the budget summary of the MODFLOW list file as 96,990. The slight difference (0.3%) between the values occurs because the hand calculations have less precision than the internal calculations made by MODFLOW.

Return to Exercise 3.3

Solution to Exercise 3.4

The easiest way to find the total downward rate of flow into layer 3 is to recognize that the flow rate calculated between columns 10 and 11 in layer 3 represents all the flow that makes it down into that layer (53,760 m³/d). The geometry of the system is such that all that flow must enter across the top of layer 3 in columns 1 through 10. This exercise illustrates that there must be a water balance for any sub-region of the model as well as for the entire model. The total upward flow across the top of layer 3 in columns 11 - 20 must also equal 53,760 m³/d based on the same reasoning. The flows are illustrated on the schematic cross section provided for the exercise as shown here.



The total downward flow could also be calculated by using Darcy's Law to compute the flow from layer 2 to layer 3 in columns 1 to 10 and summing the results. The same approach could be used to compute the upward flow in columns 11 - 20.

Return to Exercise 3.4

Solution to Exercise 3.5

ZONEBUDGET gives a different flow rate than was obtained from the hand calculation; 53,505 instead of 53,760. The difference in head used to calculate the flow between columns 10 and 11 had only two significant digits. ZONEBUDGET can calculate the flows more precisely because it can read the flows from the cell-by-cell flow package which were calculated with more precision than the hand calculations.

VOLUME BUDGET FOR 2	zone 3 at end of	TIME STEP	1, STRESS P	ERIOD	1	
CUMULATIVE VOLUM	L**3	RATES FOR	THIS TIME STI	EP	L**3/T	PACKAGE/MODEL
IN:			IN:			
DATA-SPDIS	= 0.0	000	DATA-SPDIS	=	0.0000	NPF
CHD	= 0.0	000	CHD	=	0.0000	CHD-1
ZONE 1	= 53505.2	120	ZONE 1	=	53505.2120	
ZONE 4	= 0.0	000	ZONE 4	=	0.0000	
TOTAL IN	= 53505.2	120	TOTAL IN	=	53505.2120	
OUT:			OUT:			
DATA-SPDIS	= 0.0	000	DATA-SPDIS	=	0.0000	NPF
CHD	= 0.0	000	CHD	=	0.0000	CHD-1
ZONE 1	= 0.0	000	ZONE 1	=	0.0000	
ZONE 4	= 53505.1	937	ZONE 4	=	53505.1937	
TOTAL OUT	= 53505.1	937	TOTAL OUT	=	53505.1937	
IN - OUT	= 1.8280E	-02	IN - OUT	=	1.8280E-02	
PERCENT DISCREPANCY	= 0.0	0 PERCEN	T DISCREPANCY	=	0.00	

<u>Return to Exercise 3.5</u>♪

Richard B. Winston

Solution Exercise 4

Solution to Exercise 4.1

The flow through the system is doubled. The flow from the canal is the inflow from constant head in the MODFLOW budget, which has a value of 193,979 m^3/d (almost exactly double the value from PS1A of 96,990 m^3/d). However, doubling all the hydraulic properties has no effect on the head distribution.

This Exercise illustrates the classic problem that occurs when a modeler attempts to calibrate a model to head values without any knowledge of flow rates in the system. That is, in this case, head measurements do not provide any information about the magnitude of the hydraulic conductivity values because any multiple of the hydraulic conductivities produces the same head distribution. However, measuring the magnitude of groundwater discharge to the river can help identify the magnitude of the hydraulic conductivities, because in the model only certain hydraulic conductivity values will produce simulated discharge equal to the measured discharge.

Return to Exercise 4.1

Solution to Exercise 4.2

Flow rates are nearly the same throughout the system as in PS1A. The flow in layer 1 is slightly larger because the saturated thickness is a little larger. Heads throughout the system increased by about 1 foot. This Exercise illustrates that the primary driving force for this flow system is the head difference between the canal and the river, which remains the same as for PS1A (10 m). The calculated flow rates are shown in the table below **-**

	Head column 10	Head column 11	Head difference	к	Head gradient	Layer height	Cross- sectional area	Flow rate
Layer 1	326.297	325.902	0.395	50	0.00079	106.1	1114045	44005
Layer 3	326.104	326.040	0.064	20 0	0.00013	200	2100000	53760

The flow rates could also be calculated using ZoneBudget. It gives a flow rate of 44,008 m³/d in layer 1 and 53562 m³/d in layer 3. Rounding errors in the hand calculations are responsible for the differences between the hand calculations and the ZoneBudget results.

The water budget in the listing file indicates that the flow rate out of the CHD boundaries is $97573 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$.

Return to Exercise 4.2

Solution to Exercise 4.3

The logic described in the solutions for Exercises 3.3 and 3.4 can be used to estimate flow from column 10 to 11 in layer 3. In the case of Exercise 3.3, the head difference between

column 10 and 11 was 0.064 m, but for this case it is 0.001 m, so the volume of flow to layer 3 is greatly reduced (from 53,760 m³/d to 840 m³/d). Total flow through the system is reduced to 58,508 m³/d when compared with approximately 96,990 m³/d in PS1A. Almost all the flow occurs through layer 1. Because almost all the flow is in layer 1, the head gradient in layer 1 is closer to being uniform than it is in PS1B2.

Return to Exercise 4.3

Solution to Exercise 4.4

The head distribution is shown by going to *File*|*Import Results*... and selecting the file PS1B4.bhd then choosing *Contour Grid*. The contoured heads are shown in image included with this solution. The high conductivity zone in layer 1 results in smaller head gradients in the region of high conductivity. That, in turn, causes the head distribution to deform so that groundwater converges and moves into the upgradient part of the high conductivity zone and then diverges as it exits the zone at its downgradient end.



Visualization of heads in layer 1 in a model with a non-uniform hydraulic conductivity.

Solution Exercise 5

Problem Set 2: Introduction to Stress Packages

This problem set introduces the use of stress package features. The groundwater flow system is like the base case in problem set 1 (PS1A), except the canal on the left side has been removed and areal recharge has been added to layer 1 as the new source of water for the system. The recharge rate is 0.005 m/day.

The problem set consists of 4 major parts (A, B, C, and D). Part A introduces the use of the recharge package. Part A uses traditional data input to represent hydraulic properties and recharge. Parts B, C, and D demonstrate the river, drain, general-head boundary, and well packages.

Solution to Exercise 5.1

Recharge rate multiplied by model area =0.005 m/d \times 500 m \times 500 m \times 21 \times 20 = 525,000 m³/d

Recharge from MODFLOW budget = $498,750 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$

The difference occurs because the recharge applied to the constant head cells in column 20 is ignored by MODFLOW.

Recharge Volume = $0.005 \text{ m/d} \times 500 \text{ m} \times 500 \text{ m} \times 21 \times 19 = 498,750 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$

```
Return to Exercise 5.1
```

Solution to Exercise 5.2

The budget in the MODFLOW listing file indicates the total flow rate into the river is $498,750 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$ as shown in the screen snap include with the is solution. This should match the inflow from recharge, and it does match.

VOLUME BUDGET	FOR ENTIRE	MODEL AT END	OF TIME STEP 1, ST	RESS PERIOD	1	
CUMULATIVE	VOLUME	L**3	RATES FOR THIS TIME ST	EP L**3/I	PACKAGE NAME	
IN:			IN:			
	RCH = CHD =	498750.0000 0.0000	RCH CHD	= 498750 = 0	.0000 RCH-1 .0000 CHD-1	
TOT	AL IN =	498750.0000	TOTAL IN	= 498750	.0000	
OUT:			OUT:			
	RCH = CHD =	0.0000 498749.3979	RCH CHD	= 0 = 498749	RCH-1 0.3979 CHD-1	
TOTA	l out =	498749.3979	TOTAL OUT	= 498749	.3979	
IN	- OUT =	0.6021	IN - OUT	= 0	.6021	
PERCENT DISCRE	PANCY =	0.00	PERCENT DISCREPANCY	= 0	.00	

Screen capture of the MODFLOW listing file illustrating where the flow rate into the river (as represented by the CHD boundary) is listed.

Return to Exercise 5.2

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Solution to Exercise 5.3

The water table profile has more of a parabolic shape as shown in the profile with 20x vertical exaggeration in the image included with this solution. Vertical exaggeration can be set in ModelMuse using *View* | *Vertical Exaggeration*....

The head profile is relatively flat near the left boundary and is progressively steeper toward the river on the right. The difference reflects the fact that uniform areal recharge continually adds flow to the system starting at the left boundary and moving toward the river. The water table gradient must increase toward the river to accommodate the increased flow.



Visualization of the water table.

Return to Exercise 5.3

Solution to Exercise 5.4

The change from downward to upward flow across the bottom of layer 1 can be found by comparing the heads in layers 1 and 2 in the listing file. Downward flow occurs when the head in layer 1 is greater than layer 2 and upward flow occurs where the head in layer 1 is less than the head in layer 2. The change occurs between columns 13 and 14.

Return to Exercise 5.4

Solution to Exercise 5.5

The total volumetric rate of flow between columns 13 and 14 in each layer is shown below. The procedure for calculating these flows is shown in detail in the Solution to Exercise 3.3.

	h	h	Δh	b	Q
	left	right	h _{right} - h _{left}	Thickness	(All 21 rows)
Layer 1	338.750	337.185	-1.565	117.9675	193,850
Layer 2	338.606	337.736	-0.87	20	4
Layer 3	338.461	338.286	-0.176	200	147,000

Solution to Exercise 5.6

The procedure presented in Exercise 3.1 that outlines calculation of flow (Q) across a model cell face is used to calculate the flow across each internal face of cell (1,1,10) and (1,1,20). The internal faces of cell (1,1,10) with flow are Q_{East} , Q_{Bot} , and Q_{West} . There is no flow across the north and south faces because heads are identical in all rows of any column of the model. The top, external, face of cell (1,1,10) receives recharge of 0.005 m/d and its area is 500 m by 500 m, so the volumetric flow across the top face (Q_{Top}) is [0.005 m/d × 500 m × 500 m] = 1250 m³/d.

The top, external, face of cell (1,1,20) is outflow to the river and the east face is a no-flow (Q=0) boundary. The internal faces with flow are Q_{West} and Q_{Bot}. Flow to the river can be calculated as the sum of the other flows to the cell, or it can be determined by dividing the total flow out to the river CHD boundary by 21 (for the number of cells). The flows and resulting budget (or mass balance) are presented here for each cell. All flows are given in m³/d. First the method used to calculate Q_{Bot} for cell (1,1,10). The head difference between layers 1 and 2 is much less in column 10 than in column 20 so the results of the hand calculations are more greatly affected by rounding error. For that reason, it is better to use column 20 for the detailed explanation. Thus, the method for cell (1,1,20) is described in more detail after presenting the case for cell (1,1,10).

Cell (1,1,10)

$$Q_{out} = Q_{East} + Q_{Bot}$$

$$Q_{In} = Q_{West} + Q_{Top}$$

$$Q_{East} = 6001 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Bot} = 408 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{West} = 5157 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Top} = 0.005 \frac{m}{d} \times 500 \text{ m} = 1250 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{out} = 6001 \frac{m^3}{d} + 408 \frac{m^3}{d} = 6409 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{In} = 5157 \frac{m^3}{d} + 1250 \frac{m^3}{d} = 6407 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Mass Balance = Q_{out} - Q_{In} = 6409 \frac{m^3}{d} - 6407 \frac{m^3}{d} = 2 \frac{m^3}{d}$$
Balance Error=
$$\frac{|Difference \ between \ Out \ and \ In|}{Average \ of \ Out + In} = \frac{2^{\frac{m^3}{d}}}{\frac{6409^{\frac{m^3}{d}+6407m^3}}{2}} = 0.0003 \dots \text{ or } 0.03\%$$

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Cell (1,1,20)

Calculation of flow to the bottom of cell (1,1,20) is more involved than has been presented previously in this book because the adjacent cells have different hydraulic conductivity, thus the thickness-weighted harmonic mean conductivity, also called the equivalent conductivity, must be used in Darcy's law. The thickness-weighted harmonic mean is calculated as the quotient of the sum of the thicknesses and the sum of the ratios of thickness to hydraulic conductivity, as follows.

 K_{harm} = thickness-weighted harmonic mean

The thicknesses and hydraulic conductivity values that contribute to the equivalent conductivity between layer 1 and 2 in column 20 are shown in the image below and the calculation results in a K_{harm} of 0.0597 m/d.



Illustration of thickness and hydraulic conductivity that contribute to the equivalent hydraulic conductivity between layer 1 and 2 in column 20.

$$K_{harm} = \frac{\sum thickness}{\sum \frac{thickness}{K}} = \frac{50 \text{ m} + 10 \text{ m}}{\frac{50 \text{ m}}{10 \text{ m}} + \frac{10 \text{ m}}{0.01 \text{ m}}} = 0.0597 \text{ m/d}$$

$$Q_{Bot} = K_{\Delta l}^{\Delta h} A = 0.0597 \ \frac{m}{d} \ \frac{328.769 \ m - 320 \ m}{60 \ m} \ 500m \ 500m = 2181.289 \ \frac{m^3}{d}$$

Continuing with the inflow and outflow of cell(1,1,20):

$$Q_{Out} = Q_{River}$$

$$Q_{In} = Q_{West} + Q_{Bot}$$

$$Q_{River} = \frac{\text{River CHD Outflow}}{\# \text{River cells}} = \frac{498,750 \frac{m^3}{d}}{21} = 23,750 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

$$Q_{West} = 21,582 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Bot} = 2,181 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Out} = 23,750 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{In} = 21,582 \frac{m^3}{d} + 2,181 \frac{m^3}{d} = 23,763 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Mass \ Balance = Q_{Out} - Q_{In} = 23,750 \frac{m^3}{d} - 23,763 \frac{m^3}{d} = -13 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Balance \ Error = \frac{|Difference \ between \ Out \ and \ In|}{Average \ of \ Out + In} = \frac{13 \frac{m^3}{d}}{\frac{23750 \frac{m^3}{d} + 23763 \frac{m^3}{d}}{2}} = 0.0005 \dots \ or \ 0.05\%$$

$$Return \ to \ Exercise \ 5.6 \ J$$

Solution to Exercise 5.7

The recharge and river discharge remain unchanged because they are not affected by changes in hydraulic conductivity. Head gradients throughout the system are smaller because larger hydraulic conductivities require smaller head gradients to move the same volumetric flow rate. The water table elevation in column 1 is lower in the PS2A1 model, declining from 346.044 m in run PS2A to 333.456 m. The proportion of the total flow that makes it into layer 3 is less (76,440 m³/d) than in run PS2A (147,000 m³/d as calculated in Exercise 5.5).

Return to Exercise 5.7

Solution to Exercise 5.8

The values are calculated using procedures described in previous exercise solutions and labeled in m³/d in the image below.



Diagrammatic cross section of model with recharge, discharge, and internal flow rates in m^3/d .

Return to Exercise 5.8 ♪

Solution to Exercise 5.9

From the solution to Exercise 5.8, the volume of flow that reaches layer 3 is known to be 147,000 m^3 /d. The recharge rate is 0.005 m/d and the length of the system is 10,500 m. The required width of recharge is calculated here and illustrated visually in the image below.



Diagrammatic cross section of model with area of recharge to the third layer highlighted with a double-headed arrow.

Return to Exercise 5.9

Solution to Exercise 5.10

In exercise 5.6, the river was represented by Constant Head package whereas in this exercise, it is represented by the River package. Recharge applied to a Constant Head cell is ignored but recharge on a River cell is included in the model, so Q_{In} includes a recharge term in this exercise. The additional flow into the groundwater is matched by additional flow out of the river in order to maintain mass balance. Notice that the head of cell (1,1,20) is 320.250 m in this exercise whereas the head in exercise 5.6 was 320.0. With a river boundary, the head in the cell must be higher than the river stage for flow into the river from the groundwater to occur. In this case, the river stage is equal to the top elevation of the cell so the head in the cell is higher than the top of the cell. The flow to the river can also be calculated by dividing the total flow to all the river cells (from the global water budget in the listing file) by the number of river cells. To calculate the internal flows Q_{West} and Q_{Bot} .

the procedure in the solution to Exercise 3.1 is used.

Cell (1,1,20)

$$Q_{out} = Q_{RIV}$$

$$Q_{In} = Q_{West} + Q_{Bot} + Q_{RCH}$$

$$Q_{RIV} = 100,000 \frac{m^2}{d} \times (320.25 \text{ m} - 320 \text{ m}) = 25,000 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{West} = 21,583 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Bot} = 2,189 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{RCH} = 1,250 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{In} = 21,583 \frac{m^3}{d} + 2,189 \frac{m^3}{d} + 1,250 \frac{m^3}{d} = 25,022 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{out} = Q_{RIV} = 25,000 \frac{m^3}{d} = \frac{flow \text{ to all river cells}}{number \text{ of river cells}} = \frac{525000 \frac{m^3}{d}}{21}$$

$$Q_{out} - Q_{In} = 25,000 \frac{m^3}{d} - 25,022 \frac{m^3}{d} = -22 \frac{m^3}{d}$$
Balance Error = 0.10%

Return to Exercise 5.10

Solution to Exercise 5.11

The groundwater flows into cell (1,15,10) are calculated using Darcy's law. Recharge is computed by multiplying the cell area by the recharge rate. The drain flow is computed by multiplying the drain conductance by the difference between the drain elevation and the elevation of the head in the cell. The head in the cell can be determined by importing the simulated heads into ModelMuse and coloring or contouring the head data. The maximum drawdown caused by the drain occurs at its western end where the drawdown exceeds 19 m but every cell has at least a slightly lower head than in the model without the drain. To calculate the internal flows Q_{West} , Q_{Eest} , Q_{South} , Q_{North} and Q_{Bot} , the procedure in the solution to Exercise 3.1 is used.

Cell (1,15,10)

$$Q_{Out} = Q_{East} + Q_{DRN} \qquad Q_{In} = Q_{South} + Q_{West} + Q_{North} + Q_{Bot} + Q_{RCH}$$

$$Q_{DRN} = Conductance * \Delta h = 100,000 \frac{m^2}{d} \times (323.186 \text{ m} - 322.5 \text{ m}) = 68,600 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{East} = 1,705 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{South} = 19,469 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{West} = 27,683 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{North} = 20,930 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{Bot} = 954 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{RCH} = 1,250 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Out} = 1,705 \frac{m^3}{d} + 68,600 \frac{m^3}{d} = 70,305 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{In} = 19,469 \frac{m^3}{d} + 27,683 \frac{m^3}{d} + 20,930 \frac{m^3}{d} + 954 \frac{m^3}{d} + 1,250 \frac{m^3}{d} = 70,286 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

$$Q_{Out} - Q_{In} = 70,305 \frac{m^3}{d} - 70,286 \frac{m^3}{d} = 19 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

Balance Error = 0.03%

Cell (1,15,19)

Even though this cell contains a drain, the drain is inactive because the head in the cell is less than the drain elevation. The head in the cell is 321.7 which is less than the drain elevation of 322.5. When the cursor is held over the cell, the head will be displayed on the status bar. Alternatively, flows could be imported from the cell-by-cell budget file and the drain flows could be plotted to quickly identify inactive drains.

$$Q_{DRN} = 0$$

$$Q_{East} = 7,828 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{South} = 427 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{West} = 4,415 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{North} = 687 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{Bot} = 1,042 \frac{m^3}{d} \qquad Q_{RCH} = 1,250 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Out} = 7,828 \frac{m^3}{d} + 0 = 7,828 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{In} = 427 \frac{m^3}{d} + 4,415 \frac{m^3}{d} + 687 \frac{m^3}{d} + 1,042 \frac{m^3}{d} + 1,250 \frac{m^3}{d} = 7,821 \frac{m^3}{d}$$

$$Q_{Out} - Q_{In} = 7,828 \frac{m^3}{d} - 7,821 \frac{m^3}{d} = 7 \frac{m^3}{d}$$
Balance Error = 0.09%

Return to Exercise 5.11

Solution to Exercise 5.12

In run PS2C the drains in columns 19 and 20 are inactive because the heads in those cells drop below the elevation of the drain (322.5). When the drain is replaced by a general head boundary, the GHB features in columns 19 and 20 remain active and act as a source of water to those cells because the boundary head of the GHB is larger than the head in the cell, which indicates the GHB acts as a source of water for those cells. By comparing the water budgets for PS2C and PS2C1, it can be seen that the GHB boundary has flow both into and out of the groundwater system whereas the drain in PS2C has only outflowing water.

Return to Exercise 5.12

Solution to Exercise 5.13

The total volumetric rate of flow to the river in run PS2D decreases by 26,353 m³/d compared with that of run PS2C. The total volumetric rate of flow to the drain in run PS2D decreases by 48,647 m³/d compared with that in run PS2C. The combined change in discharge to the river and the drain equals the well discharge rate.

Flow rate out	PS2D	PS2C	PS2D - PS2C
River	269,979	296,332	-26,353
Drain	180,021	228,668	-48,647
Well	75,000	0	75,000
			Sum = 0

By comparing the head in run PS2D and PS2C, the drawdown in the vicinity of the well is 8.35 m. It is important to note that this is the average drawdown for the cell containing the well and drawdown in the well itself is larger.

Return to Exercise 5.13

Solution to Exercise 5.14

The heads are lower everywhere but especially in the vicinity of the two wells. The flows out of the groundwater system to both the river and drain are reduced. The total reduction, compared to the flows in model PS2D, is equal to the flow out of the well that was added in layer 3. The additional drawdown at the first well (in layer 1) is 2.2 m. The drawdown at the second well (in layer 3) is 5.4 m. These drawdowns are computed by comparing the heads in models PS2D and PS2D1.

Save your sketch for later comparison with the results that will be generated in the MODPATH problem set.

Return to Exercise 5.14

Solution Exercise 6

Solution to Exercise 6.1

Medel DC2A	Flow rate						
Wodel PSSA	(round to the nearest whole number)						
Budget component	Steady-state, Steady-state no well with well (period 1, step 1) (period 3, step 1)		Change in flow rate (with well - without well)				
	Inf	flow					
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0				
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0				
Constant head	0	72,756	72,756				
Wells	0	0	0				
River leakage	0	0	0				
Recharge	237,500	237,500	0				
Total	237,500	310,256	72,756				
	Ou	tflow					
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0				
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0				
Constant head	0	0	0				
Wells	0	100,000	100,000				
River leakage	237,500	210,256	-27,244				
Recharge	0	0	0				
Total	237,500	310,256	72,756				
Inflow - outflow	0		0				

Return to Exercise 6.1

Solution to Exercise 6.2

Model PS3A	Flow rate					
	Period 1,	Period 2,				
	step 1	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10
		Inflov	v			
Storage-specific storage	0	38	37	30	10	2
Storage-specific yield	0	99,921	97,307	79,248	25,829	5,219
Constant head	0	32	1984	14,938	53391	68,781
Wells	0	0	0	0	0	0
River leakage	0	0	0	0	0	0
Recharge	237,500	237,500	237,500	237,500	237,500	237,500
Total inflow	237,500	337,491	336,827	331,716	316730	311,503
		Outflo	W			
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0	0	0	0
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0	0	0	0
Constant head	0	0	0	0	0	0
Wells	0	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000
River leakage	237,500	237,491	236,827	231,716	216,730	211,503
Recharge	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total outflow	237,500	337,491	336,827	331,716	316,730	311,503
Inflow - outflow	0	0	0	0	0	0

Model PS3A		Char							
	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,				
	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10				
Inflow									
Storage-specific storage	orage 38 37 30 10 2								
Storage-specific yield	99,921	97,307	79,248	25,829	52,129				
Constant head	32	1984	14,938	53,391	68,781				
Wells	0	0	0	0	0				
River leakage	0	0	0	0	0				
Recharge	0	0	0	0	0				
Total inflow change	99,991	99,327	94,216	79,230	74,003				
		Outflow							
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0	0	0				
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0	0	0				
Constant head	-33	-521	-922	-1133	-1136				
Wells	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000				
River leakage	-9	-673	-5784	-20,770	-25,997				
Recharge	0	0	0	0	0				
Total outflow change	99,991	99,327	94,216	79,230	74,003				
Inflow - outflow	0	0	0	0	0				

¹ Rate at the current time step minus the initial rate at period 1, step 1. Round to the nearest whole number.

Return to Exercise 6.2

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Solution to Exercise 6.3

Model BS3B	Flow rate					
WOULEI F 33D	(round to the nearest whole number)					
Budget component	Steady-state, no well (period 1, step 1)	Steady-state with well (period 3, step 1)	Change in flow rate (with well - without well)			
	Int	flow				
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0			
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0			
Constant head	0	0	0			
Wells	0	0	0			
River leakage	0	0	0			
Recharge	237,500	237,500	0			
Total	237,500	237,500	0			
	Ou	tflow				
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0			
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0			
Constant head	0	0	0			
Wells	0	100,000	100,000			
River leakage	237,500	137,500	-100,000			
Recharge	0	0	0			
Total	237,500	237,500	0			
Inflow - outflow	0	0	0			

Without the specified heads in Exercise 6.1, the total inflow is fixed so the difference is made up by a greater decrease in flow to the river.

Return to Exercise 6.3

Solution to Exercise 6.4

Model PS3B	Flow rate					
Budget component	Period 1,	Period 2,				
Budget component	step 1	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10
		Inflov	v			
Storage-specific storage	0	38	38	35	25	15
Storage-specific yield	0	99,953	99,263	93,358	66,980	42,034
Wells	0	0	0	0	0	0
River leakage	0	0	0	0	0	0
Recharge	237,500	237,500	237,500	237,500	237,500	237,500
Total inflow	237,500	337,491	336,801	330,894	304,505	279,551
		Outflo	W			
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0	0	0	0
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0	0	0	0
Wells	0	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000
River leakage	237,500	237,491	236801	230,894	204,505	179,551
Recharge	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total outflow	237,500	337,491	336,801	330,894	304,505	279,551
Inflow - outflow	0	0	0	0	0	0

Model PS3B	Change in flow rate ¹					
Pudget component	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	Period 2,	
Budget component	step 1	step 3	step 5	step 8	step 10	
		Inflow				
Storage-specific storage	38	38	35	25	15	
Storage-specific yield	99953	99263	93358	66980	42034	
Wells	0	0	0	0	0	
River leakage	0	0	0	0	0	
Recharge	0	0	0	0	0	
Total inflow change	99991	99301	93394	67005	42051	
		Outflow				
Storage-specific storage	0	0	0	0	0	
Storage-specific yield	0	0	0	0	0	
Wells	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000	100,000	
River leakage	-9	-699	-6606	-32995	-57949	
Recharge	0	0	0	0	0	
Total outflow change	99991	99301	93394	67005	42051	
Inflow - outflow	0	0	0	0	0	

¹ Rate at the current time step minus the initial rate at period 1, step 1. Round to the nearest whole number.

In PS3B, the system has system is closer to reaching equilibrium. The absolute change in river outflow is greater while the release from storage is less.

Return to Exercise 6.4

Solution Exercise 7

Solution to Exercise 7.1

The results should look similar to the image below.



Plot of MODPATH ending zones plotted at particle starting locations.

Return to Exercise 7.1

Solution to Exercise 7.2

The results will look similar to the image below.



Plot of pathlines.

Return to Exercise 7.2

Solution to Exercise 7.3

Plots for the particles at selected times are shown in the image below. Once a particle exits the model through a boundary condition it is no longer tracked by MODPATH.



Plots of MODPATH particles at times 0, 1000, 4000, 9000, 19,000, and 24,000.

Return to Exercise 7.3

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.
Solution Exercise 8

Solution Exercise 8.1

A solution is not provided for Phase 1 of Exercise 8 because models are a simplification of reality and there is no assessment that can determine if a model is the correct representation of the system. The site information includes a statement that provides a clue for improving the model constructed by following the steps of Exercise 8. It says: "The gravels closest to the current river channel are coarsest and contain less fine material than the rest of the alluvium." Thus, the model might be improved by increasing the hydraulic conductivity close to the stream or reducing it further away from the stream. An alternative example model named AlluviumSSHOB_ModifiedK.mmZLib is provided with the files for this exercise. In this version of the model, the hydraulic conductivities at TW-3 and TW-8 have been reduced to 10. This results in a somewhat improved match in the simulated and observed heads.

<u>Return to Exercise 8.1</u>♪

Solution Exercise 8.2

If the production well is at the location of TW-4, the minimum travel time from the river is greater than 60 days so TW-4 is acceptable. However, the minimum travel time is less than 365 days. Some other potential well locations, such as at row 46 column 70, provide a minimum travel time greater than 365 days.

Click to return to Exercise 8.2

18 About the Author



Richard Winston is a hydrologist in the Integrated Modeling and Prediction Division of the United States Geological Survey. He is an author of several computer programs to aid in the development and understanding of groundwater models. His staff profile can be viewed at this <u>link</u>? Please consider signing up for the Groundwater Project mailing list to stay informed about new book releases, events, and ways to participate in the Groundwater Project. When you sign up for our email list, it helps us build a global groundwater community. Sign-up 7.

THE **GROUNDWATER** PROJECT

The GROUNDWATER PROJECT © Richard B. Winston Free download from gw-project.org Anyone may use and share gw-project.org links. Direct distribution of the book is strictly prohibited.

Modifications to Original Release

Changes from the Original Version to Version 2

Original Version: November 7, 2023, Version 2: November 8, 2023

Page numbers refer to the original PDF.

page 27, corrected the order of Figure 12 part a) and b) – what was b) is now a) and vice versa.

Changes from Version 2 to Version 3

Version 2: November 8, 2023, Version 3: November 20, 2023

Page numbers refer to the Version 2 PDF.

page i, added message regarding support of The Groundwater Project

page ii, changed version number from 2 to 3

page 94, Exercise 4.1, the link to Box 7 was corrected

page 94, Exercise 4.2, the link to Box 8 was corrected

page 94, Exercise 4.3, the link to Box 9 was corrected

page 95, Exercise 4.4, the link to Box 10 was corrected

page 96, Exercise 5 Part A, the link to Box 11 was corrected

Changes from Version 3 to Version 4

Version 3: November 20, 2023, Version 4: December 31, 2023

Page numbers refer to the Version 3 PDF.

page ii, updated version number and date

page iii, added page requesting support of the Groundwater Project

page iii, now page iv. corrected year from 2022 to 2023 in the APA citation

page iii, now page iv, added "Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government."

page 13, corrected page numbering of main text to start at 1, so all subsequent page numbers decreased by 12

Changes from Version 4 to Version 5

Version 4: December 31, 2023, Version 5: January 30, 2024

Page numbers refer to the Version 4 PDF.

page iii, updated version number and date

page xiii, added Sean Boemer to acknowledgments

page 86, corrected link to Box 12 for instructions for item 4 of Part B of Exercise 5

page 88, corrected link to Box 13 for instructions for item 5 of Part C of Exercise 5

page 151, changed HClose to DVClose in last sentence of item 8 Box 5

page 160, changed 4 to 3 in last line of item 5 in Box 6

page 161, caption Figure Box 6-5, changed "zone 2 to zone 4" to "zone 3 to zone 4"

page 173, corrected the link for returning to where the text links to Box 12

page 226, Solution to Exercise 5.6, second paragraph, second sentence, Q_{East} was corrected to Q_{West}

page 227, corrected value in calculation of Q_{Bot} of Solution to Exercise 5.6 by changing the head in the cell of layer 2 from 324.227 to 328.769 with the result changing from 2181.343 to 2181.289

Changes from Version 5 to Version 6

Version 5: January 30, 2024, Version 6 February 23, 2024

Page numbers refer to the Version 5 PDF.

page iii, updated version number and date

page 200, revised Figure Box 20-5 to match the description of the figure

page 213, added a sentence explaining the disappearance of some MODPATH particles

page 239, added a sentence explaining the disappearance of some MODPATH particles

page 239, slightly reduced size of figure